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CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG LIMITED (THE “STOCK
EXCHANGE”)

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to accommodate small and mid-sized companies to which a higher investment
risk may be attached than other companies listed on the Stock Exchange. Prospective investors should be aware of the
potential risks of investing in such companies and should make the decision to invest only after due and careful consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally small and mid-sized companies, there is a risk that securities traded on
GEM may be more susceptible to high market volatility than securities traded on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange and no
assurance is given that there will be a liquid market in the securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock Exchange take no responsibility for the contents of this report, make no
representation as to its accuracy or completeness and expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for any loss howsoever arising from or in
reliance upon the whole or any part of the contents of this report.

This report, for which the directors (the ‘Directors’) of GET Holdings Limited (the “Company”) collectively and individually accept full
responsibility, includes particulars given in compliance with the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM of the Stock Exchange (the
“GEM Listing Rules’) for the purpose of giving information with regard to the Company. The Directors, having made all reasonable enquiries,
confirm that to the best of their knowledge and belief: (1) the information contained in this report is accurate and complete in all material
respects and not misleading or deceptive; (2) there are no other matters the omission of which would make any statement in this report
misleading, and (3) all opinions expressed in this report have been arrived at after due and careful consideration and are founded on bases
and assumptions that are fair and reasonable.
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Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) of GET
Holdings Limited (the “Company”, together with its subsidiaries, referred to
as the “Group”), | would like to present the annual results of the Group for the
year ended 31 December 2021 (the “Year”) together with its strategies and
prospects.

FINANCIAL RESULTS

The Group recorded a loss of approximately HK$10,929,000 for the Year
(2020: loss of approximately HK$32,410,000).

The Group’s consolidated loss attributable to the owners of the Company
amounted to approximately HK$18,197,000 for the Year (2020: loss of
approximately HK$39,286,000).

DIVIDEND

The Directors do not recommend the payment of a dividend for the Year
(2020: Nil).

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS

The Group is principally engaged in the Software Business, the Corporate
Management Solutions and I.T. Contract Services Business, the B2C Online
Sales Platform and B2B Product Trading Business, and the Securities
Investment Business (all as defined below). The unprecedented time of
COVID-19 pandemic has brought volatility to global economy and business
activities, which has impacted on the business operations of the Group.

During the Year, the Software Business remained as one of the main revenue
streams and pillar businesses of the Group. Revenue generated from the
Software Business amounted to approximately HK$87,800,000, representing
approximately 76.7% of the Group’s total turnover for the Year. Amidst
headwinds in the global market environment, the Group insisted in adhering
to its corporate strategies, and maximising its strengths in technology and
innovation capabilities through the Software Business. We had constantly
reviewed and upgraded various software products during the Year in order to
keep up with the fast-changing information technology (“I.T.”) industry and to
provide a seamless experience to the software product users.
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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT
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During the Year, the Group optimises its business strategies through its
operation of the Corporate Management Solutions and I.T. Contract Services
Business, the B2C Online Sales Platform and B2B Product Trading Business,
and the Securities Investment Business. We continued to diversify our
business operations with a view to developing a strong and resilient operation
model to our shareholders. During the Year, the revenue from the Corporate
Management Solutions and I.T. Contract Services Business accounted for
approximately 23.2% of the Group’s total turnover.

As at 31 December 2021, the Group had cash and cash equivalents and
pledged bank deposits of approximately HK$82,482,000 and net current
assets of approximately HK$103,469,000. Based on the solid financial
position, the Group will remain cautious in looking for and evaluating business
opportunities with growth potential. It will continue to strategically invest its
capital with the aim of generating long-term and stable revenue and achieving
further business diversification, thereby delivering the best returns to the
Shareholders.

PROSPECTS

Looking forward, despite the unprecedented challenge from the pandemic
and the complicated socio-economic environment, the Group is cautiously
optimistic about the future market conditions. In coming year, the Group
will continue to endeavour at its best to capture stable business growth
and return, and to ultimately bring sustainable returns to the Shareholders.
The Group will continue to effectively utilise its resources to expand its core
businesses and to keep exploring new business opportunities with good
potential. At the same time, the Group will strive to maintain an appropriate
balance between risk and return.

APPRECIATION

Finally, on behalf of the Board, | would like to take this opportunity to express
my gratitude to all our business partners, the Shareholders and customers for
their continuing trust and support in the past year. | would also like to extend
my sincere gratitude to all staff of the Group and members of the Board for
their dedication and devotion during 2021.

Wong Jing Shong
Chairman and Executive Director

24 March 2022
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BUSINESS REVIEW
Software Business

During the Year, the business of research, development and distribution of
personal computer (“PC”) performance software, anti-virus software, mobile
phone applications and toolbar advertisements (“Software Business”) of
the Group recorded a revenue of approximately HK$87,800,000 (2020:
approximately HK$82,252,000), representing an increase of approximately
6.7% as compared to that of 2020. The segment profit of the Software
Business amounted to approximately HK$15,678,000 (2020: profit of
approximately HK$23,347,000). Such decrease in profit was primarily
attributable to the impairment loss on goodwill in relation to the cash-
generating unit (“CGU”) of the Software Business (‘Impairment Loss on
Goodwill") of approximately HK$9,000,000 during the Year (2020: nil). Details
of the Impairment Loss on Goodwill are set out in the sub-section headed
“Update on Material Asset Impairment” in the section headed “Management
Discussion and Analysis” in this report and note 22 to the consolidated
financial statements contained in this report.

During the Year, the Group has continued to strengthen its foothold in the
software industry through Boom Max International Limited and its subsidiaries
(collectively, the “Boom Max Group”), the operating unit of the Group carrying
on the Software Business, which is one of the main revenue streams of the
Group. The Boom Max Group continues to offer a wide variety of software
products including computer optimisation, malware prevention, gaming
performance boosting, driver update, data and files protection software, with
an aim to help our computer software users to combat cybersecurity threats
and to reach the maximum computer optimisation.

We insist in the innovation capabilities and customer satisfaction of the Boom
Max Group. Over the years, we have been investing in the research and
development (“R&D”) team which comprises experts dedicating their focus to
network security, building software products and marketing channels. During
the Year, the R&D team has revamped our products in order to accommodate
to the latest trend of the I.T. industry and provide the best seamless experience
to our software users against computer malwares, network security loophole,
and computer optimisation.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

ERRE Rk

During the fourth quarter of 2021, the Boom Max Group launched new
updates on our products, such as the flagship product Advanced SystemCare
15; Driver Booster 9, a PC performance booster; the all-in-one solution,
namely Advanced SystemCare Ultimate 15; and the anti-hacker software,
namely |Obit Malware Fighter 9. Over the Year, the Boom Max Group
upgraded new versions of other software products as well, including IObit
Uninstaller, a product featuring function to uninstall unwanted software or
apps and provide our software customers with clean, light and safe personal
computer experience; and IObit Software Updater, a product designed to
combat possible security loopholes while maximising computer optimisation
and enhance safe and reliable software installation experience to our software
users. New updates on Smart Defrag and IObit Uninstaller further boost faster
and cleaner computer experience for our software users. Next year, we will
continue our devotion in developing new upgrades to our software products,
with a view to keeping abreast with the latest technology trend and enhance
user experience.

During the Year, the Boom Max Group continued to build and reinforce
its sales and distribution channels, including the implementation of
digital marketing campaigns in software products promotion. Apart from
strengthening its customer base in traditional markets, the Group will continue
to explore business opportunities and expand distribution channels in the
emerging markets such as countries in the Asia-Pacific region. In addition,
our software products are available at www.iobit.com, or other software
downloading directory websites and affiliated websites. New versions of our
software products are available for downloading on the website in different
languages, such as English, Spanish, French, Chinese and Dutch. As at 31
December 2021, according to the internal sales data of the Boom Max Group,
its products had more than 58 million (2020: more than 61 million) new users
in total, including new non-paying and active paying users (i.e. users who had
subscribed our products at least once during the Year).

Looking forward, global countries are looking for a full global economic
recovery and business activities will gradually resume. In the meantime,
potential change in customer behaviours of computer users in post-pandemic
era, fierce competition in the I.T. industry, inflation concerns, geopolitical
pressure and Russia-Ukraine war may pose uncertainties to the overall
economic activities and this segment in the coming year. It is hard to quantify
future impacts of the pandemic in this segment. The Board will continue to
closely monitor the performance of this segment and the potential impacts
from the pandemic. Looking ahead, the Boom Max Group will continue to
focus on exploring new technological applications in realm and enhancing its
software products. It will also strengthen and expand its distribution and sales
channels by cooperating closely with local dealers and affiliates.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Corporate Management Solutions and I.T. Contract Services
Business

During the Year, the Group provided corporate management solutions, I.T.
contract services, network infrastructure solutions, network professional
services and I.T. project implementation services (“Corporate Management
Solutions and I.T. Contract Services Business”) to corporate clients mainly
in Hong Kong, through its indirect wholly-owned subsidiary, Wafer Systems
(Hong Kong) Limited (“Wafer HK”).

During the Year, revenue from this business segment was approximately
HK$26,579,000 (2020: approximately HK$27,892,000), representing a
decrease of approximately 4.7% as compared with that of 2020. This
business segment recorded a loss of approximately HK$1,561,000 for the
Year (2020: loss of approximately HK$17,907,000). Such decrease in loss
was mainly due to the absence of an impairment loss on goodwill of Wafer
HK (2020: HK$11,300,000). Based on the assessment by an independent
professional valuer, the recoverable amount of Wafer HK, being the CGU of
the Corporate Management Solutions and |.T. Contract Services Business, is
valued to be approximately HK$27,700,000 as at 31 December 2021. As the
recoverable amount of Wafer HK exceeded its carrying value by approximately
HK$16,429,000 as at 31 December 2021, no impairment was required for the
Year.

During the Year, the COVID-19 pandemic has caused disruptions to the
Hong Kong economy and operational environment of this business segment,
pressuring on the sales activities of this segment. Together with the severe
competition in the I.T. industry in Hong Kong, the market condition of this
business segment is expected to remain challenging in coming year. The
Group will endeavour to expand our customer base in order to improve
the financial performance of this segment. In the meantime, the Group’s
management will continue to pay close attention to the prospect of this
business segment and may consider the possibility of, including but not limited
to, scale-down or disposal of part of this business segment in the coming
future.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

ERENwRD N

B2C Online Sales Platform and B2B Product Trading Business

During the Year, revenue derived from this business segment was
approximately HK$156,000 (2020: approximately HK$121,260,000),
representing a decrease of approximately 99.9% as compared with that of
2020. The segment loss of this business for the Year was approximately
HK$3,654,000 (2020: loss of approximately HK$5,015,000), representing a
decrease of approximately 27.1% as compared with that of 2020.

The Group is committed to enhancing the lifestyle of its customers through
developing online and offline sales channels to offer quality products to
customers around the world. During the Year, the Group engaged in the
operation of the business-to-customer online sales platform (“B2C Online
Sales Platform”) and the business-to-business product trading (“B2B
Product Trading”), focusing on offering quality electronic lifestyle products to
international customers.

According to the internal sales data of the B2C Online Sales Platform and
B2B Product Trading Business, during the Year, 100% (2020: over 81%) of the
revenue of the B2C Online Sales Platform and B2B Product Trading Business
was attributable to the sale of electronic lifestyle products.

Headwinds of the volatile market environment and the wider impact from the
COVID-19 pandemic have been posing challenges to this business segment.
This segment was scaled down and temporarily suspended during the Year.
Looking ahead, the Board will continue to carefully review and pay close
attention to the performance of this business segment in exercising prudent
cost control and credit risks control and maintaining an appropriate balance
of risks and opportunities. In light of the then prevailing market circumstances,
the Company may slowly resume this business in a small scale in 2022.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Securities Investment Business

During the Year, the Group recorded a segment loss for the securities
investment business (“Securities Investment Business”) of approximately
HK$5,853,000 (2020: loss of approximately HK$12,775,000). The segment
loss was primarily attributable to the net fair value loss on financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss (‘FVTPL Financial Assets”) of approximately
HK$6,151,000 for the Year (2020: fair value loss of approximately
HK$8,729,000).

Global geopolitical tensions, change of governments’ policies, and the social
and economic conditions due to the pandemic had brought instabilities to the
Hong Kong financial market over the Year. Looking forward, the change of
governments’ policies, market liquidity, inflation expectation, and the pandemic
situation will continue to have impacts on the Hong Kong financial market
and its sentiment. The Group will continue to explore potential investment
opportunities and closely monitor the Hong Kong securities market as well as
the performance of the Securities Investment Business.

As at 31 December 2021, fair value of the FVTPL Financial Assets and
financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income (‘FVTOCI
Financial Assets”) of the Group were approximately HK$30,488,000 (31
December 2020: approximately HK$12,310,000) and approximately
HK$1,067,000 (31 December 2020: approximately HK$1,135,000)
respectively, consisting of seven (2020: four) investment items, five of which
are shares listed on the Stock Exchange, one of which is shares delisted on
the Stock Exchange on 4 May 2021 and the remaining one is shares of an
unlisted company. As at 31 December 2021, the fair value of each of the
FVTPL Financial Assets and the FVTOCI Financial Assets contributed less than
5% of the Group’s total assets.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

ERRE Rk

FINANCIAL REVIEW
Revenue

During the Year, revenue of the Group was approximately HK$114,535,000,
representing a decrease of approximately 50.5% as compared to the revenue
of approximately HK$231,404,000 for 2020. The revenue of the Group for
the Year was mainly contributed by the revenue of (i) the Software Business
of approximately HK$87,800,000; (i) the Corporate Management Solutions
and I.T. Contract Services Business of approximately HK$26,579,000; and
(i) the B2C Online Sales Platform and B2B Product Trading Business of
approximately HK$156,000.

Gross Profit

Gross profit of the Group for the Year increased by approximately 5.2%
to approximately HK$75,200,000 for the Year from approximately
HK$71,509,000 for 2020.

Finance Costs

The finance costs of the Group were approximately HK$235,000 for the
Year, representing an increase of approximately 139.8% from approximately
HK$98,000 for 2020.

Loss for the Year

The Group recorded a net loss of approximately HK$10,929,000 for the
Year (2020: net loss of approximately HK$32,410,000). The net loss for the
Year was mainly the combined effects of (i) segment profit of the Software
Business of approximately HK$15,678,000 (2020: profit of approximately
HK$23,347,000), including the Impairment Loss on Goodwill of approximately
HK$9,000,000 (2020: approximately HK$nil); (i) segment loss of the
Securities Investment Business of approximately HK$5,853,000 (2020:
loss of approximately HK$12,775,000); (i) segment loss of the Corporate
Management Solutions and I.T. Contract Services Business of approximately
HK$1,561,000 (2020: loss of approximately HK$17,907,000); (iv) segment
loss of the B2C Online Sales Platform and B2B Product Trading Business of
approximately HK$3,654,000 (2020: loss of approximately HK$5,015,000);
and (v) other corporate expenses of approximately HK$11,802,000 incurred
during the Year (2020: approximately HK$12,894,000).

The net loss attributable to owners of the Company was approximately

HK$18,197,000 for the Year as compared with the net loss attributable to
owners of the Company of approximately HK$39,286,000 for 2020.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Liquidity, Financial Resources and Capital Structure

As at 31 December 2021, the Group had cash and cash equivalents and
pledged bank deposit of approximately HK$82,482,000 (31 December
2020: approximately HK$118,804,000), which were principally denominated
in United States dollars, Hong Kong dollars and Renminbi (2020: United
States dollars, Hong Kong dollars and Renminbi). During the Year, the Group
generally financed its operations with internal resources and there was no
significant change in its capital structure.

As at 31 December 2021, the borrowings of the Group, being loans from
financial institutions, amounted to approximately HK$1,267,000. The loans are
unsecured, bear interest ranging from 3% to 12% per annum and repayable
within one year. The borrowings are arranged at fixed interest rates and
denominated in Hong Kong dollars and the United States dollars.

Gearing Ratio

As at 31 December 2021, the Group had total assets amounting to
approximately HK$309,511,000 (31 December 2020: approximately
HK$326,665,000) and total liabilities of approximately HK$57,033,000 (31
December 2020: approximately HK$57,821,000). The gearing ratio of the
Group, calculated as total liabilities over total assets, was approximately 18.4%
as at 31 December 2021 (31 December 2020: approximately 17.7%).

Final Dividend

The Board does not recommend any payment of dividend for the Year (2020:
Nil).

Charges on the Group’s Assets

As at 31 December 2021, the Group pledged bank deposits of approximately
US$81,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$630,000) (31 December 2020:
approximately US$81,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$630,000) for
securing banking facilities of HK$500,000 (31 December 2020: HK$500,000)
granted to the Group. The pledged bank deposits were denominated in United
States dollars with a term of six months at fixed interest rate of 0.025% per
annum.

As at 31 December 2021, the Group had undrawn banking facilities of

approximately HK$206,000 (31 December 2020: approximately HK$242,000).

As at 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020, the Group did not hold any
margin trading account.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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RISK FACTORS
Foreign Exchange Exposure

During the Year, business activities of the Group were mainly denominated in
Hong Kong dollars, United States dollars and Renminbi. The United States
dollar is the main currency for transactions made by the Group. Since the
Hong Kong dollar remains pegged to the United States dollar within a defined
range, the Group is not exposed to any significant foreign exchange risk
against the United States dollar. The Group has not entered into any foreign
exchange contract as hedging measures. The Directors did not consider
the Group as being exposed to any significant foreign currency exchange
risk. Notwithstanding the above, the Group continues to manage its foreign
currency risk against other currencies by closely monitoring movement of
exchange rates and may use hedging derivatives, such as foreign currency
forward contracts, as and when appropriate.

Financial Risk

The total assets of the Group of approximately HK$309,511,000 as at 31
December 2021 mainly included the FVTOCI Financial Assets of approximately
HK$1,067,000, the FVTPL Financial Assets of approximately HK$30,488,000,
goodwill of approximately HK$60,525,000 and intangible assets of
approximately HK$102,852,000. The Group’s FVTOCI Financial Assets and
FVTPL Financial Assets are measured at fair value at the end of each reporting
period. Therefore, the Group is exposed to equity security price risk due to
fluctuation of the fair value of the FVTOCI Financial Assets and the FVTPL
Financial Assets. The Directors regularly review exposure of the Group’s
FVTOCI Financial Assets and FVTPL Financial Assets to equity security price
risk. Moreover, the Directors closely monitor the financial performance and
operation of cash generating units containing goodwill and intangible assets,
and conduct impairment review on goodwill and intangible assets annually
and more frequently should there be any unforeseeable events or changes in
circumstances pointing to potential impairment.

Operation Risk

The Group is exposed to the corresponding operation risks which each of its
business divisions faces. To manage those risks, the management of each
business division is responsible for monitoring the operation of their respective
divisions and assessing related operation risks. They are responsible for
implementing the Group’s risk management policies and procedures and shall
report any irregularities in connection with operation of projects to the Directors
and seek directions.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Credit Risk

The Group is exposed to credit risk mainly attributable to its trade and other
receivables. During the Year, the Group’s credit risk mainly arose from the
operating activities of the B2C Online Sales Platform and B2B Product
Trading Business and the Corporate Management Solutions and I.T. Contract
Services Business. Please refer to note 6(c) to the consolidated financial
statements contained in this report for details of the credit risk of the Group
for the Year. The trade and other receivables of the Group were approximately
HK$27,994,000 as at 31 December 2021. During the Year, the receivables
collection may be affected by the overall market environment caused by
the COVID-19 pandemic and geopolitical instability. To minimise credit risk,
the Directors continue to closely monitor the overall level of credit exposure,
whereas the management is responsible for determining credit approvals and
monitoring the implementation of collection procedure to ensure follow-up
actions are taken to recover overdue debts. In addition, the Group reviews
the recoverable amount of each individual trade debt at the end of a reporting
period to ensure adequate impairment losses are made for irrecoverable
amounts.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEE,E A nlﬂl&ﬁ*ﬁ'

LITIGATIONS EIEN
(1) Perfect Growth Litigation (1) EERR
On 3 July 2018, Perfect Growth Limited (‘Perfect Growth”), a wholly- RIZE—N\FtHE=ZB ' ARBEZZENBAE]

owned subsidiary of the Company, received an amended writ of
summons (“Amended Writ”) with an amended statement of claim
(“Amended Statement of Claim”) issued in the Court of First Instance
of the High Court of Hong Kong by Convoy Global Holdings Limited
(“Convoy Global”) (“1st Plaintiff”), Convoy Collateral Limited (“2nd
Plaintiff’) and CSL Securities Limited (“3rd Plaintiff’) (1st Plaintiff, 2nd
Plaintiff and 3rd Plaintiff collectively referred to as the “Plaintiffs”) against,
among other defendants, Perfect Growth as the 34th defendant
(“Perfect Growth Litigation”). Perfect Growth was joined as one of the
defendants by way of the Amended Writ.

Pursuant to the Amended Statement of Claim attached to the Amended
Writ, Perfect Growth was named as one of the Alleged Independent
Placees (being placees of the placing of shares of the 1st Plaintiff
carried out in around October 2015 (“October 2015 Placing”)) and was
allotted with some shares of the 1st Plaintiff pursuant to the October
2015 Placing.

In the Perfect Growth Litigation, the reliefs claimed by the Plaintiffs
against Perfect Growth are as follows:

(0} the 1st Plaintiff seeks a declaration and an order as against,
among others, Perfect Growth, that the allotment of the 1st
Plaintiff's shares to, among others, Perfect Growth pursuant to
the October 2015 Placing is null and void, or has been rescinded
and be set aside;

(i) the 1st Plaintiff seeks an account of profits and an order for
payment of any sums found to be due, equitable compensation
to be assessed and/or damages to be assessed for dishonest
assistance, unlawful means conspiracy and/or lawful means
conspiracy as against, among others, Perfect Growth, in relation
to, among other matters, the October 2015 Placing and the
allotment of the 1st Plaintiff’'s shares pursuant to the same; and

(i) the Plaintiffs seek as against, among others, Perfect Growth (a)
general or special damages; (b) interests; (c) costs; (d) further
and/or other reliefs.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

On 22 November 2018, Perfect Growth filed its defence to the
Amended Statement of Claim.

On 3 December 2019, the Plaintiffs filed its reply to Perfect Growth’s
defence. The Plaintiffs have not, however, filed its reply to each of the
other defendants’ defence, and as such the pleadings of the Perfect
Growth Litigation have not been closed yet.

Details of the Perfect Growth Litigation are set out in the Company’s
announcement dated 5 July 2018.

(2)(a) AP Acquisition Litigation

References are made to the announcements of the Company dated 13
June 2016, 23 June 2016 and 1 July 2016 in relation to, among other
matters, the acquisition of 51% equity interest in AP Group Investment
Holdings Limited (“AP Group Investment”, together with its subsidiaries,
referred to as the “AP Group”) (“Acquisition”) and the announcements of
the Company dated 12 June 2018, 26 June 2018 and 16 July 2018 in
relation to the adjustment to consideration for the Acquisition.

On 13 June 2016, Lucky Famous Limited (“Lucky Famous”), a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into a sale and purchase
agreement (“SP Agreement”) with Fragrant River Entertainment
Culture (Holdings) Limited (“Vendor”) and Universe International
Holdings Limited (now known as Universe Entertainment and Culture
Group Company Limited) (“Guarantor”), pursuant to which the Group
conditionally agreed to acquire, and the Vendor conditionally agreed to
sell 51% equity interest of AP Group Investment, at the consideration of
HK$20,400,000, subject to downward adjustments as described below,
which shall be settled by way of allotment and issue of 40,800,000 new
ordinary shares of the Company, credited as fully paid, at the issue price
of HK$0.50 per share to the Vendor (or its nominee), on the date of
completion. The AP Group was principally engaged in the provision of
self-improvement and self-enhancement training programmes in Hong
Kong. Completion of the Acquisition took place on 1 July 2016.

(2)@)

ERE Rk

RIE—N\F+—BZ+_H ERHLETH
Rt ERE TR

RIB-NF+-A=R ZEREAHER
TRHE L B R AT ZFRE AL EH H thig
TAZENNRETER RILERFRZNRE
CESES

EEFMRZFBHNART AR " E—N\FL
BRBZRE

E s iasiah

IR A AT BEA_E—EA~A+=A-=
E—RNENAZ+=ZHEZZ—XRFtHA—H
ARG REEM HP e WEESHERER
BIRAB (EHEEZR EREWE A SRS
IEPEE)) S1%KRE (WESEE) REAAF
HEA-Z2—N\FB+H -ZZT—/\FXAH
Z+ARBERZE-N\FtA+BENAE RAE
BRI ERIERER B

RIE—RFEAA+T=ZB AABEENBE AT
Lucky Famous Limited (" Lucky Famous ) 2551
R b (R BRRAE (MEH)) REFERE
KRERAE (RBASTFREXEEEFRAR)

(MERAD STI—H BEER:E (BEERHZ) &
I AEBESRGEREREME B RERR L
EEPEBITRMN51%RE > £1E7%520,400,000
BT (AI32 T X PTiiETT &) > BBl TR e
BESR0S0EBTZETE NEA (HERS
) Fo 8 K 2£1740,800,00088 A BRF B E = A&
REAMEBRZAALZ M -BEHEBETERES
RERHEEERREARBHIGEZITE UL
BEBER _Z—REtHB—HEM

GET Holdings Limited Annual Report 2021

16



17

In accordance with the terms and conditions of the SP Agreement,
in the event that the audited consolidated profit after tax of AP Group
Investment attributable to its owners from 1 January 2016 to 31
December 2017 (“FY 2016 & 2017”) (which would only include income
or gain generated by activities in the ordinary and usual course of
business of the AP Group) (“FY 2016 & 2017 Net Profit”) is less than
HK$16,000,000, the Vendor shall, and the Guarantor shall procure
the Vendor to, pay to Lucky Famous (or to its order) an adjustment
amount (“Adjustment Amount”) in cash within 14 days after the
audited consolidated financial statements of AP Group Investment for
FY 2016 & 2017 (“FY 2016 & 2017 Audited Accounts”) are available.
The Adjustment Amount shall be determined in accordance with the
formula set out below:

A = HK$20,400,000 - (NP/2) X 5 x 51%

Where:

“A” means the amount of the Adjustment Amount in HK$; and

“NP” means the FY 2016 & 2017 Net Profit. Where the FY 2016 & 2017
Net Profit is a negative figure, “NP” shall be deemed to be zero.

The FY 2016 & 2017 Net Profit shall be based on the FY 2016 & 2017
Audited Accounts which shall be prepared in accordance with the Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards and audited, adjusted for any
non-recurring items.

Based on the FY 2016 & 2017 Audited Accounts, the AP Group
recorded a net loss of HK$189,799. In accordance with the SP
Agreement, the FY 2016 & 2017 Net Profit of the AP Group shall be
deemed to be zero. Accordingly, the Group has requested the Vendor
and the Guarantor to pay the Adjustment Amount of HK$20,400,000
on or before 26 June 2018 according to the terms and conditions of the
SP Agreement (“AP Receivable”). On 22 June 2018, the Group received
a letter from the legal adviser acting for the Vendor and the Guarantor
that they will defend the purported claim of the Group for the payment
of the Adjustment Amount alleged by the Group.

Up to 26 June 2018, i.e. the last date on which the Vendor and the
Guarantor shall pay the Adjustment Amount after the FY 2016 & 2017
Audited Accounts were made available to them, the Group had not
received any payment of the Adjustment Amount from any of the
Vendor and the Guarantor.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The Board considered that the Vendor and the Guarantor have
potentially breached their contractual obligations by failing to repay
the Group the Adjustment Amount in accordance with the terms and
conditions of the SP Agreement. In order to safeguard the legitimate
rights and interests of the Group, after seeking legal advice, the Group
commenced legal proceeding (“AP Acquisition Litigation”) against the
Vendor as the 1st defendant and the Guarantor as the 2nd defendant.
A writ of summons with an indorsement of claim were filed by Lucky
Famous as plaintiff at the Court of First Instance of the High Court of
Hong Kong on 16 July 2018. Based on the writ, the Group claimed
against the Vendor and the Guarantor for (a) the Adjustment Amount
of HK$20,400,000; (b) interests; (c) costs; and (d) further and/or other
reliefs.

An amended writ of summons with an indorsement of claim were filed
at the Court of First Instance of the High Court of Hong Kong on 26
September 2019. Based on the amended writ, the Group claimed
against the Vendor and the Guarantor for (a) the Adjustment Amount
of HK$20,400,000; (b) interests; (c) costs; and (d) further and/or other
relief, and also against Mr. Chan Sze Long (“Chan”) and Ms. Lim Wah
Elsa (“Lim”) for (e) damages in the sum of HK$20,400,000; (f) interests;
(g) costs; and (h) further and/or other relief (collectively, the “Legal
Action”). The Board considered that Chan and Lim, who are the former
directors of AP Group Investment until their respective resignations on
18 July 2018, have potentially breached their duties and obligations in
contract and tort by failing to, amongst other things, prepare audited
consolidated financial statements of AP Group Investment for the
year ended 31 December 2015, provide the auditors of AP Group
Investment with the written information that they requested to support
their audit, and keep and/or preserve adequate accounting records in
respect of the transactions entered into by AP Group Investment, its
financial position and its financial performance.

Details of the AP Acquisition Litigation are set out in the Company’s
announcements dated 12 June 2018, 26 June 2018 and 16 July 2018.
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(2)(b) AP Management Litigation

On 26 July 2018, the Company as the 1st plaintiff and AP Group
Investment as the 2nd plaintiff, issued a writ of summons in the High
Court of Hong Kong against Chan as the 1st defendant and Lim as
the 2nd defendant (collectively referred to as the “Defendants”) for the
matters as detailed below (‘AP Management Litigation”). Chan and
Lim are former directors of AP Group Investment until their respective
resignations on 18 July 2018. Chan and/or his controlled company, and
the controlled company of Lim, are also former directors of the other
members of the AP Group at all material times.

The Company is a majority shareholder holding 51% interest in AP
Group Investment through its wholly-owned subsidiary, Lucky Famous.
As a result of the 51% shareholding in AP Group Investment, all
members of the AP Group are subsidiaries of the Company and their
financial results have been consolidated into the Group’s consolidated
financial statements prior to the deconsolidation of the AP Group
becoming effective on 1 April 2018. The AP Group was principally
engaged in the provision of self-improvement and self-enhancement
training programs in Hong Kong at all material times.

At all material times and during the tenure of office of the Defendants
as directors of AP Group Investment, in reliance of the experience and
expertise of the Defendants in running the AP Group, it was agreed by
the parties that the Defendants were wholly responsible for the efficient
and proper management and operation of the AP Group, including but
not limited to, the efficient daily operations of the AP Group, keeping
proper books and records of the AP Group at all times for inspection
by the Group, and the provision of weekly cash and bank balance
reports, annual budget and monthly financial reports of AP Group
Investment, including that of all the other members of the AP Group
to the Company, within 15 days after each month’s end. After the
resignations of the Defendants as directors of AP Group Investment
on 18 July 2018, the Defendants failed to deliver up all the accounting
books and financial records of, and all businesses records in connection
with, the running of the AP Group, including but not limited to records
in relation to the students’ records, instructors’ records and information
on potential litigations, for the period of seven years immediately prior to
the date of their resignations as director of AP Group Investment on 18
July 2018 (“Full Business Records”) to the Group.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

In order to safeguard the legitimate rights and interests of the Group,
after seeking legal advice, the Group has commenced legal proceeding
against the Defendants. The Group claimed against the Defendants for
the reliefs, including but not limited to, delivering up of the Full Business
Records, accounting for the assets of the AP Group that were in the
power, possession or control of the Defendants and damages to be
assessed.

Details of the AP Management Litigation are set out in the Company’s
announcement dated 27 July 2018.

(2)(c) Settlement of the AP Acquisition Litigation and the AP

Management Litigation

On 1 February 2021, Lucky Famous, the Vendor, the Guarantor, Chan,
Lim, Very Easy Limited (“Very Easy”), a company wholly owned by
Chan, and City Link Consultancy Limited (“City Link”), a company wholly
owned by Lim, without admission of any liability in relation to the Legal
Action, had amicably resolved and entered into a settlement agreement
(“Settlement Agreement”) in relation to the final and full settlement of
the Disputes (as defined below). In accordance with the Settlement
Agreement, the parties agreed that (i) the disputes in the Legal Action;
and (i) any other claims and complaint that the parties to the Settlement
Agreement may have against each other arising out of or in connection
with the sale and purchase agreement in respect of the sale and
purchase of 510 shares of AP Group Investment entered into by and
among the Vendor, Very Easy, City Link, Chan and Lim in 2015 and the
SP Agreement (collectively, the “Disputes”) shall be settled in full.
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In accordance with the terms of the Settlement Agreement, (i)
the Vendor and the Guarantor shall pay to the Group a sum of
HK$1,500,000 at the time of signing of the Settlement Agreement in
full and final settlement of the Disputes; (i) Chan shall pay to the Group
a sum of HK$2,700,000 in full and final settlement of the Disputes,
by paying (a) a sum of HK$1,300,000 at the time of signing of the
Settlement Agreement; (b) a sum of HK$23,500 per month for 59
months starting from 1 March 2021 up to 1 January 2026; and (c) a
final sum of HK$13,500 on or before 1 February 2026; (i) Lim shall pay
to the Group a sum of HK$1,800,000 in full and final settlement of the
Disputes, by paying (a) a sum of HK$200,000 at the time of signing of
the Settlement Agreement; (b) a sum of HK$26,500 per month for 59
months starting from 1 March 2021 up to 1 January 2026; and (c) a
final sum of HK$36,500 on or before 1 February 2026; and (iv) within
7 days of the date of the Settlement Agreement, Lucky Famous or its
legal representatives shall file at the Court of First Instance of the High
Court of Hong Kong a consent summons for discontinuing the Legal
Action with no order as to costs. The Group shall be entitled as of
right to take immediate legal action, including commencing bankruptcy
proceedings without further notice if Chan and/or Lim fail(s) to make full
and timely payment of any of the instalment(s) under (i) and (jii) above.

Details of the Settlement Agreement are set out in the announcement of
the Company dated 1 February 2021.

On 16 February 2021, the High Court of Hong Kong granted an order
by consent that, amongst others, Lucky Famous do have leave to
discontinue the Legal Action against the Vendor, the Guarantor, Chan
and Lim.

Without prejudice to any right against the Vendor and the Guarantor
under the SP Agreement, the AP Receivable was HK$20,400,000
as at 31 December 2021. Based on the valuation performed by an
independent professional valuer using the probability-weighted method,
the Group had recognised an expected credit loss allowance on the
AP Receivable of approximately HK$3,954,000, HK$1,246,000 and
HK$12,200,000 for the years ended 31 December 2020, 2019 and
2018, respectively. In light of the final and full settlement of the Dispute
in accordance with the Settlement Agreement dated 1 February
2021, lifetime expected credit loss allowance of approximately
HK$14,400,000 and HK$550,000 were written off and reversed during
the year ended 31 December 2021.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

TREASURY POLICY

The Group adopts a conservative treasury policy. Treasury activities are
centralised and the Group normally invests in portfolios comprising diverse
products. It has guidelines in place to monitor and control investment risk
exposure and to manage capital. The Board closely reviews the Group’s
liquidity position to ensure the Group has a liquidity structure, with assets,
liabilities and other commitments, adequate for meeting its funding
requirements at all times.

UPDATE ON MATERIAL ASSET IMPAIRMENT

During the Year, the Group recorded the Impairment Loss on Goodwill of
approximately HK$9,000,000 in relation to the Software Business. Details of
the Impairment Loss on Goodwill are set out in note 22 to the consolidated
financial statements contained in this report.

Impairment on goodwill

In accordance with Hong Kong Accounting Standard 36, an impairment loss
shall be recognised for the CGU if the recoverable amount of the CGU is
less than the carrying amount of the CGU. The Company appointed Ascent
Partners Valuation Service Limited as independent professional valuer in
assisting in the valuation of the CGU in relation to the Boom Max Group as at
31 December 2021 (“December 2021 Valuation”). The Boom Max Group is the
operating unit of the Group carrying on the Software Business.

Calculation of impairment loss

As at 31 December 2021, the carrying amount of the Boom Max Group
before impairment was approximately HK$207 million (31 December 2020:
approximately HK$190 million) which comprised (i) goodwill of approximately
HK$60 million (31 December 2020: approximately HK$60 million) attributable
to the Group’s 65.177% interest in the Boom Max Group; (i) goodwill of
approximately HK$32 million (31 December 2020: approximately HK$32
million) attributable to the non-controlling interests in the Boom Max Group;
and (i) net operating assets of approximately HK$115 million (31 December
2020: approximately HK$98 million) of the Boom Max Group.

As at 31 December 2021, the recoverable amount of the Boom Max Group
was approximately HK$193 million (31 December 2020: approximately
HK$196 million) (equivalent to approximately US$24.9 million (31 December
2020: approximately US$25.2 million)), being an amount shown in the
valuation report on the Boom Max Group as at 31 December 2021 prepared
by the independent professional valuer, which was determined based on
the value in use (“VIU”) using the valuation method of discounted cash flow.
It requires estimates concerning future cash flows and associated discount
rate and growth rate assumptions which are based on the management’s
expectation of future business performance and prospects of the Boom Max
Group.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

ERENwRD N

The impairment loss on goodwill of 100% interest of the Boom Max Group of
approximately HK$14 million for the Year reduces the carrying amount of the
Boom Max Group of approximately HK$207 million as at 31 December 2021
to its recoverable amount of approximately HK$193 million as at 31 December
2021. After the allocation of impairment loss to non-controlling interests, the
Group recognised the Impairment Loss on Goodwill of approximately HK$9
million in relation to the Boom Max Group for the Year with reference to its
holding of 65.177% interest in the Boom Max Group.

The Impairment Loss on Goodwill, which was non-cash in nature, did not
affect the Group’s working capital condition during the Year.

Key basis and assumptions adopted for projected cash flow of
the Software Business

The expected average sales growth rate during the forecast period from the
year of 2022 to 2026 (“Forecast Period”) in 2021 was approximately 5.42%
while the expected average sales growth rate during the forecast period from
2021 to 2025 (“Previous Forecast Period”) in 2020 was approximately 5.16%.

There were no significant changes in the basis adopted in the preparation
of the projected cash flow for the Forecast Period in 2021 as compared
with those adopted for the Previous Forecast Period in 2020. The expected
average sales growth rate during the Forecast Period was determined with
reference to a research on software industry conducted on an international
research platform for companies, industries and mergers and acquisitions
deals analysis while similar approach was adopted for determining the
expected average sales growth rate during the Previous Forecast Period in
2020. The expected annual net profit margins during the Forecast Period in
2021 were lower than the projection of those for the Previous Forecast Period
made in 2020, by taking into consideration various factors including but not
limited to, the increase in development expenditure, the volatility of the global
economy and the keen market competition in I.T. market.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The VIU of the CGU of the Software Business was developed through the
application of the weighted-average-cost-of-capital (“"WACC”) to discount the
free cash flows to the CGU. The WACC was calculated by taking into account
the cost of equity and the cost of debt. The cost of equity is calculated
according to the Capital Asset Pricing Model.
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Risk-free Rate Engilirg ] 1.35% 0.59%
Levered Beta EREEE 0.821 0.811
Market Risk Premium miz Ak RE 13.96% 15.20%
Size Premium R RE 5.01% 4.99%
Cost of Equity RE#H AR AN 17.83% 17.91%

The 10-year Hong Kong Sovereign Bond Yield as at 31 December 2021
(the “Valuation Date”) was used as the risk-free rate of Hong Kong because
government bonds are regarded as risk-free. This rate, as obtained from an
international research database, was approximately 1.35% (31 December
2020: 0.59%). As the Company is listed on the Stock Exchange and the
principal operating subsidiaries of the Boom Max Group are located in
Hong Kong, reference was made to the Hang Seng Index annualised
expected return when determining the expected market return of Hong
Kong. The expected market return of Hong Kong, a forward-looking rate,
was approximately 15.31% as at 31 December 2021 (31 December 2020:
15.79%). It is the annualised expected rate of return of Hong Kong equity
market proxied as the market capitalisation weighted average of the expected
internal rate of return of each company in the Hang Seng Index. The internal
rate of return is derived by using the dividend discount model based on
estimates from market consensus taking into account the dividend yield,
growth rate and dividend payout ratio by an international research database.
Therefore, the market risk premium, which was the difference between the
expected market return and the risk-free rate, was taken to be 13.96%
(81 December 2020: 15.20%) based on the rate quoted from an international
research database. The market risk premium is the additional required return
over the risk free rate when investing in equity market. A small company risk
premium of 5.01% (31 December 2020: 4.99%), suggested by an international
consulting firm based on its research and database, was applied to the
relatively small size of the Boom Max Group. The small company risk premium
can be added to cost of capital estimation models as an adjustment for the
additional risk of smaller companies relative to large companies. The research
done by the international consulting firm provides different size premiums
for different companies with various range of market capitalisation. In the
research, all companies on the New York Stock Exchange (‘NYSE”) were
ranked by the combined market capitalisation of their eligible equity securities.
The companies were then split into 10 equally populated groups or deciles.
Eligible companies traded on the NYSE and the Nasdaq National Market
(“NASDAQ”) were then assigned to the appropriate deciles according to their
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

ERENwRD N

capitalisation in relation to the NYSE breakpoints. The market capitalisation of
the Boom Max Group falls within the smallest range stated in the research and
the small company risk premium was accordingly applied. The small company
risk premium was calculated over the years from 1926 to 2020 during which
the actual return in excess of risk free rate minus the return in excess of
risk free rate as predicted by Capital Asset Pricing Model. The levered beta
of approximately 0.821 (31 December 2020: 0.811) was derived from the
average of unlevered beta of approximately 0.724 (31 December 2020: 0.728
of guideline public companies in similar industries.
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Unlevered Beta

BEIEREE
31 December 31 December
2021 2020
kSl —ETERF
+=ZB=+—H +=ZB=+—H
Guideline Public Companies EHAILE AT
Absolute Software Corp Absolute Software Corp 0.496 0.681
F-Secure OYJ F-Secure OYJ 0.830 0.829
Trend Micro Inc Trend Micro Inc 0.909 0.924
Advenica AB Advenica AB 0.769 0.578
Check Point Software Technologies Ltd. Check Point Software Technologies Ltd. 0.800 0.814
Norton Life Lock Inc (previous name as Norton Life Lock Inc (F7#8Symantec Corporation)
Symantec Corporation) 0.539 0.681
Average of unlevered beta FHEBEEERE 0.724 0.728

The levered beta is calculated by multiplying the unlevered beta to the
multiple of (1 minus 16.50% of Hong Kong tax rate) and the ratio of debt to
equity and then plus 1. As at the Valuation Date, the average debt to equity
ratio of the comparable companies of approximately 16.03% (31 December
2020: 18.71%) was adopted as proxy to estimate the debt to equity ratio
of the Boom Max Group. The amount of cost of debt adopted was 7% (31
December 2020: 7%) which was the Hong Kong Prime Rate from Bloomberg
lending rate as at the Valuation Date of 5% (31 December 2020: 5%) and an
additional percentage of 2% (31 December 2020: 2%). International Monetary
Fund (IMF) Hong Kong lending rate of 5% was Hong Kong prime lending rate
that banks generally charged the most creditworthy clients as at the Valuation
Date. An additional percentage of 2% was added to the cost of debt because
of the credit risk for lending money to the Group. The WACC of the Boom Max
Group as at 31 December 2021 was approximately 16.17% (31 December
2020: 16.45%). The terminal growth rate of approximately 2.71% (31
December 2020: 2.88%), which was the average of the inflation rates of Hong
Kong from 2012 to 2021, was applied in the valuation as of the Valuation
Date.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

There were no significant changes in the methodology and sources of market
data applied in the valuation for the Year except for the market risk premium of
13.96% as at 31 December 2021 decrease from approximately 15.20% as at
31 December 2020. Such change in the market risk premium has contributed
to a decrease in the WACC from approximately 16.45% as at 31 December
2020 to approximately 16.17% as at 31 December 2021. Companies
satisfying the following criteria, are adopted as comparable companies for the
valuation: (1) the comparable companies are principally engaged in information
security related business; (2) the principal business of the comparable
company is diversified geographically; (3) the shares of the comparable
company are listed on major stock exchange and have been actively traded
for a reasonable period of time; and (4) detailed financial and operational
information in respect of the comparable company are publicly available.

The valuation method of discounted cash flow was adopted for the calculation
of the VIU of the CGU of the Software Business. In accordance with Hong
Kong Accounting Standard 36 Impairment of Assets, a CGU to which goodwill
has been allocated shall be tested for impairment annually, and whenever there
is an indication that the CGU may be impaired, by comparing the carrying
amount of the CGU, including the goodwill, with the recoverable amount
of the CGU, which is the higher of the VIU and the fair value less costs of
disposal. The valuation method of fair value less costs of disposal was not
adopted as there were limited transactions of comparable CGU available in
the market for the determination of fair value after having researched on an
international research database, all announcements on the websites of the
Stock Exchange, the Shenzhen Stock Exchange and the Shanghai Stock
Exchange and the financial reports and publicly available information of
listed companies in Hong Kong. In accordance with Hong Kong Accounting
Standard 36, it will not be possible to measure fair value less costs of disposal
because there is no reasonable basis for making a reliable estimate of the price
at which an orderly transaction to sell the CGU would take place between
market participants at the measurement date under the then prevailing current
market condition. On the other hand, costs of disposal of transactions can
vary on a case-by-case basis and such information is not easily assessable. As
such, VIU was adopted as the recoverable amount of the CGU. The valuation
method of discounted cash flow has been consistently applied in the valuation
on the CGU of the Software Business since 2014.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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Details of the value of inputs

Set out below are additional information on the valuation method, details of
the value of inputs used in the valuation, key assumptions adopted by the
valuer for performing the impairment assessment of the CGU of the Software
Business in the December 2021 Valuation and in the valuation as at 31

December 2020 (“December 2020 Valuation”):

WAEFE

—F &

December 2021 Valuation

—E—F+ZHAE
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December 2020 Valuation

“EREA+TAME

Date of valuation:
fHEBH

Valuation target:

HEBRR:

Valuation method:

fH{ERE !

Sum of present value of free cash flow

BHHEREERERERN

Major value of inputs:

FEHAE:

(i) Expected average sales growth rate

()  TEEATIHIHERERE

(ii) Expected annual gross profit margin range

iy TERREEENEHEE

(iii) Expected annual net profit margin range

(iy TERREEAFEEHE

(iv)  Corporate tax rate

(v) 1ERXK

)  WACC
V)  INEEHEERRE

(v Terminal growth rate
M) KABEE
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31 December 2021
E-—-F+"H=+—H

31 December 2020
—BRCZE+A=+—H

Boom Max International Limited and its subsidiaries
Boom Max International Limited & ELHt /& A 5

Discounted cash flow, income approach

BIRIREME AR

Approximately US$24.9 million
#924,900,0003% 75

5.42% from 2022 to 2026
TR CFECERREA
5.42%

equals to 79.80% during the years
2022 to 2026

TECCFEEERE
HEER79.80%

ranged from 23.61% to 30.15%
during the years 2022 to 2026

TR TEFECERENTF
23.61%%E30.15%

16.50%

16.17%

2.71%

Approximately US$25.2 million
#925,200,0003& 71

5 16% from 2021 to 2025
TR —EFE_E_REA
5.16%

equals to 77.24% during the years
2021 to 2025

—EC—FE_ZTAF
HEERT7.24%

ranged from 26.37% to 31.87%
during the years 2021 to 2025

TR —FEE_RENF
26.37%%E31.87%

16.50%

16.45%

2.88%



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The reason for the decrease in the VIU of the December 2021 Valuation as
compared to the VIU of the December 2020 Valuation is that the projected
annual net profit margins for the Forecast Period in 2021 were lower than the
projection of those for the Previous Forecast Period made in 2020, by taking
into consideration various factors including but not limited to, the increase in
development expenditure, the volatility of the global economy and the keen
market competition in the I.T market.

Reasons for using value in use approach in the valuation

The valuation method of discounted cash flow was adopted for the calculation
of the VIU of the CGU of the Software Business. In accordance with Hong
Kong Accounting Standard 36 Impairment of Assets, a CGU to which goodwill
has been allocated shall be tested for impairment annually, and whenever
there is an indication that the CGU may be impaired, by comparing the
carrying amount of the CGU, including the goodwill, with the recoverable
amount of the CGU, which is the higher of the VIU and the fair value less costs
of disposal. Having searched through an international research database,
all announcements on the websites of the Stock Exchange, the Shenzhen
Stock Exchange and the Shanghai Stock Exchange and the financial reports
and publicly available information of listed companies in Hong Kong, limited
information of recent transactions of comparable CGU was available for the
fair value less costs of disposal to be reliably measured as there was no
reasonable basis for making a reliable estimate of the price at which an orderly
transaction to sell the CGU would take place between market participants
under the then prevailing market condition. The fair value less costs of disposal
method was therefore not adopted and the value in use of the CGU of the
Software Business was estimated using the discounted cash flow method as
its recoverable amount.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

ERENwRD N

Details of the impairment tests for the CGUs containing goodwill are disclosed
in note 22 to the consolidated financial statements.

UPDATES ON RESULTS OF PERFORMANCE
GUARANTEE

Details of the results of performance guarantee in relation to the acquisition
of 51% equity interest in AP Group Investment are set out in the sub-section
headed “Litigations” in the section headed “Management Discussion and
Analysis” in this report.

MATERIAL TRANSACTION

The Group did not have any material acquisition or disposal during the Year.
Employees and remuneration policies

As at 31 December 2021, the Group had 29 employees (31 December
2020: 35 employees). During the Year, the total staff costs of the Group
(including Directors’ emoluments and provident funds) were approximately
HK$15,755,000 (2020: approximately HK$28,848,000). The Group’s
remuneration policy emphasises equality, motivation and performance of
the employees, with a principle to strengthen its competitiveness in the
market and comply with statutory requirements of Hong Kong. Remuneration
packages are generally reviewed annually. Apart from salary payments, other
staff benefits include provident fund contributions, medical insurance coverage
and discretionary performance-related bonuses. The Group also has a share
option scheme in place to reward and motivate employees. Details of the
share option scheme of the Company are set out in the section headed “Other
Information— Share Option Scheme” in this report.

Contingent liabilities

As at 31 December 2021, the Group did not have any significant contingent
liabilities (31 December 2020: Nil).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Capital commitments

As at 31 December 2021, the capital commitments contracted but not
provided for the development costs of intangible assets were approximately
HK$45,461,000 (31 December 2020: approximately HK$38,477,000). Please
refer to note 41 to the consolidated financial statements contained in this
report for details.

OUTLOOK

Looking forward, global economy will continue to be full of uncertainties. The
world is expecting pandemic recovery and global economic recovery on one
hand, sluggish economic activities due to surge in COVID-19 cases, ongoing
geopolitical risks, Russia-Ukraine war and upcoming interest rate hikes on
the other hand. These factors pose a great degree of challenges to the global
economic outlook in the year ahead.

It is important to remain resilient and strong of our businesses, amidst the
challenging time in 2022. Therefore, the Group will continue to bolster its
capability in technology and lift up its priority to serve our customers around
the world through offering them quality I.T. products and services. We are
confident on our relentless focus on driving innovation and sustainability
outlook to our shareholders. In future, through the Boom Max Group, one
of the main pillar businesses of the Group, we will continue to focus on
technological innovation and uplift our research and development capabilities.
To maintain our competitive edge in the long run, the Group persists our effort
in upholding our commitment to enhance customers satisfaction and product
innovation for our software product users.

We insist that our people are the necessary key to success. Amidst the
pandemic time, health and safety of the Group’s employees are always at the
top of the Group’s priority. Safety measures were adopted to prevent from the
spread of virus in the workplace. For examples, frequent cleaning, disinfectant
and face masks have been provided at the head office. Going forward, as a
reliable and caring corporation, we will continue to implement appropriate and
necessary safety measures in order to safeguard the health of our employees.

Mapping out sustainable and resilient strategies of the Group, the Group will
continue to promote its capacities in technological empowerment, enhance
customer satisfaction, and adhere to a prudent approach in achieving
sustainable financial performance. Looking ahead, the Group will continue
to endeavour in ensuring a healthy momentum on its businesses and to
withstand market risks and fluctuations ahead. The Group will also carefully
monitor the overall market and maintain an appropriate balance of risks
and opportunities in order to achieve sustainable growth and returns to the
shareholders of the Company.
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EXERAWS

The Board would like to present this Corporate Governance Report for the
Year.

The Company is committed to maintaining corporate governance in high
standard with quality procedures. The Company has put in place governance
practices with emphasis on the integrity to the Shareholders and quality of
disclosure, transparency and accountability to the Shareholders for the sake
of maximising returns to the Shareholders. The Directors acknowledge in the
Corporate Governance Report about their responsibilities for preparing the
financial statements.

Throughout the Year, the Board has reviewed the Group’s corporate
governance practices and is satisfied that the Company has complied with the
Code Provisions of the then prevailing Corporate Governance Code set out in
Appendix 15 to the GEM Listing Rules for the year ended 31 December 2021
(the “CG Code”).

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Composition

As at 31 December 2021, the Board comprised five members, two executive
Directors, namely Mr. Wong Jing Shong (Chairman of the Board) and Mr.
Lau Siu Cheong (chief executive officer of the Company (“Chief Executive
Officer”)) and three independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Chan
Yung, Mr. Cheng Hong Kei and Professor Chui Tsan Kit. Independent non-
executive Directors are invited to serve on the audit committee (the “Audit
Committee”), the remuneration committee (the “Remuneration Committee”)
and the nomination committee (the “Nomination Committee”) of the Board. On
8 February 2021, Mr. Zhang Long resigned as an executive Director and the
Chief Executive Officer. Mr. Lau Siu Cheong was appointed as an executive
Director and the Chief Executive Officer with effect from 8 February 2021.

The composition of the Board reflects the balance of skills and experience
appropriate for the requirements of the Group’s business and for the exercise
of independent decisions. The Company has three independent non-executive
Directors representing more than half of the Board. They are professionals in
different areas, who provide independent opinions based on their expertise.

Mr. Wong Jing Shong, the Chairman of the Board and an executive Director,
is a director of CONCORD-LINKED LIMITED (1% 28 & R ‘A &) (‘CONCORD”)
and a number of subsidiaries of CONCORD, namely, EPRO Systems (HK)
Limited (‘EPRO HK”), EPRO Systems (China) Limited, EPRO Technology
Limited and EPRO Limited, and the chief executive officer of EPRO HK. As
at 31 December 2021, he was interested in 100% interests in CONCORD.
Mr. Zhang Long, the former executive Director and the former Chief Executive
Officer during the Year, is also a director of the above-mentioned subsidiaries
of CONCORD. Further details in relation to the directorship of Mr. Wong Jing
Shong and Mr. Zhang Long in the said companies are disclosed in the section
headed “Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management” and in the
sub-section headed “Competing Interest” in the section headed “Report of the
Directors” in this report.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

Save as disclosed above, there is no relationship among members of
the Board (including financial, business, family or other material/relevant
relationship). The biographies of the Directors are set out in the section headed
“Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management” in this report.

BOARD PRACTICES AND CONDUCT OF MEETINGS

Formal notice of at least 14 days will be given in respect of a regular
meeting. For special Board meeting, reasonable notice will be given. The
Directors participated, either in person or through other electronic means of
communication, in the Board meetings.

The Directors meet regularly at least 4 times a year and participate in person
or through other means of communication. All notices of Board meetings were
given to all Directors, who were given an opportunity to include matters in the
agenda for discussion. All Directors are kept informed on a timely basis of
major changes that may affect the Group’s businesses, including relevant rules
and regulations. The Directors can also seek independent professional advice
in performing their duties at the Company’s expense, if necessary. Minutes of
each Board meeting are kept by the company secretary of the Company (the
“Company Secretary”) and are open for inspection at any reasonable time on
request by any Director.

Directors’ insurance

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance cover in respect of the legal
action against the Directors.

Responsibilities, accountabilities and contributions of the Board
and management

The Board should assume responsibility for leadership and control of the
Company and is collectively responsible for promoting the success of the
Company by directing and supervising its affairs. All Directors should make
decisions objectively in the interests of the Company.

The Board reserves for its decision on all major matters relating to policy,
strategies and budgets, internal control and risk management, material
transactions (in particular those that may involve conflict of interests), financial
information, appointment of Directors and other significant operational matters
of the Company. Responsibilities relating to implementing decisions of the
Board, directing and coordinating the daily operation and management of the
Company are delegated to the management.
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EXERAWS

Attendance of Directors at Meetings

During the Year, 13 Board meetings had been held for reviewing business
performance, considering and approving the overall strategies and policies
of the Company and other business matters. The attendance record of each
current and former Director at the Board and Board Committee meetings and
the general meeting of the Company held during the Year is set out in the table
below:

EFHFEgECE

REFER HBETIBREFTERUBRIEREES
K WEERILERATBERE RBRAEMER
EH  TREJISREMRFIEENFAEFERNHFES
EREFEEE TR URTRATRERNEHICEH

Attendance/Number of Meetings

HEBER E2RY
Remuneration Audit  Nomination General

Note Board Committee Committee Committee Meeting

Mzt EXg HWEEe BREZEY RYZEEg RRAE
Executive Directors HiTES
Mr. Wong Jing Shong wBIFZEE 1113 NATER N/A REF N/A REF 11
Mr. Zhang Long REELAE 1 2/2  NAREH N/A R NARER  NATER
Mr. Lau Siu Cheong ZELE 1 11/11 N/A R N/A R N/A REF 1
Independent Non-executive Directors B JEHITES
Mr. Chan Yung MELE 913 2/3 4/5 2/3 11
Mr. Cheng Hong Kei BERHLE 12/13 3/3 5/5 3/3 1/1
Professor Chui Tsan Kit R G 12/13 3/3 4/5 3/3 11
Note: PEET
1. Mr. Zhang Long resigned as an executive Director and the Chief Executive Officer 1. REAEB-E_—F AN\ HEFERITESRITH

with effect from 8 February 2021. Mr. Lau Siu Cheong was appointed as an
executive Director and the Chief Executive Officer with effect from 8 February
2021.

In addition, the Chairman of the Board has annually held the meeting with the
independent non-executive Directors without the presence of other Directors
during the Year.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

During the Year, the positions of Chairman and Chief Executive Officer were
separately held. The Chairman provides leadership to the Board and is
responsible for the effective functioning and leadership of the Board whereas
the Chief Executive Officer focuses on the Group’s business development and
daily management and operations generally. Mr. Lau Siu Cheong has been
appointed as the Chief Executive Officer on 8 February 2021 upon resignation
of Mr. Zhang Long on the same day.
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Independent Non-executive Directors

During the Year, the Board complied at all times with the requirements of the
GEM Listing Rules that at least three independent non-executive Directors sit
in the Board (more than one-third of the Board members) and at least one
of them has appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related
financial management expertise.

The Company has received written annual confirmation from each of the
existing independent non-executive Directors in respect of his independence
in accordance with the independence guidelines set out in the GEM Listing
Rules. As at the date of this report, the Company in its best knowledge
considers all independent non-executive Directors are independent.

Appointment and re-election of Directors

The Company has established formal, considered and transparent procedures
for the appointment of new Directors.

The procedures and process of appointment, re-election and removal
of Directors are laid down in the Company’s Bye-laws. According to the
Company’s Bye-laws, any Director appointed by the Board to fill a casual
vacancy on or as an addition to the Board shall be subject to re-election by the
Shareholders after appointment. Other relevant provision in the Bye-law states
that one-third of the Directors for the time being, or, if their number is not a
multiple of three, then the number nearest to but not less than one-third, shall
retire from office by rotation at every annual general meeting. A retiring Director
shall be eligible for re-election. The Directors to retire by rotation shall include
(so far as necessary to ascertain the number of Directors to retire by rotation)
any Director who wishes to retire and not to offer himself for re-election. Any
further Directors so to retire shall be those of the other Directors subject to
retirement by rotation who have been longest in office since their last re-
election or appointment. All Directors should retire by rotation at least once
every three years.

Under the CG Code, every Directors, including those appointed for a specific
term, should be subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three
years. The independent non-executive Directors were appointed for a
specific term: Professor Chui Tsan Kit was re-appointed for a term of 3 years
commencing on 23 April 2020 whereas, Mr. Chan Yung and Mr. Cheng Hong
Kei were appointed for a term of 3 years both commencing on 24 November
2020. All Directors are subject to retirement by rotation at least once every
three years.
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The Company’s circular, to be sent to the Shareholders, contains detailed
information of the Directors who will offer themselves for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company as required by the GEM
Listing Rules.

Continuous professional development of Directors

Directors keep abreast of responsibilities as a Director and of the conduct,
business activities and development of the Company. Newly appointed
Directors will receive a comprehensive, formal and tailored induction on
appointment to ensure appropriate understanding of the business and
operations of the Company and full awareness of their responsibilities and
obligations under the GEM Listing Rules, relevant statutory requirements and
the Company’s business and governance polices.

Besides, the Directors should participate in appropriate continuous
professional development trainings to develop and refresh their knowledge
and skills to ensure that their contribution to the Board remains informed and
relevant. Reading materials on relevant topics will be issued to the Directors
where appropriate. All Directors are encouraged to attend relevant training
courses at the Company’s expenses.

According to the records maintained by the Company, the current and former
Directors received the following training with an emphasis on the roles,
functions and duties of a Director of a listed company in compliance with the
CG Code on continuous professional development during the Year.
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Attending or participating in
seminars/workshops,

and/or reading materials relevant
to roles, functions, and duties

Directors of a director of a listed company

HEXSHEFHLTATESARG
BAERBENMESE, TSR

Executive Directors BiTES

Mr. Wong Jing Shong BIEERE v

Mr. Zhang Long (Note 1) sRBEA A (FEE1) v

Mr. Lau Siu Cheong (Note 1) RIIKE S E (FIEE1) v/

Independent Non-executive Directors BIIERITES

Mr. Chan Yung BB T4 4

Mr. Cheng Hong Kei ERERIE S v

Professor Chui Tsan Kit RIRGHIR v

Note: BIEE -

1. Mr. Zhang Long resigned as an executive Director and the Chief Executive Officer 1. REAEE S —F_AN\HEBETHRITEERTEH

with effect from 8 February 2021. Mr. Lau Siu Cheong was appointed as an
executive Director and the Chief Executive Officer with effect from 8 February
2021.

Company Secretary

The Company Secretary is Mr. Lau Siu Cheong. The Company Secretary
assists the Board by ensuring good information flow within the Board so that
Board policy and procedures are followed. He has taken no less than 15 hours
of relevant professional trainings to update his skills and knowledge during the
Year.
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The following statements, which set out the responsibility of Directors in
relation to the financial statements, should be read in conjunction with, but
distinguished from, the Independent Auditor’s Report on pages 72 to 76 which
acknowledges the reporting responsibility of the Group’s auditor.

Annual report and accounts

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for the preparation of the annual
report and financial statements of the Company for the Year to ensure that
these financial statements give a true and fair presentation in accordance
with Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong
Kong) (“Companies Ordinance”) and the applicable accounting standards.
The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to
continue as a going concern.

Accounting policies

The Directors consider that in preparing the financial statements, the Group
applies appropriate accounting policies that are consistently adopted
and makes judgments and estimates that are reasonable and prudent in
accordance with the applicable accounting standards.

Accounting records

The Directors are responsible for ensuring that the Group keeps accounting
records which disclose the financial positions of the Group upon which
financial statements of the Group could be prepared in accordance with the
Group’s accounting policies.

Safeguarding assets

The Directors are responsible for taking all reasonable and necessary steps to
safeguard the assets of the Group and to prevent and detect fraud and other
irregularities within the Group.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

During the Year, auditor’s remuneration for audit services was approximately
HK$1,000,000 (2020: approximately HK$1,000,000) and non-audit services
(including but not limited to professional advice on financial activities and
taxation) was approximately HK$426,000 (2020: approximately HK$486,000).
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
Goals and Objectives

The Board is responsible for formulating the Group’s risk management and
internal control systems and reviewing their effectiveness at least annually
and on an ongoing basis. Such systems are designed to manage rather than
eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and can only provide
reasonable and not absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.

Main features of the risk management and internal control
systems

The Group’s risk governance structure and the main responsibilities of each
level of the structure are summarised below:

Board

o evaluates and determines the nature and extent of the risks it is willing
to take in achieving the Group’s strategic objectives, and ensures the
implementation of an effective risk management and internal control
systems; and

. oversees the management in the design, implementation and
monitoring of the risk management and internal control systems.

Management

° designs, implements and monitors the risk management and internal
control systems;

o identifies and assesses the risks which threaten the achievement of the
strategic objectives;

. reviews the risk areas and risk level;

o advises on matters raised by employees and the Company;

o coordinates and promotes risk management by ensuring that risk
and activities processes are operated efficiently and effectively and in
compliance with the GEM Listing Rules; and

o reports periodically to the Board.
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Process Used to Identify, Evaluate and Manage Significant Risks
The Group’s risk assessment processes are summarised as follows:
Risk Identification

o Identifies the risks through discussion with the management and
directors of subsidiaries of the Company.

Risk Assessment

o Determines the existing controls and analyses risks in terms of
consequence and likelihood in the context of those controls. The
analysis considers the range of potential consequences and how likely
those consequences are to occur. Consequences and likelihood are
combined to produce an estimated level of risk.

Risk Response

o Categorises the risks into low risk, medium risk and high risk;

o Determines the strategy to handle the risk; and

o Develops the risk register and internal control audit plan and determines

the frequency of review and control testing on key controls.

Risk Monitoring and Reporting

o on-going communication of monitoring results to the Board which
enables it to assess control of the Group and the effectiveness of risk

management during the Year, including:

o risk questionnaires completed by the management, risk register
and internal control audit plan; and

o fact finding report with recommendations on the review and
testing of internal controls on certain operating cycles and areas.
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Internal Audit Function

The Group’s internal audit function is performed by the management of the
Company, including analysing and appraising the adequacy and effectiveness
of the Group’s risk management and internal control systems. For the
enhancement of the quality of the internal audit, the Company has engaged an
external consultant to execute a significant scope of internal audit function to:

o perform the risk assessment based on management evaluation on
identified area and report the findings and recommendations to the
management;

o conduct various agreed-upon-procedures reviews on material controls

and perform testing of internal controls on certain operating cycles and
areas in accordance with the Company’s internal control audit plan; and

. report to the Audit Committee for findings identified during the review
and propose recommendation for follow-up action.

During the Year, the Board, as assisted by the Audit Committee, reviewed the
Company’s risk management and internal control systems for the Year, which
cover all material controls, including financial, operational and compliance
controls, adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and experience, training
programmes and budget of the Group’s accounting, internal audit and
financial reporting functions, and assessed the effectiveness of the risk
management and internal control systems of the Group by reviewing the work
and findings of the internal audit function. Such review is conducted annually.
Both the Audit Committee and the Board considered that the systems were
effective and adequate for the Year.

DIVIDEND POLICY

Under the dividend policy adopted by the Company with effect from 1 January
2019, dividends may be declared and paid to the Shareholders by way of cash
or by other means that the Board considers appropriate. It is the policy of the
Board, in recommending dividends, to allow the Shareholders to participate
in the Company’s profits, and at the same time, to ensure the Company to
retain adequate reserves for future growth. The Company’s decision to declare
or to pay any dividends in the future, and the amount of such dividends will
depend upon, among other things, the current and future operations, financial
condition, liquidity position and capital requirements of the Group, as well as
dividends received from the Company’s subsidiaries and associates, which in
turn will depend on the ability of those subsidiaries and associates to pay a
dividend. In addition, any final dividends for a financial year will be subject to
the approval of the Shareholders. The declaration and payment of dividends by
the Company are also subject to any restrictions under the laws of Bermuda,
the laws of Hong Kong, the Company’s Bye-laws and any applicable laws,
rules and regulations. The Board will continue to review the dividend policy
from time to time and the Board may exercise its sole and absolute discretion
to update, amend and/or modify the dividend policy at any time as it deems fit
and necessary.
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INFORMATION DISCLOSURE POLICY

The Company has adopted its information disclosure policy and related
procedures with regard to the “Guidelines on Disclosure of Inside Information”
issued by the Securities and Futures Commission. The policy stipulates the
responsibilities of the Group, key disclosure requirements under Part XIVA of
the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong)
(“SFO”) and Rules 17.10, 17.11 and 17.11A of the GEM Listing Rules, control
measures and reporting procedures of handling confidential information and
monitoring information disclosure. The Group adopts an upward reporting
approach within the Group for identifying and escalating any potential inside
information to the Board. The policy is reviewed annually and all reasonable
measures have to be taken from time to time to ensure proper safeguards
to prevent any breach of disclosure requirements and to maintain strict
confidentiality of information.

BOARD COMMITTEES/FUNCTIONS

The Board has established three committees, namely, the Remuneration
Committee, the Audit Committee and the Nomination Committee, for
overseeing particular aspects of the Company’s affairs. All Board committees
of the Company are established with defined written terms of reference. The
terms of reference of the Board committees are posted on the Company’s
website and the Stock Exchange’s website. Copies of minutes of all meetings
and resolutions of the committees, which are kept by the Company Secretary,
are circulated to all Board members and the committees are required to report
back to the Board on their decision and recommendations where appropriate.

Remuneration Committee

The members of the Remuneration Committee during the Year, all being
independent non-executive Directors, were as follows:

Professor Chui Tsan Kit (Chairman)

Mr. Chan Yung
Mr. Cheng Hong Kei

The main duties of the Remuneration Committee include making
recommendations to the Board on the policy and structure for the
remuneration of all Directors and senior management, and determining
the remuneration packages of individual executive Directors and senior
management; and establishing transparent procedures for developing such
remuneration policy and structure to ensure that no Director or any of their
associates will participate in deciding that Director’s own remuneration.
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During the Year, the Remuneration Committee performed the following major
tasks:

o reviewed and made recommendation to the Board on the remuneration
policy and structure of the Company;

o determined the remuneration packages of the executive Directors and
senior management;

o made recommendations to the Board of the remuneration packages of
non-executive Directors;

o assessed performance, duties and responsibilities of executive Directors
and senior management; and

o approved the terms of the executive Directors’ service contracts.
Details of the Directors’ remuneration and five individuals with highest
emoluments (including the member of the current senior management of
the Company) are set out in notes 16 and 15 to the consolidated financial
statements contained in this report respectively.

Audit Committee

The members of the Audit Committee during the Year, all being independent
non-executive Directors, were as follows:

Mr. Cheng Hong Kei (Chairman)

Professor Chui Tsan Kit

Mr. Chan Yung

Mr. Cheng Hong Kei and Professor Chui Tsan Kit possess the appropriate

professional qualifications and/or accounting and financial management
expertise as required under the GEM Listing Rules.
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The main duties of the Audit Committee include the following:

(@) to monitor the control procedures and the disclosures on the reporting
of the Company’s financial statements, and to review and discuss
with external auditor any significant financial reporting standards and
guidelines applied to the financial statements;

to consider any significant or unusual items that are, or may need to be,
reflected in financial reports and accounts, and give due consideration
to matters raised by the Company’s compliance officer or external
auditor;

() to review the relationship with the external auditor by reference to
the work performed by them, their fees and terms of engagement,
and make recommendations to the Board on the appointment, re-
appointment and removal of auditor;

to review the Company’s financial controls, internal control and risk
management systems; and

(e) to review the Company’s arrangements to enable employees to raise, in
confidence, concerns about possible improprieties in financial reporting,
internal control or other matters of the Company.

During the Year, the Audit Committee has reviewed the audit plan, financial
results and reports, financial reporting, compliance procedures and
effectiveness of the internal audit function of the Company, report on the
Company’s internal control and risk management review and processes, re-
appointment of external auditor and arrangements for employees to raise
concerns about possible improprieties. During the Year, the Audit Committee
also met the external auditor twice without the presence of the executive
Directors. Besides, there is no disagreement between the Board and the Audit
Committee regarding the re-appointment of external auditor. During the Year,
the Company’s annual results for the year ended 31 December 2020, the first
quarterly results for the three months ended 31 March 2021, the interim results
for the six months ended 30 June 2021 and the third quarterly results for the
nine months ended 30 September 2021 have been reviewed by the Audit
Committee.
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Nomination Committee

The members of the Nomination Committee during the Year, all being
independent non-executive Directors, were as follows:

Mr. Chan Yung (Chairman)

Professor Chui Tsan Kit

Mr. Cheng Hong Kei

The main duties of the Nomination Committee include reviewing the structure,
size and composition (including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and
educational background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge
and length of services) of the Board at least annually and recommending any
changes to the Board to complement the Company’s corporate strategy;
identifying suitably qualified individuals to become the Board members
and selecting and making recommendations to the Board on the selection
of individuals nominated for directorships; assessing the independence
of independent non-executive Directors; making recommendations to the
Board on the appointment or re-appointment of Directors and succession
planning for the Directors in particular, the Chairman of the Board and the
Chief Executive Officer; and reviewing the Board Diversity Policy (as defined
below) and making disclosure of the policy or a summary of the policy in the
corporate governance report.

In assessing the Board composition, the Nomination Committee would take
into account various aspects set out in the board diversity policy (the “Board
Diversity Policy”) adopted by the Company from time to time.

The Company recognises and embraces the benefits of having a diverse
Board to enhance the quality of its performance. With a view to achieving a
sustainable and balanced development, the Company sees increasing diversity
at the Board level as an essential element in supporting the attainment
of its strategic objectives and its sustainable development. Selection of
candidates for appointment as a Director will be based on a range of diversity
perspectives, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, ethnicity, professional experience, skill, knowledge and length of
services. The ultimate decision will be based on merits and contribution that
the selected candidates will bring to the Board. The Nomination Committee
considers that an appropriate balance of diversity perspective of the Board is
maintained.
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In selecting and evaluating candidates for directorship of the Company, the
Nomination Committee may make reference to the directors’ nomination
procedures which also contains the directors’ nomination policy (the “Director
Nomination Policy and Procedures”) adopted by the Company on 31
December 2015 and updated on 30 December 2021. By considering various
factors, including but not limited to (i) character and integrity, (i) qualifications
including professional qualifications, skills, knowledge and experience that
are relevant to the Group’s business and corporate strategy; (i) willingness
to devote sufficient time to discharge duties as a Director; (iv) requirement for
the Board to have independent Directors in accordance with the GEM Listing
Rules and whether the candidates would be considered independent with
reference to the independence guidelines set out in the GEM Listing Rules;
(v) the Board Diversity Policy and any measurable objectives adopted by the
Company for achieving diversity on the Board; and (vi) such other perspectives
appropriate to the Company’s business.

The Nomination Committee and/or the Board shall, upon receipt of the
proposal on appointment of new Director and the biographical information
(or relevant details) of the candidate, evaluate such candidate based on the
criteria as set out above to determine whether such candidate is qualified
for directorship. If the process yields one or more desirable candidates,
the Nomination Committee and/or the Board shall rank them by order of
preference based on the needs of the Company and reference check of
each candidate (where applicable). The Nomination Committee shall make
recommendation to the Board in respect of the appointment of appropriate
candidate for directorship. For any person that is nominated by a shareholder
for election as a director at the general meeting of the Company, the
Nomination Committee and/or the Board shall evaluate such candidate based
on the criteria as set out above to determine whether such candidate is
qualified for directorship and where appropriate, the Nomination Committee
and/or the Board shall make recommendation to shareholders in respect of
the proposed election of director at the general meeting.

During the Year, the Nomination Committee performed the following major
tasks:

o identified Mr. Lau Siu Cheong as a candidate for directorship and made
recommendation on the appointment of Mr. Lau Siu Cheong as an
executive Director and the Chief Executive Officer to the Board based
on the nomination process and criteria as set out above;

o reviewed and made recommendation on the renewal of appointment

of Wong Jing Shong as the chairman of the Board and an executive
Director based on the nomination process and criteria as set out above;
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reviewed the structure, size and composition of the Board under
diversified perspectives and the Board Diversity Policy to ensure the
appropriateness in determining the optimum composition of the Board;

reviewed the Director Nomination Policy and Procedures to ensure
the appropriateness in selecting and recommending candidates for
directorship; and

assessed the independence of all the independent non-executive
Directors.
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Analysis of the Board’s composition as at 31 December 2021 is set out inthe  FEIFHIIN _ZE_—F+_BA=+—HHESZHEM
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The Board is responsible for performing the corporate governance duties
set out in the CG Code. The Board reviewed the Company’s corporate
governance policies and practices, training and continuous professional
development of the Directors and senior management, the Company’s policies
and practices on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements, the
compliance of the GEM Listing Rules, and the Company’s compliance with the
CG Code and disclosure in this Corporate Governance Report.

DIRECTORS’ AND RELEVANT EMPLOYEES’
SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules
as the required standard of dealings (the “Required Standard of Dealings”)
in respect to any dealings in the Company’s securities by the Company’s
Directors and relevant employees. Specific enquiries have been made to all
Directors and they all confirmed they had complied with the Required Standard
of Dealings during the Year. No incident of non-compliance of the Required
Standard of Dealings by the relevant employees was noted by the Company
during the Year.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

To safeguard the Shareholders’ interests and rights, a separate resolution is
proposed for each substantially separate issue at the Shareholders’ meetings,
including the election of individual Directors. According to the GEM Listing
Rules, all resolutions put forward at the Shareholders’ meetings will be
voted on by poll and poll results will be posted on the websites of the Stock
Exchange and the Company after each Shareholders’ meeting.

Set out below are the procedures for members to make proposals at a general
meeting other than a proposal of a person for election as the Directors.

Procedures for members to make proposals at general meeting
other than a proposal of a person for election as Director

The following procedures are subject to the Company’s Bye-laws, the
Bermuda Companies Act 1981 and applicable legislation and regulations.

1. The Company holds an annual general meeting every year, and may
hold a general meeting known as a special general meeting whenever
necessary.

2. Member(s) of the Company holding (i) not less than one-twentieth of the
total voting rights of all members having the right to vote at the general
meeting; or (i) not less than 100 members, can submit a written request
stating the resolution intended to be moved at the annual general
meeting; or a statement of not more than 1,000 words with respect to
the matter referred to in any proposed resolution or the business to be
dealt with at a particular general meeting.

3. The written request/statements must be signed by the member(s)
concerned and deposited at the Company’s registered office at
Clarendon House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton HM11, Bermuda and its
head office and principal place of business in Hong Kong (subject to
change from time to time), for the attention of the Company Secretary,
not less than six weeks before the annual general meeting in the case of
a requisition requiring notice of a resolution and not less than one week
before the general meeting in the case of any other requisition.
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4. If the written request is in order, the Company Secretary will ask the
Board (j) to include the resolution in the agenda for the annual general
meeting; or (i) to circulate the statement for the general meeting,
provided that the member(s) concerned have deposited a sum of
money reasonably determined by the Board sufficient to meet the
Company’s expenses in serving the notice of the resolution and/
or circulating the statement submitted by the member(s) concerned
in accordance with the statutory requirements to all the registered
members. On the contrary, if the requisition is invalid or the member(s)
concerned have failed to deposit sufficient money to meet the
Company’s expenses for the said purposes, the member(s) concerned
will be advised of this outcome and accordingly, the proposed resolution
will not be included in the agenda for the annual general meeting; or the
statement will not be circulated for the general meeting.

The following are the procedures for the Shareholders to propose a person for
election as a Director.

Procedures for Shareholders to propose a person for election as
a Director

The following procedures are subject to the Company’s Bye-laws, the
Bermuda Companies Act 1981 and applicable legislation and regulations.

If a member, who is duly qualified to attend and vote at the general meeting
convened to deal with appointment/election of Director(s), wishes to propose a
person (other than the member himself/herself) for election as a Director at that
meeting, he/she can deposit a written notice at the Company’s head office
and principal place of business in Hong Kong (subject to change from time to
time), for the attention of the Company Secretary.

In order for the Company to inform all members of that proposal, the written
notice must state the full name of the person to be proposed for election as
a Director, his/her biographical details as required by Rule 17.50(2) of the
GEM Listing Rules, and be signed by the member concerned and that person
indicating his/her willingness to be elected.
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The period for lodgment of such a written notice will commence on the day
after the despatch of the notice of the general meeting and end no later
than seven (7) days prior to the date of such general meeting. If the notice
is received less than fifteen (15) business days prior to that general meeting,
the Company will need to consider adjournment of the general meeting in
order to (i) assess the suitability of the proposed candidate; and (i) publish an
announcement or circulate a supplementary circular in relation to the proposal
to the members at least fourteen (14) clear days and not less than ten (10)
business days prior to the general meeting.

Detailed procedures for the Shareholders to propose a person for election as a
Director are available on the Company’s website at www.geth.com.hk.

Procedures for Shareholders to convene a special general
meeting

The following procedures are subject to the Company’s Bye-laws, the
Bermuda Companies Act 1981 and applicable legislation and regulations.

Shareholders holding at the date of deposit of the requisition not less than
one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at
general meetings of the Company shall at all times have the right, by written
requisition sent to the Company’s registered office at Clarendon House, 2
Church Street, Hamilton HM11, Bermuda and its head office and principal
place of business in Hong Kong (subject to change from time to time), for the
attention of the Company Secretary, to require a special general meeting to
be called by the Board for the transaction of any business specified in such
requisition; and such meeting shall be held within two (2) months after the
deposit of such requisition. If the Board does not within twenty-one (21) days
from the date of the deposit of the requisition proceed duly to convene a
meeting, the requisitionists, or any of them representing more than one half of
the total voting rights of all of them, may themselves convene a meeting, but
any meeting so convened shall not be held after the expiration of three months
from the said date.

Procedures for sending enquiries to the Board

For putting forward any enquiries to the Board, the Shareholders may
send written enquiries to the Board of Directors/Company Secretary at the
Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong. For the avoidance of
doubt, the Shareholder(s) must deposit and send the original duly signed
written requisition, notice or statement, or enquiry (as the case may be) to
the Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong and provide their
full name, contact details and identification in order to give effect thereto. The
Shareholders’ information may be disclosed as required by law.
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Shareholders may also make enquiries with the Board at the general meetings
of the Company.

INVESTOR RELATIONS AND COMMUNICATION WITH
SHAREHOLDERS

The Board has adopted a Shareholders’ Communication Policy reflecting
mostly the current practices of the Company for communication with its
Shareholders. Such policy aims at providing the Shareholders and potential
investors with ready and timely access to balanced and understandable
information of the Company. Such policy will be reviewed by the Company
on an annual basis to ensure its implementation and effectiveness and
compliance with the prevailing regulatory and other requirements.

The Company has established a number of channels for maintaining an
ongoing dialogue with the Shareholders as follows:

(i) corporate communications such as annual reports, interim reports,
quarterly reports, notices of meetings, listing documents and circulars
are issued in printed form and are available on the Stock Exchange’s
website at www.hkex.com.hk and the Company’s website at
www.geth.com.hk in a timely and consistent manner as required by the
GEM Listing Rules;

(ii) corporate information and the memorandum of continuance and Bye-
laws of the Company are made available on the Company’s website;

(iii) periodic announcements are made through the Stock Exchange and
published on the respective websites of the Stock Exchange and the
Company;

(ivy  annual general meeting and special general meetings provide a forum

for the Shareholders to make comments and exchange views with the

Directors and senior management; and

(V) the Company’s share registrar serves the Shareholders in respect

of share registration, dividend payment, change of Shareholders’
particulars and related matters.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

There is no change in the Company’s constitutional documents during the
Year.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Wong Jing Shong (“Mr. Wong”), aged 31, has been appointed as
an executive Director and the Chairman of the Board since October 2018.
He is the controlling shareholder of the Company. Mr. Wong is member of
the 13th Huizhou Committee of The Chinese People’s Political Consultative
Conference. He obtained a Bachelor’'s Degree of Science in Mathematics
from the King’s College London in the United Kingdom in August 2014. After
graduation, Mr. Wong undertook training at Legend Capital Co., Ltd. &
BARAEERNARAS, a company engaging in venture capital business
in the PRC, from October 2014 to October 2015. He has been the director
of Aerophant Capital Management Co., Ltd. REEXEEBE AT, a
company engaging in venture capital business, since June 2018. Mr. Wong
has also been a partner of F MR EBEHBREELE Wuhu Qi Chen
Investment Management Co., Ltd. (the English name is for identification
purposes only) (“Wuhu Qi Chen Investment”) since November 2016. Wuhu Qi
Chen Investment is principally engaged in information technology business. Mr.
Wong has been a director of EPRO Systems (HK) Limited (‘EPRO HK”), EPRO
Systems (China) Limited, EPRO Technology Limited and EPRO Limited since
July 2017 and the chief executive officer of EPRO HK since January 2018, all
of which were wholly-owned subsidiaries of CONCORD-LINKED LIMITED (1%
FEEPR/AT)) (‘CONCORD”) (together as the “CONCORD Group”). Mr. Wong
has further been employed as (i) the chief executive officer of the CONCORD
Group; and (i) an executive director of EPRO HK for a term of three years
since May 2019. He has also been appointed as a director of CONCORD.
As at 31 December 2021, CONCORD was wholly owned by Mr. Wong. The
CONCORD Group is principally engaged in the provision of professional I.T.
contract and maintenance services.

Mr. Wong is the compliance officer and an authorised representative of the
Company for the purposes of the GEM Listing Rules. Mr. Wong serves as an
executive Director for a term of three years commencing on 29 October 2021
and is subject to retirement from office and re-election in accordance with the
Bye-laws of the Company.
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Mr. Lau Siu Cheong (‘Mr. Lau”), aged 48, has been appointed as (i) an
executive Director and the Chief Executive Officer since 8 February 2021;
and (i) the company secretary, the financial controller of the Company and
the authorised representative for the purposes of the Companies Ordinance
and the GEM Listing Rules since August 2013. Mr. Lau obtained a Bachelor
of Commerce (Accounting) degree from the Curtin University of Technology
in 1999. He obtained a Master of Corporate Governance degree from The
Hong Kong Polytechnic University in 2021. He is a fellow member of the
CPA Australia and a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. He is a fellow of both the Chartered Governance Institute
and The Hong Kong Chartered Governance Institute and holds Chartered
Secretary and Chartered Governance Professional dual designations. In 2022,
he obtained an estate agent’s individual licence under the Estate Agents
Ordinance (Chapter 511, the Laws of Hong Kong). Mr. Lau has over 20 years
of experience in finance and accounting. Mr. Lau was the finance manager
of the Company from January 2010 to July 2013. Mr. Lau is principally
responsible for, among others, the overall financial management, financial
planning and budgetary control of the Group and carrying out company
secretarial functions of the Group. He is also responsible for the Group’s
business development and daily management and operations generally. He is
also the director of a number of subsidiaries of the Company and the member
of the senior management of the Company.

Mr. Lau serves as an executive Director for a term of three years commencing

on 8 February 2021 and is subject to retirement from office and re-election in
accordance with the Bye-laws of the Company.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Professor Chui Tsan Kit (‘Professor Chui’), aged 53, has been appointed
as an independent non-executive Director since April 2015. He is also the
chairman of the Remuneration Committee of the Board and a member of
the Audit Committee and the Nomination Committee of the Board. Professor
Chui obtained a Postgraduate Diploma in Finance (with Distinction) from
The Chinese University of Hong Kong, a Master of Business Administration
Degree from The Chinese University of Hong Kong, a Master of Science
Degree in Engineering (Electronic Commerce) from The University of Hong
Kong, a Master of Science Degree in Investment Management from The
Hong Kong University of Science and Technology, a Master of Laws Degree
in Chinese Business Law from The Chinese University of Hong Kong and a
Master of Corporate Governance Degree from The Hong Kong Polytechnic
University. He is also a member of CPA Australia, a certified financial consultant
of The Institute of Financial Consultants, a chartered wealth manager of
the International Academy of Financial Management, an associate of The
Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries and The Institute of Chartered
Secretaries and Administrators. He is the president of the Chinese Institute of
Registered Financial Analysts. He was an honorary assistant professor of the
Department of Computer Science, Faculty of Engineering at The University
of Hong Kong and an adjunct associate professor of the Department of
Marketing, Faculty of Business Administration at The Chinese University of
Hong Kong. He is an adjunct professor of EMBA Programme, College of
Business of The City University of Hong Kong.

Professor Chui was the director of Investment Services of ICBC International
Holdings Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Industrial and Commercial
Bank of China Limited (stock code: 1398), whose shares are listed on
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, from January 2010 to December
2010. Professor Chui was the head of warrant marketing of Bank of China
(HK) Ltd, a wholly-owned subsidiary of BOC Hong Kong (Holdings) Limited
(stock code: 2388), whose shares are listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange, from October 2007 to February 2009. He was also the head
of wealth management of China Galaxy International Financial Holdings
Company Limited and the chief executive officer of China Galaxy International
Wealth Management (Hong Kong) Co., Limited, both being the wholly-owned
subsidiaries of China Galaxy Securities Co., Ltd. (stock code: 6881), whose
shares are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, from October
2012 to May 2014. From July 2005 to September 2007, Professor Chui was
also the associate director of retail operations and the director of investment
education of Sun Hung Kai Financial Limited, a subsidiary of Sun Hung Kai &
Co. Limited (stock code: 86), whose shares are listed on the Main Board of
the Stock Exchange. He was an independent non-executive director of GR
Properties Limited (stock code: 108), shares of which are listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange, from February 2015 to February 2018.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EEREREEEBE

Professor Chui is currently the chief strategic officer of Zhongtai Financial
International Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Zhongtai Securities Co.,
Ltd. (State-owned securities firm in the PRC), and the managing director of
Zhongtai International Wealth Management Ltd.

Professor Chui serves as an independent non-executive Director for a term of
three years commencing on 23 April 2020 and is subject to retirement from
office and re-election in accordance with the Bye-laws of the Company.

Mr. Chan Yung B8s, Jp (‘Mr. Chan”), aged 52, has been appointed as an
independent non-executive Director since November 2017. He is also the
chairman of the Nomination Committee of the Board and a member of the
Audit Committee and the Remuneration Committee of the Board. Mr. Chan
obtained a Bachelor’s Degree from The City University of Hong Kong, a
Post-graduate Diploma of Politics and Public Administration from Tsinghua
University and a Master’s Degree in Law and Public Affairs from The Chinese
University of Hong Kong. He was appointed as a Justice of Peace by the
HKSAR Government in 2011 and awarded Bronze Bauhinia Star in 2014.

Mr. Chan is currently an independent non-executive director of Wang On
Group Limited (stock code: 1222), whose shares are listed on the Main Board
of the Stock Exchange.

Mr. Chan is a registered social worker and the chairman of New Territories
Association of Societies. He has also been a director of New Territories
Association of Societies (Community Services) Foundation since 2002.
Mr. Chan has various public appointments including Hong Kong Deputy to the
13th National People’s Congress of the PRC and a member of the Legislative
Council. Mr. Chan is also a vice-chairman of Democratic Alliance for the
Betterment and Progress of Hong Kong.

Mr. Chan serves as an independent non-executive Director for a term of three

years commencing on 24 November 2020 and is subject to retirement from
office and re-election in accordance with the Bye-laws of the Company.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Cheng Hong Kei (‘Mr. Cheng”), aged 67, has been appointed as
an independent non-executive Director since November 2017. He is also
the chairman of the Audit Committee of the Board and a member of the
Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee of the Board. He
studied accountancy in Hong Kong Polytechnic (now known as The Hong
Kong Polytechnic University) and is a fellow member of the Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants and the Taxation Institute of Hong Kong. Mr.
Cheng is a co-founding director of Cheng & Cheng Limited and had worked as
an assessor for the Hong Kong Inland Revenue Department for 12 years. He
has over 35 years of experience in accounting and taxation.

Mr. Cheng is currently an independent non-executive director of Great China
Properties Holdings Limited (stock code: 21) and China Apex Group Limited
(previously known as KEE Holdings Company Limited) (stock code: 2011),
whose shares are both listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. He
is an independent non-executive director of South China Assets Holdings
Limited (stock code: 8155) until 1 April 2022, whose shares are no longer
listed on GEM with effect from 7 March 2022.

Mr. Cheng serves as an independent non-executive Director for a term of three
years commencing on 24 November 2020 and is subject to retirement from
office and re-election in accordance with the Bye-laws of the Company.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EXEHS

The Directors are pleased to present their report together with the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the Year.

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 30 July 2001 and
continued in Bermuda with limited liability on 9 January 2014 (Bermuda time).
Its shares have been listed on GEM since 31 December 2001. The head office
and principal place of business of the Company in Hong Kong is at Room
1204-5, 12/F., Centre Point, 181-185 Gloucester Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company while the Group is
principally engaged in (1) research, development and distribution of PC
performance software, anti-virus software, mobile phone applications and
toolbar advertisements; (2) the operation of a business-to-customer online
sales platform, and the business-to-business product trading; (3) securities
investment; and (4) provision of corporate management solutions and I.T.
contract services during the Year. The principal activities of the subsidiaries of
the Company are set out in note 24 to the consolidated financial statements
contained in this report.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS
Results of the Group for the Year and the state of affairs of the Group and the
Company as at 31 December 2021 are set out in the consolidated financial

statements on pages 77 to 202 of this report.

The Directors do not recommend any payment of a final dividend for the Year
(2020: Nil).
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

BUSINESS REVIEW

A fair review of the business of the Group during the Year, particulars of
important events affecting the Group during the Year, an analysis of the
Group’s performance using financial key performance indicators, and an
indication of likely future developments in the Group’s business are provided
in the sections headed “Chairman’s Statement” and “Management Discussion
and Analysis” and note 11 to the consolidated financial statements in this
report. Description of the principal risks and uncertainties faced by the
Group can be found throughout this report, particularly in the section headed
“Management Discussion and Analysis — Risk Factors” of this report. Also,
the financial risk management of the Company can be found in note 6 to the
consolidated financial statements. These discussions form part of this report
of the Directors. In addition, discussions on the Group’s environmental policies
and performance, the Group’s compliance with relevant laws and regulations
and the Group’s relationships with its key stakeholders are also provided in the
following sub-sections of this report of the Directors.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

An analysis of the segment results and geographical locations of operations
of the Group for the Year is set out in note 11 to the consolidated financial
statements.

DONATIONS

Donations by the Group for charitable and other purposes amounted to
HK$100,000 for the Year (2020: HK$100,000).

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS
Share Options

Save for the share option scheme adopted by the Company on 15 June 2017,
details of which are set out in note 38 to the consolidated financial statements
and the section headed “Share Option Scheme” of this report of the Directors,
there was no equity-linked agreement entered into by the Company during the
Year or subsisting at the end of the Year. The disclosure in the aforementioned
sections of this report forms part of this report of the Directors.

SUBSIDIARIES

Details of the Company’s principal subsidiaries as at 31 December 2021 are
set out in note 24 to the consolidated financial statements.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EXEHS

RESERVES
Details of the movements in the reserves of the Group and the Company
during the Year are set out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity

on pages 81 to 82 of this report and note 36 to the consolidated financial
statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES/DEFICIT

As at 31 December 2021, the deficit of the Company was approximately
HK$460,889,000 (2020: deficit of approximately HK$459,098,000).
PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed
any of the Company’s listed securities during the Year.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS
There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s Bye-laws,

or the laws of the Bermuda, which would oblige the Company to offer new
shares on a pro rata basis to the Shareholders.

AMOUNT DUE FROM/TO DIRECTOR(S)

Except for the director’s fee payable, there is no amount due to a Director nor
loans from a Director as at 31 December 2021.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The percentages of the Group’s total revenue for the Year attributable to the
Group’s major customers are as follows:

Revenue
= the largest customer: 3.18%

- five largest customers in aggregate: 13.69%
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

The percentages of Group’s purchases for the Year attributable to the Group’s
major suppliers are as follows:

Purchases

- the largest supplier: 35.11%

- five largest suppliers in aggregate: 77.46%

As far as the Directors are aware, none of the Directors, their close associates
or any Shareholder (which, to the knowledge of the Directors, owned more
than 5% of the Company’s issued shares) has any interest in any of the
Group'’s five largest customers or suppliers.

BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS

Details of bank and other borrowings of the Group are set out in note 30 to the
consolidated financial statements.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICY AND PERFORMANCE

The Group recognises the importance of maintaining environmental
sustainability in its daily operations and acts in all material respects in
compliance with the laws and regulations relating to environmental protection
and pollutant control, such as the Water Pollution Control Ordinance (Chapter
358 of the Laws of Hong Kong), the Air Pollution Control Ordinance (Chapter
311 of the Laws of Hong Kong) and the Waste Disposal Ordinance (Chapter
354 of the Laws of Hong Kong). The Group is a service-oriented enterprise
mainly with office operations, therefore its daily business does not generate
material direct emission of greenhouse gases, industrial pollutants, sewage
and hazardous waste. Nevertheless, the Group pays high attention to
environmental protection in order to become a green corporation.

The Group is committed to environment protection and sustainable
development through promoting and adopting green practices in its
business activities. Initiatives within the Group include, but not limited to,
waste reduction by double-sided printing and separating recyclable paper,
green procurement by avoiding single-use disposable items and using
office equipment with Energy Label issued by the Electrical and Mechanical
Services Department, and energy reduction by switching off idle electronic
appliances. The Group will continuously review its green practices to integrate
environmental, health and safety management and compliance considerations
into its operational processes. By promoting green awareness amongst
and maintaining dialogue with employees and business partners, the Group
is determined to promote environmental protection in the daily business
operations and establish a sustainable working environment.
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An Environmental, Social and Governance (“ESG”) Report of the Company
in compliance with the provisions set out in the ESG Reporting Guide in
Appendix 20 to the GEM Listing Rules will be published no later than five
months after the end of the financial year.

RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES, SUPPLIERS AND
CUSTOMERS

The Group understands that employees are valuable assets. The Group
provides competitive remuneration package to attract and motivate its
employees. The Group regularly reviews the remuneration package of
employees and makes necessary adjustments to conform with the market
standard.

The Group’s business is built on a customer-oriented culture. The Group also
understands that it is important to maintain good relationship with its suppliers
and customers to fulfil its short-term and long-term goals. To maintain its
market competitiveness within the industry, the Group aims at delivering
services of constantly high standards of quality to its customers. During the
Year, there was no material and significant dispute between the Group and its
suppliers and/or customers.

In extending and/or granting credit terms to customers, the Group will carefully
assess creditworthiness and financial standing of each individual customer.
Management will also closely monitor all outstanding debts and review their
collectability periodically.

COMPLIANCE WITH RELEVANT LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

Data privacy has become a critical issue for online sales business in the
world. In relation to the Software Business and the B2C Online Sales Platform
and B2B Product Trading Business, the Group has paid close attention to
confidentiality of personal data and privacy of its customers. Under the daily
operation of the Software Business and the B2C Online Sales Platform and
B2B Product Trading Business, it is inevitable to deal with enormous amount
of customers’ and potential customers’ information during the process of
online transactions. It is of significant importance for the Group to handle their
data with care so as to comply with the laws and regulations relating to data
privacy. Employees are required to fully abide by the provisions stipulated
when handling customers’ data and they are prohibited from any unauthorised
copying, dissemination or disclosure of confidential information, including
customers’ identities and transaction records.

During the Year, the Company was not aware of any material non-compliance

with any relevant laws and regulations that posed a significant impact on the
Group.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

The outbreak of the COVID-19 pandemic is impacting global economic
markets. The Directors continue to monitor the situation closely and
have considered the impacts of COVID-19 on the Group’s business and
financial performance. However, the situation is continually evolving and the
consequences are therefore inevitably uncertain.

FIVE YEARS FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the published results and assets, liabilities and non-controlling
interests of the Group for the last five financial years, as extracted from the
audited financial statements and re-presented as appropriate, is set out on
page 203 of this report. This summary does not form part of the audited
financial statements.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the Year, related party transactions in relation to the transactions with
key management personnel who are Directors in note 45 to the consolidated
financial statements fell under the definition of “connected transactions” and
they were fully exempt under Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules.

The Directors confirmed that the Company has complied with the disclosure
requirements in accordance with Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules.

During the Year, the Company has not entered into any connected
transactions that are subject to the reporting and announcement requirements
under Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules.
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COMPETING INTEREST

Mr. Wong Jing Shong (“Mr. Wong”), an executive Director and the Chairman
of the Board and the controlling Shareholder, has been a director of each
of EPRO Systems (HK) Limited (“EPRO HK”), EPRO Systems (China)
Limited, EPRO Technology Limited and EPRO Limited since July 2017, the
chief executive officer of EPRO HK since January 2018, all of which were
wholly-owned subsidiaries of CONCORD-LINKED LIMITED (i8R E R A
B]) (“CONCORD") (abovementioned subsidiaries, together with CONCORD,
the “CONCORD Group”). Mr. Wong has been further employed as (i) the
chief executive officer of the CONCORD Group; and (i) an executive director
of EPRO HK for a term of three years since May 2019. He has also been
appointed as a director of CONCORD. As at 31 December 2021, CONCORD
was wholly owned by Mr. Wong. The CONCORD Group is principally engaged
in the provision of professional I.T. contract and maintenance services.

Mr. Zhang Long, a former executive Director and Chief Executive Officer who
resigned on 8 February 2021, has also been a director of each of EPRO HK,
EPRO Systems (China) Limited, EPRO Technology Limited and EPRO Limited
since 2017.

The CONCORD Group may compete with the Corporate Management
Solutions and I.T. Contract Services Business undertaken by the Group in
Hong Kong and overseas.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors (including any person who
at any time during the Year was a Director), controlling Shareholder, nor their
respective close associates (as defined under the GEM Listing Rules) had any
interest in a business, apart from the business of the Group, which competes
or is likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with the business of the
Group during the Year.
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DIRECTORS

The changes of the Directors during the Year and up to the date of this annual

report were:

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

e

Appointed on
RUTHIEZE

EFEHS

RAEFEREERFRAR EFEHNT :

Resigned on
T B EARHE

Executive Directors
Mr. Wong Jing Shong (Chairman)

Mr. Zhang Long (Note)

Mr. Lau Siu Cheong (Chief
Executive Officer) (Note)

Independent Non-executive Directors
Professor Chui Tsan Kit

Mr. Chan Yung

Mr. Cheng Hong Kei

Note:

commitments which require more of his time. Mr. Lau Siu Cheong was
appointed as an executive Director and the Chief Executive Officer with effect

from 8 February 2021.

In accordance with the Company’s Bye-laws, any Director appointed by the
Board to fill a casual vacancy on or as an addition to the existing Board shall
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Mr. Zhang Long resigned as an executive Director and the Chief Executive MisE -
Officer with effect from 8 February 2021 due to his other business

be subject to re-election by the Shareholders after appointment.

29 October 2018
—_E-N\F+HBZ+ANH
4 April 2019
—F-hFHEAMA

8 February 2021
“E-—FZANH

23 April 2015
—_E-RFMB-+=H
24 November 2017
—_E—tHF+—AZ+WmA
24 November 2017
—_E—tHF+—AZ+WmA
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Pursuant to Bye-law 84 of the Company’s Bye-laws, at each annual general
meeting, one-third of the Directors for the time being (or, if their number is not
a multiple of three, the number nearest to but not less than one-third) shall
retire from office by rotation provided that every Director shall be subject to
retiremnent at least once every three years. The retiring Directors shall be eligible
for re-election.

Pursuant to Bye-law 84 of the Company’s Bye-laws, the Directors to retire by
rotation shall include (so far as necessary to ascertain the number of Directors
to retire by rotation) any Director who wishes to retire and not to offer himself
for re-election. Any further Directors so to retire shall be those of the other
Directors subject to retirement by rotation who have been longest in office
since their last re-election or appointment and so that as between persons
who became or were last re-elected Directors on the same day those to retire
shall (unless they otherwise agree among themselves) be determined by lot.

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S
BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the Directors and the senior management of the
Company are set out on pages 52 to 56 of this report.

EMOLUMENTS OF DIRECTORS AND FIVE HIGHEST
PAID INDIVIDUALS

Details of the emoluments of the Directors and the five highest paid individuals
of the Group are set out in notes 16 and 15 to the consolidated financial
statements respectively.

INDEPENDENCE OF INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

The Company confirmed that it has received an annual confirmation of
independence from each of the existing independent non-executive Directors
pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules and all existing independent
non-executive Directors are considered to be independent by the Company.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

All of the Directors are subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at the
annual general meeting of the Company in accordance with the Company’s
Bye-laws and the GEM Listing Rules.

The emoluments of the executive Directors and independent non-executive
Directors are determined with reference to their respective background,
experience, duties and responsibilities with the Group and the prevailing
market conditions.

No Director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual general
meeting has a service contract which is not determinable by the Company or
any of its subsidiaries within one year without payment of compensation, other
than statutory compensation.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole or
any substantial part of the business of the Group were entered into or existed
during the Year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS OR
ARRANGEMENTS

None of the Directors (including any person who at any time during the Year
was a Director) or an entity connected with a Director is or was materially
interested, whether directly or indirectly, in any transaction, arrangement
or contract of significance to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries
was a party which was subsisting during or at the end of the Year, nor did
any Director have direct or indirect interests in any assets which have been
acquired or disposed of by or leased to, or are proposed to be acquired or
disposed of by or leased to, any member of the Group at the end of the Year
or at any time during the Year.

CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE WITH CONTROLLING
SHAREHOLDER

There was () no contract of significance was entered into by and/or
subsisted between the Company or any of its subsidiaries with the controlling
shareholder or any of his/its subsidiaries during the Year; and (i) no contract
of significance in relation to the provision of services by the controlling
shareholder or any of his subsidiaries to the Group was entered into and/or
subsisted during the Year.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS

OR SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES OR DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR ANY
ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

As at 31 December 2021, the interests or short positions of the Directors
and the chief executive of the Company in the shares, underlying shares or
debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFO) as recorded in the register required to be kept
under section 352 of the SFO, or otherwise notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to the required standard of dealings by Directors as
referred to in Rule 5.46 of the GEM Listing Rules, were as follows:

Long positions in the ordinary shares (“Shares”) of the Company
and underlying Shares

EEREEITHASREA B SR
B9BR(7 ~ HERARR D SR SF R K A

AR —F+A=+—RH EERERAERSTH
ABRARBHEEMBE AR (EXRBSRBERK
BIEEXVER) BB 7 BRAR M I ESF P A RLEHEN
RIEESF AR EBFREFEZE MR TR
BGEM EHRAE6. 46IEPIEF ETEENRER
HERBTNE R AT R mE AT

RAEREEBER (TRRH)) REEROBEE

Approximate
percentage of
the total issued

Number of share capital

Name of Director Capacity Shares interested of the Company
HEABRERHEHT

ERps 513 BEEEDZNROEE RABABE DL
(Note 1) (Note 2)

(3D (My5E2)

Wong Jing Shong Beneficial owner 333,336,177 (L) 75.0%

BmBEAA

=IEE
Notes:
1. “L” denotes a long position.

2. The total number of 444,448,237 Shares in issue as at 31 December 2021 has
been used for the calculation of the approximate percentage.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2021, none of the Directors nor
chief executive of the Company had or was deemed to have any interests
or short positions in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the
Company or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV
of the SFO) as recorded in the register required to be kept under section 352
of the SFO, or otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the required standard of dealings by Directors as referred to in
Rule 5.46 of the GEM Listing Rules.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S RIGHTS TO
ACQUIRE SHARES OR DEBT SECURITIES

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Share Option Scheme” in this report
of the Directors, at no time during the Year or at the end of the Year was the
Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to enable the
Directors and the chief executive, their respective spouses or children under
the age of 18 to acquire benefits by means of acquisition of shares in or
debentures of the Company or any other body corporate.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

A share option scheme (“Share Option Scheme”) was approved by the
Shareholders in the annual general meeting of the Company on 13 June 2017
and adopted on 15 June 2017.

The Share Option Scheme is to enable the Company to grant options to the
eligible participants as incentives or rewards for their contribution to the Group
and/or to enable the Group to recruit and retain high-calibre employees and
attract human resources that are valuable to the Group and any entities in
which any member of the Group holds equity interest.

The Directors may subject to the provisions of the Share Option Scheme and
the GEM Listing Rules, invite any person belonging to any of the following
classes of eligible participants, to take up share options to subscribe for
Shares: (a) any eligible employee (whether full time or part time, including any
executive Director but excluding any non-executive Director) of the Company,
any of its subsidiaries or any entity in which any member of the Group holds
any equity interest (“invested entity”); (b) any non-executive Director (including
independent non-executive Directors) of the Company, any of its subsidiaries
or any invested entity; and (c) any adviser (professional or otherwise) or
consultant to any area of business or business development of any member of
the Group or any invested entity.

The Share Option Scheme shall continue in force for a period of 10 years
commencing on its adoption date. The Share Option Scheme will remain in
force until 15 June 2027 and after such date no further options shall be offered
but the provisions of the Share Option Scheme shall remain in full force and
effect to the extent necessary to give effect to the exercise of any options
granted before its expiry or termination but not yet exercised.
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The maximum number of Shares which may be allotted and issued upon
exercise of all options to be granted at any time under the Share Option
Scheme and any other share option schemes of the Group must not in
aggregate exceed 10% of the issued Shares on the date of Shareholders’
approval of the Share Option Scheme or the date of Shareholders’ approval
of a refreshment of such limit in a general meeting of the Company (‘General
Scheme Limit”). Previously granted options which may be outstanding,
cancelled, lapsed or exercised will not be counted for the purpose of
calculating the General Scheme Limit.

The limit on the number of Shares which may be allotted and issued upon
exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised under the
Share Option Scheme and any other share option schemes of the Group must
not in aggregate exceed 30% of the total Shares in issue from time to time.

Each grant of options under the Share Option Scheme to any Director, chief
executive of the Company or substantial Shareholder (as defined in the GEM
Listing Rules) or any of their respective associates must be approved by
independent non-executive Directors (excluding independent non-executive
Director who or whose associate is the proposed grantee). Where any grant of
options to a substantial Shareholder (as defined in the GEM Listing Rules) or
an independent non-executive Director, or any of their respective associates,
would result in the Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of all options
already granted and to be granted (including options exercised, cancelled and
outstanding) to such person in the 12-month period up to and including the
date of such grant: (a) representing in aggregate over 0.1% of the Shares in
issue; and (b) having an aggregate value, based on the closing price of the
Shares as at the date of each grant, in excess of HK$5,000,000, such further
grant of options must be approved by the Shareholders in general meeting.

Upon acceptance of an option granted under the Share Option Scheme, the
eligible participant shall pay HK$1.00 to the Company as consideration for the
grant. Such option will be offered for acceptance within such time specified in
the offer which shall not be later than 21 days from the date on which the offer
is made.

The total number of Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of the
options granted under the Share Option Scheme and any other share option
schemes of the Group (including exercised and outstanding options) to each
participant in any 12-month period shall not exceed 1% of the Shares in issue.
The exercise price for the options granted under the Share Option Scheme
shall be determined at the discretion of the Board but in any event shall be
at least the highest of: (i) the closing price of the Shares as stated in the daily
quotations sheet of the Stock Exchange on the date of grant, which must
be a business day; (i) the average closing price of the Shares as stated in
the daily quotations sheets of the Stock Exchange for the five business days
immediately preceding the date of grant; and (i) the nominal value of the
Share.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

During the Year and as at the date of this report, there was no outstanding
share option under the Share Option Scheme.

As at 31 December 2021 and at the date of this report, the total number of
Shares available for issue under the Share Option Scheme is 44,444,823,
representing approximately 10% of the issued share capital of the Company as
at the date of this report.

INTERESTS DISCLOSEABLE UNDER THE SFO AND
SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS AND OTHER PERSONS
INTEREST IN SECURITIES

Substantial Shareholders

Save for the interest in Shares held by Mr. Wong Jing Shong, an executive
Director and the Chairman of the Board, as disclosed in the section
headed “Directors’ and chief executive’s interests or short positions in the
shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any associated
corporations” in this report of the Directors, the Directors were not aware of
any other person (other than Directors or the chief executive of the Company)
who, as at 31 December 2021, had, or was deemed or taken to have interests
or short positions in the Shares or underlying Shares which would fall to be
disclosed to the Company and the Stock Exchange under the provisions of
Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or, which were recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Subject to the applicable laws, every Director shall be entitled to be
indemnified out of the assets and profits of the Company from and against
all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses which he/
she may sustain or incur in the execution of his/her duties or otherwise in
relation thereto pursuant to the Bye-laws of the Company. The Company has
maintained appropriate directors’ and officers’ liability insurance coverage for
the Directors and officers of the Group. The relevant provisions in the Bye-laws
of the Company and the directors’ and officers’ liability insurance are currently
in force and were in force throughout the Year.

RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEMES

Details of the Group’s retirement benefits schemes in operation for the Year are
set out in note 39 to the consolidated financial statements.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company established the audit committee of the Board (“Audit
Committee”) with written terms of reference in accordance with Rules 5.28
to 5.33 of the GEM Listing Rules. The Audit Committee’s principal duties are
to review and supervise the financial reporting process, risk management
and internal control procedures of the Group. The Audit Committee currently
comprises three independent non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. Cheng
Hong Kei (the chairman of the Audit Committee), Mr. Chan Yung and Professor
Chui Tsan Kit. The Audit Committee holds a meeting at least quarterly each
year. The Company’s financial statements for the Year have been reviewed
and discussed by the Audit Committee before any disclosure and release of
information.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information publicly available to the Company and within the
knowledge of the Directors, as at the latest practicable date prior to the issue
of this report, the Company has maintained the prescribed public float under
the GEM Listing Rules.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements have been audited by RSM Hong Kong,
who will retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment.

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD

Wong Jing Shong
Chairman and Executive Director

24 March 2022
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF GET HOLDINGS LIMITED

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands and continued in Bermuda with limited
liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of GET Holdings
Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out on pages
77 to 202, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position
as at 31 December 2021, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss,
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income,
consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of
cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view
of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2021,
and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows
for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (the “HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in compliance
with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing
(“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those standards
are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfiled our other ethical responsibilities
in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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BIZHETHRS

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were

RERER

RIERPINE XN BRELFREARMELEIE

of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the ~ ARG BHRETREENEE KM EBZEREGS

current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of
the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion
thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. We
have determined the “Impairment assessment of goodwill” to be the key audit
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matter and how our audit addressed this key audit matter is set out below:

Key Audit Matter
HREZER

Impairment assessment of goodwill

R AT

Refer to note 22 to the consolidated financial statements.
BRGRE M BIRRW 220

As at 31 December 2021, the Group had goodwill with carrying
value of approximately HK$60,525,000, arising from the acquisition
of Boom Max International Limited and its subsidiaries (“Boom Max
Group”) and Wafer Systems (Hong Kong) Limited (“Wafer HK”).
Management has allocated goodwill to individual cash-generating
units (“CGUs”"). Goodwill is required to be tested for impairment on
an annual basis.

N2 —F+-"FB=+—H> SBHEERWEBoom Max
International Limited & EKiBAF (TBoom Max £E ) K&
Bnu (BB BRQE ((HEEE) EA2EEREENS
60,525,000 T BB EREENEEENIREELET (1R
SELERT) BEASEETRENR-

The recoverable amounts of the CGUs were determined based
on either fair value less cost of disposal or value in use models
which require significant estimates concerning future cash flows,
and associated discount rates and growth rates assumptions,
which are based on management’s expectations of future business
performance and prospects. In order to support the management’s
estimation, the Group engaged an independent professional valuer
to assist in the valuation of the goodwill of the CGUs at the end of
the reporting period.

REEHBETHTWEZEDERRAFEEMEERATNERS
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In respect of the goodwill arising from the Boom Max Group,
impairment loss of approximately HK$9,000,000 was made during
the year to reduce the CGU’s carrying amount to its recoverable
amount.

FBoom MaxEEEEXZBEHLEMs ERNAEETRBEREY
9,000,000/8 T U RIREE HETREEEE W58 -
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How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BB RN EIEFREZEE

We evaluated the independent valuer's competence, capabilities
and objectivity.

LB AEMNERE  SEN KRB -

We used our in-house valuation specialists to assess the integrity
of the models used and the appropriateness of the discount
rates, long-term growth rates, other information, assumptions
and estimates for the impairment assessment determined by
management.
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We agreed inputs to the models to supporting evidence including
the latest approved 5-year budgets and considered the accuracy of
management’s previous budgets.
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We assessed the reasonableness of the key assumptions made by
management in preparing the cash flow forecasts in light of historical
results and the current operating environment.

ENBEXERENBERE AL EEETRRRETRE
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We carried out sensitivity analysis to assess the impact of
reasonable possible changes in key assumptions and discount
rates.
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We also considered the adequacy of the Group’s disclosures in
respect of the impairment testing of goodwill.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors are responsible for the Other Information. The Other Information
comprises all of the information included in the annual report other than the
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

QOur opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the Other
Information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the Other Information and, in doing so, consider
whether the Other Information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this Other Information, we are required to report that fact. We
have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND
THOSE CHARGE WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued
by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors determine is
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern,
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the
Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee assists the directors in discharging their responsibilities
for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinion. We report our opinion solely to you, as a body, in
accordance with section 90 of the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda and for
no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability
to any other person for the contents of this report.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BIZHETHRS

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error
and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design
and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain
audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or
the override of internal control.

. Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances,
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of
the Group’s internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made
by the directors.

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’'s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to
cease to continue as a going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters,
the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings,
including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during
our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and
to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable,
actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine
those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit
matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely
rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated
in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would
reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s
report is Mr. Yam Tak Fai, Ronald.

RSM Hong Kong

Certified Public Accountant
29th Floor, Lee Garden Two,
28 Yun Ping Road,
Causeway Bay,

Hong Kong

24 March 2022
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
MERmR

For the year ended 31 December 2021 BE_ T —F1+_RA=+—HILEE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) BTN
2021 2020
—E-—F 2T HF
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
B 5 FHET FET
Revenue KA 8 114,535 231,404
Cost of sales tHE A (39,335) (159,895)
Gross profit EF 75,200 71,509
Other income EHMA 9 1,300 2,379
Other gains and losses, net Hi s K518 0 558 10 (14,954) (24,086)
Impairment losses on trade and B 5 KREMERRIBRERE
other receivables (2,615) (9,359)
Selling and administrative expenses HERITHMAZ (65,448) (68,885)
Loss from operations KEES1E (6,517) (28,442)
Finance costs BB A 12 (235) (98)
Loss before tax PRI ATESIE 13 (6,752) (28,540)
Income tax expense FriStRBEsZ 14 (4,177) (3,870)
Loss for the year TEERE (10,929) (32,410)
Attributable to: WTFALREM :
Owners of the Company KABEB A (18,197) (39,286)
Non-controlling interests JEFE R e 2R 7,268 6,876
(10,929) (32,410)
Loss per share (HK cents) FHRES1E GBIl 18
Basic f=%IN (4.09) (8.84)
Diluted #E (4.09) (8.84)

77 BRERARAE 2021FH



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
RAHnkEMEERTR

For the year ended 31 December 2021 BHE_ZE_—F+_/A=1+—HIFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) WETTIIN
2021 2020
B TZTZF
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
B 5E THET FHET
Loss for the year TEERE (10,929) (32,410)
Other comprehensive income: HthZ2mEas - 19
Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss: B E# P 4EE B AIES -
Exchange differences on translation ITEEINTB AT
of financial statements of overseas MBRREENERERE
subsidiaries (16) (74)
ltems that will not be reclassified to T EEM P EERmIVER &

profit or loss:
Fair value changes of equity instruments at H@EMEEmEU A FEEEYER

fair value through other comprehensive HRATENAFBEES

income (FVTOCI) (68) 95
Other comprehensive income mEEHMEEWE  NRRE

for the year, net of tax (84) 21
Total comprehensive income for the year ZAFEE R EURHELREE (11,013) (32,389)
Attributable to: LUTFALRE :

Owners of the Company KABEB A (18,281) (39,265)

Non-controlling interests JEPERG RS 7,268 6,876

(11,013) (32,389)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

mEMBIRRAR

At 31 December 2021

APt =R={—F

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) BTN
2021 2020
—E_—F TETEEF
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
B 5 FAET FET
Non-current assets ERENEE
Property, plant and equipment ME- -BERZE 20 759 1,168
Right-of-use assets FREEE 21 1,166 1,684
Goodwill S 22 60,525 69,525
Intangible assets EBREE 23 102,852 90,762
Financial assets at FVTOCI FEREMEEWEURFEE
FIERNEREE 25 1,067 1,135
166,369 164,274
Current assets RENEE
Inventories =75 26 1,544 187
Trade and other receivables 85 Kk EAMEWRIE 27 27,994 29,891
Financial assets at fair value through EBBmUATEEYERSN
profit or loss (FVTPL) EHEE 28 30,488 12,310
Tax recoverable AU EIIRIE 634 1,199
Pledged bank deposits BERIRITER 30 630 630
Cash and cash equivalents REMIREEEY 30 81,852 118,174
143,142 162,391
Current liabilities mEaE
Trade and other payables B o Rk EMEMRIE 31 9,223 11,674
Contract liabilities BHEaE 29 1,871 1,957
Borrowings EES 32 1,267 =
Lease liabilities HEaR& 33 829 1,214
Current tax liabilities ERREBESRE 26,483 27,364
39,673 42,209
Net current assets RBEERE 103,469 120,182
Total assets less current liabilities BELERTBAE 269,838 284,456
Non-current liabilities EREEE
Lease liabilities HEar 33 389 644
Deferred tax liabilties EERIES & 34(a) 16,971 14,968
17,360 15,612
NET ASSETS BERE 252,478 268,844

BRERAMAT 2021FH




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

At 31 December 2021

mEMBIRRAR

A—R=—t=R=1—¢

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) WETTIIN
2021 2020
—E_—F TETEE
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
B 5 FAET FET

Capital and reserves B K #E

Share capital &N 35 4,444 4,444
Reserves e 37 207,862 226,143
Equity attributable to owners of the Company ZSA BB AFE(GER 212,306 230,587
Non-controlling interests JEVERR M T 40,172 38,257
TOTAL EQUITY RS 252,478 268,344

Approved by the Board of Directors on 24 March 2022 and are signed on its

behalf by:

KEFER T "F-_RA"+NEHETHNUATE
EAREE

Wong Jing Shong
HiFE
Director

EFE

Lau Siu Cheong
EPI=
Director

EFE
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
BEERRHR

For the year ended 31 December 2021
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

HE_Z

CLETAIm)

Attributable to owners of the Company

=B t+—AILEE

NG N
Investment Non-
Share Share  Contributed ~ Exchange  revaluation Accumulated controlling Total
capital premium surplus reserve reserve losses Total interests equity
REEf E30
s ROEE  BAES ERGE fE  ZubR it Eq g
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$ 000
Tin Thn Tin Thn Tin Thn Thn TEL ThEn
At 1 January 2020 RZZZEE-F-H 4444 517,181 992,154 21) (2337)  (1,041,569) 269,852 36,724 306,576
Loss for the year rEEFA = = = = - (39,286) (39,286) 6,876 (32,410)
Other comprehensive income Efr2EkE - - = 74 9% = 2 5 2
Total comprehensive income rEERANRAE
for the year - - - (74) % (39,286) (39,265) 6,876 (32,389)
Dividends paid to non-controling Bk ERERNRE
interests (note 24) (F5to4) - - - - - - - (5,343 (5343
Changes in equity for the year REERGEY - - - - - - - (5,343) (5,343)
At 31 December 2020 RIEZZE
+ZA=+-H 4,444 517,181 992,154 %) (2242 (1,80859) 230,587 38,207 268,844
BRERARAT 202158



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

For the year ended 31 December 2021
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

WETTIIN

Attributable to owners of the Company

nv'F

GEmEHR

BE" T —Ft_RA=1T—HLFE

NG PN
Investment Non-
Share Share  Contributed ~ Exchange  revaluation Accumulated controlling Total
capital premium surplus reserve reserve losses Total interests equity
REEf E30
s ROEE  BAES ERGE fE  ZubR it Eq g
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$ 000
Tin Thn Tin Thn Tin Thn TEn TEL ThEn
At 1 January 2021 RZZZ-F-F-H 4444 517,181 992,154 %) (2242 (1,280859) 230,587 38,257 268,844
Loss for the year FEEFR - - - - - (18,197) (18,197) 7268 (10929)
Other comprehensive income Efr2EkE - - - (16) 68) = 84) = (84)
Total comprehensive income rEERANRAE
for the year - - - (16) 68) (18,197) (18,281) 7,268 (11,013)
Dividends paid to non-controling Bk ERERNRE
interests (note 24) (Fizk24) - - - - - - - (5,353) (5,359
Changes in equity for the year REERGEY - - - - - - - (5,353) (5,353)
At 31 December 2021 RIEZ-F
+ZA=+-H 4444 517,181 992,154 (111) 2310  (1,209,052) 212,306 40,172 252,478
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

mEBRERE

For the year ended 31 December 2021 BE_ T —F1+_RA=+—HILEE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) BTN
2021 2020
T —&F —EBIEF
Note HK$’000 HK$’'000
M 5 FHET FAET
CASH FLOWS FROM KETHRER=E
OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Loss before tax FRIRAIES B (6,752) (28,540)
Adjustments for: KR .
Bank interest income IRITH B WA (160) (22)
Amortisation ey 33,371 27,901
Depreciation on property, ME- -BERRZEITE
plant and equipment 428 456
Depreciation on right-of-use assets EREEETE 1,463 1,682
Dividend income BEWA (419) -
Finance costs [E=Yn %N 235 98
Fair value loss on financial assets at FVTPL ~ #EiBiEx U A T EBEY RS R
BENRQFEEBE 6,151 9,079
Gain on termination of right-of-use assets KIEFRAESEZ Wm (100) =
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HE—BENBARNYE - (209)
Loss on disposal of HEZBEZUATEETRN
financial assets at FVTPL TREENEE - 3,042
Impairment loss on goodwill EERERE 9,000 11,300
Impairment loss on intangible assets B EERERBE - 425
Impairment loss on trade and 5 REMEWRRIE
other receivables HEEE 2,615 9,359
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

=
SEERERER
For the year ended 31 December 2021 HE_ZT_—SF1+_RA=+—HILEE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) WETTIIN
2021 2020
T —&F TZ2TZF
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
M 5 FHET FET
Operating profit before working EEESEHAINEERT
capital changes 45,832 35,471
(Increase)/decrease in inventories =& Em e (1,357) 207
(Increase)/decrease in trade B 5 R EMERRIE
and other receivables @#ghn) b (718) 45,055
Decrease in contract assets BHNEERD - 422
(Increase)/decrease in financial assets at FEBEmUATFEEYERN
FVTPL EREE (8 R (24,329) 7,205
Decrease in trade and other payables B 5 Rk EMEN IR (2,451) (6,330)
Decrease in contract liabilities sHa’‘ERD (86) (1,181)
Cash generated from operations REEFEMEBIRE 16,891 80,849
Income tax paid BIPTER (2,490) (2,035)
Interest on lease liabilities HEaEAE (126) (98)
Net cash generated from RS EBMSIREFRE
operating activities 14,275 78,716
CASH FLOWS FROM BRETHHRESRE
INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Bank interest received BUERITH R 160 22
Dividend income ISV ON 419 -
Expenditure on development projects BRIEEMNIH (45,461) (36,119)
Increase in pledged bank deposits BIRRIRITERE 0 - €
Net cash outflow arising from HE—FBWBABR
disposal of a subsidiary REMHFEE 40(a) = 97)
Purchase of property, plant and equipment BBV BB R&E (6) (1)
Net cash used in investing activities KRETHMERE$E (44,888) (36,198)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

= A, s =
FERERE
For the year ended 31 December 2021 BE"Z_—GFt+_A=1+—HIFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) BTN
2021 2020
T —&F 2T F
Note HK$’000 HK$’'000
B 5% FHET FHExT
CASH FLOWS FROM MEETHRERE
FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Interest paid [SENEESS (109) -
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests ENIEERERRKE (5,346) (2,672)
Principal elements of lease payments AENRBAEED (1,485) (2,288)
Borrowings raised SEEMEH; 1,267 -
Net cash used in financing activities MEEEFTARS R (5,673) (4,960)
NET (DECREASE)/INCREASE IN RERFELEY
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS GRi) /6 inie 8 (36,293) 37,558
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes ERFIREH & (29) (107)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT R—BA—BNRERREEEY
1 JANUARY 118,174 80,723
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT BW+ZB=+—BWHREXR
31 DECEMBER REEEY 81,852 118,174
ANALYSIS OF CASH AND RERREEEMIH
CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and cash equivalents REMIREEEY 30 81,852 118,174
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RS MR R 5T

HE_ T —Ft+_B=1—HIFE
WETTIIN

For the year ended 31 December 2021
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

GENERAL INFORMATION

GET Holdings Limited (the “Company”) was incorporated as an
exempted company with limited liability in the Cayman Islands on
30 July 2001 and continued in Bermuda on 9 January 2014. The
registered office of the Company is located at Clarendon House, 2
Church Street, Hamilton HM 11, Bermuda. The principal place of
business in Hong Kong is located at Room 1204-05, 12/F., Centre
Point, 181-185 Gloucester Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong.

The Company’s shares are listed on the GEM of The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The principal activity
of the Company is investment holding. The principal activities of its
subsidiaries (together with the Company collectively referred to as the
“Group”) are set out in note 24 to the consolidated financial statements.

In the opinion of the directors of the Company, Mr. Wong Jing Shong is
the ultimate controlling party of the Company.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in thousands of
units of Hong Kong dollars (HK$'000) unless otherwise stated. Hong
Kong dollars (“‘HK$") is the Company’s functional and the Group's
presentation currency.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with all applicable Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”). HKFRSs comprise Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (‘HKFRS”); Hong Kong Accounting
Standards (“HKAS”); and Interpretations. These consolidated financial
statements also comply with the applicable disclosure provisions of
the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange
and with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance (Cap. 622). Significant accounting policies adopted by the
Group are disclosed below.

The HKICPA has issued certain new and revised HKFRSs that are
first effective or available for early adoption for the current accounting
period of the Group. Note 3 provides information on any changes
in accounting policies resulting from initial application of these
developments to the extent that they are relevant to the Group for the
current and prior accounting periods reflected in these consolidated
financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4 A

17 O

S M R R 5E

For the year ended 31 December 2021
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

3.

ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

(@

Application of new and revised HKFRSs

The Group has applied following amendments to HKFRSs issued
by the HKICPA for the first time, which are mandatorily effective
for the annual period beginning on or after 1 January 2021 for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements:

Interest Rate Benchmark Reform
— Phrase 2

Amendments to HKFRS 9,
HKAS 39 and HKFRS 7,
HKFRS 4 and HKFRS 16

The amendments provide targeted reliefs from (i) accounting
for changes in the basis for determining contractual cash flows
of financial assets, financial liabilities and lease liabilities as
modifications, and (i) discontinuing hedge accounting when an
interest rate benchmark is replaced by an alternative benchmark
rate as a result of the reform of interbank offered rates (“IBOR
reform”).

The amendments do not have an impact on these financial
statements as the Group does not have contracts that are
indexed to benchmark interest rates which are subject to the
IBOR reform.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2021
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)

(b) New and revised HKFRSs in issue but not yet

effective

The Group has not early applied any new and revised HKFRSs
that have been issued but are not yet effective for the financial
year beginning 1 January 2021. These new and revised HKFRSs
include the following which may be relevant to the Group.

Amendments to HKFRS 16 COVID-19-

Related Rent Concessions

Amendments to HKFRS 3
Business Combination-Reference
to the Conceptual Framework
Amendments to HKAS 16 Property,
Plant and Equipment: Proceeds
before Intended Use

Amendments to HKAS 37 Onerous
Contracts — Cost of Fulfiling a
Contract

Annual Improvements to
HKFRSs 2018 — 2020 Cycle

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification
of Liabilities as Current or
Non-current

Effective for

accounting periods
beginning on or after

30 June 2021

1 January 2022

1 January 2022

1 January 2022

1 January 2022

1 January 2023
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2021
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

3.

ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)

(b)

New and revised HKFRSs in issue but not yet
effective (continued)

Effective for
accounting periods
beginning on or after

Amendments to HKAS 1 Presentation
of Financial Statements and HKFRS
Practice Statement 2 Making
Materiality Judgements — Disclosure
of Accounting Policies

1 January 2023

Amendments to HKAS 8 Accounting
Policies, Changes in Accounting

1 January 2023

Estimates and Errors — Definition of
Accounting Estimates

Amendments to HKAS 12 Income Taxes
— Deferred Tax Related to Assets
and Liabilities Arising from a Single
Transaction

1 January 2023

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of what
the impact of these amendments and new standards is expected
to be in the period of initial application. So far it has concluded
that the adoption of them is unlikely to have a significant impact
on the consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RS MR R 5T

HE_ T —Ft+_B=1—HIFE
WETTIIN

For the year ended 31 December 2021
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared under
the historical cost convention, unless mentioned otherwise in the
accounting policies below (e.g. certain financial instruments that are
measured at fair value).

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with HKFRS
requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires
management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the
Group’s accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree of
judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates
are significant to the consolidated financial statements are disclosed in
note 5.

The significant accounting policies applied in the preparation of these
consolidated financial statements are set out below.

(@) Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries made up to 31
December. Subsidiaries are entities over which the Group has
control. The Group controls an entity when it is exposed, or has
rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the entity and
has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the
entity. The Group has power over an entity when the Group has
existing rights that give it the current ability to direct the relevant
activities, i.e. activities that significantly affect the entity’s returns.

When assessing control, the Group considers its potential voting
rights as well as potential voting rights held by other parties.
A potential voting right is considered only if the holder has the
practical ability to exercise that right.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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S M R R 5E

For the year ended 31 December 2021
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

4,

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(a)

Consolidation (continued)

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which control is
transferred to the Group. They are de-consolidated from the date
the control ceases.

The gain or loss on the disposal of a subsidiary that results in
a loss of control represents the difference between (i) the fair
value of the consideration of the sale plus the fair value of any
investment retained in that subsidiary and (i) the Company’s
share of the net assets of that subsidiary plus any remaining
goodwill and any accumulated exchange reserve relating to that
subsidiary.

Intragroup transactions, balances and unrealised profits are
eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the
transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset
transferred. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been
changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies
adopted by the Group.

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in subsidiaries not
attributable, directly or indirectly, to the Company. Non-controlling
interests are presented in the consolidated statement of financial
position and consolidated statement of changes in equity within
equity. Non-controlling interests are presented in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income as an allocation of profit
or loss and total comprehensive income for the year between the
non-controlling shareholders and owners of the Company.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the Company and to
the non-controlling shareholders even if this results in the non-
controlling interests having a deficit balance.

Changes in the Company’s ownership interest in a subsidiary
that do not result in a loss of control are accounted for as equity
transactions (i.e. transactions with owners in their capacity
as owners). The carrying amounts of the controlling and non-
controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the changes in their
relative interests in the subsidiary. Any difference between the
amount by which the non-controlling interests are adjusted and
the fair value of the consideration paid or received is recognised
directly in equity and attributed to the owners of the Company.

In the Company’s statement of financial position, an investment
in a subsidiary is stated at cost less impairment loss, unless the
investment is classified as held for sale (or included in a disposal
group that is classified as held for sale).
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For the year ended 31 December 2021
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(b)

Business combination and goodwil

The acquisition method is used to account for the acquisition
of a subsidiary in a business combination. The consideration
transferred in a business combination is measured at the
acquisition-date fair value of the assets given, equity instruments
issued,
Acquisition-related costs are recognised as expenses in the

liabilities incurred and any contingent consideration.

periods in which the costs are incurred and the services are
received. Identifiable assets and liabilities of the subsidiary in the
acquisition are measured at their acquisition-date fair values.

The excess of the sum of the consideration transferred over the
Group’s share of the net fair value of the subsidiary’s identifiable
assets and liabilities is recorded as goodwill. Any excess of
the Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets
and liabilities over the sum of the consideration transferred is
recognised in consolidated profit or loss as a gain on bargain
purchase which is attributed to the Group.

In a business combination achieved in stages, the previously held
equity interest in the subsidiary is remeasured at its acquisition-
date fair value and the resulting gain or loss is recognised in
consolidated profit or loss. The fair value is added to the sum
of the consideration transferred in a business combination to
calculate the goodwill.

The non-controlling interests in the subsidiary are initially
measured at the non-controlling shareholders’ proportionate
share of the net fair value of the subsidiary’s identifiable assets
and liabilities at the acquisition date.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less
accumulated impairment losses. For the purpose of impairment
testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is allocated
to each of the cash-generating units (“CGUs”) or groups of CGUs
that is expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination.
Each unit or group of units to which the goodwill is allocated
represents the lowest level within the Group at which the goodwill
is monitored for internal management purposes. Goodwill is
monitored at the operating segment level. Goodwill impairment
reviews are undertaken annually, or more frequently if events or
changes in circumstances indicate a potential impairment. The
carrying value of the CGU containing the goodwill is compared to
the recoverable amount, which is the higher of value in use and
the fair value less costs of disposal. Any impairment is recognised
immediately as an expense and is not subsequently reversed.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R a MR 5T

For the year ended 31 December 2021
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(c) Foreign currency translation

)

(i)

Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of each of
the Group’s entities are measured using the currency of
the primary economic environment in which the entity
operates (the “functional currency”). The consolidated
financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars,
which is the Company’s functional and presentation
currency.

Transactions and balances in each entity’s financial
Statements

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into
the functional currency on initial recognition using the
exchange rates prevailing on the transaction dates.
Monetary assets and liabilities in foreign currencies are
translated at the exchange rates at the end of each
reporting period. Gains and losses resulting from this
translation policy are recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured in
terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated
using the foreign exchange rates ruling at the transaction
dates. The transaction date is the date on which the
company initially recognises such non-monetary assets or
liabilities.

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair value in
foreign currencies are translated using the exchange rates
at the dates when the fair values are determined.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2021
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(c) Foreign currency translation (continued)

(i)

(i)

Transactions and balances in each entity’s financial
statements (continued)

When a gain or loss on a non-monetary item is recognised
in other comprehensive income, any exchange component
of that gain or loss is recognised in other comprehensive
income. When a gain or loss on a non-monetary item is
recognised in profit or loss, any exchange component of
that gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss.

Translation on consolidation

The results and financial position of all the Group
entities that have a functional currency different from the
Company’s presentation currency are translated into the
Company’s presentation currency as follows:

- Assets and liabilities for each statement of financial
position presented are translated at the closing rate
at the date of that statement of financial position;

- Income and expenses are translated at average
exchange rates for the period (unless this average
is not a reasonable approximation of the cumulative
effect of the rates prevailing on the transaction
dates, in which case income and expenses are
translated at the exchange rates on the transaction
dates); and

- All resulting exchange differences are recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated in
the exchange reserve.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the
translation of monetary items that form part of the net
investment in foreign entities are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the exchange
reserve. When a foreign operation is sold, such exchange
differences are reclassified to consolidated profit or loss as
part of the gain or loss on disposal.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the
acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets and
liabilities of the foreign entity and translated at the closing
rate.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

4,

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(d)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position at cost, less subsequent
accumulated depreciation and subsequent accumulated
impairment losses, if any.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or
recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is
probable that future economic benefits associated with the item
will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured
reliably. All other repairs and maintenance are recognised in profit
or loss during the period in which they are incurred.

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is calculated at
rates sufficient to write off their cost less their residual values over
the estimated useful lives on a straight-line basis. The principal
annual rates are as follows:

Leasehold improvements 5 years or over the lease term, if shorter

Office equipment 3-5 years
Furniture and fixtures 3-5 years
Computer hardware and software 3-5 years
Motor vehicle 3 years

The residual values, useful lives and depreciation method
are reviewed and adjusted, if appropriate, at the end of each
reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimate
accounted for on a prospective basis.

The gain or loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment is
the difference between the net sales proceeds and the carrying
amount of the relevant asset, and is recognised in profit or loss.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(e)

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an expense
in the period in which it is incurred. Expenditure on development
activities is capitalised as intangible assets if all of the conditions
are met:

S The technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset
so that it will be available for use or sale;

- Management intends to complete the intangible asset and
use or sell it;

- There is ability to use or sell the intangible asset;

= It can be demonstrated how the intangible asset will
generate probable future economic benefits;

= Adequate technical, financial and other resources to
complete the development and to use or sell the intangible
asset are available;

- The expenditure attributable to the intangible asset during
its development can be reliably measured.

Capitalised development costs are stated at cost less
accumulated amortisation and impairment losses. Other
development expenditure is recognised as an expense in the
period in which it is incurred.

Customer relationship and computer software are that intangible
assets with finite useful lives and are acquired through business
combination. The intangible assets acquired in a business
combination are stated at cost, being the fair value at the date
of completion of the business combination, less accumulated
amortisation and accumulated impairment losses.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

4,

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(e)

Intangible assets (other than goodwill) (continued)

Amortisation of intangible assets with finite useful lives is charged
to profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the assets’ estimated
useful lives. The following intangible assets with finite useful lives
are amortised from the date they are available for use and their
estimated useful lives are as follows:

— Development costs on personal computer 2-9 years
performance software, anti-virus software

and mobile applications (“Computer and

Mobile Phone Software”)

The residual values, useful lives and amortisation method
are reviewed and adjusted, if appropriate, at the end of each
reporting period.

Leases

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether the
contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a
lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an
identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration.
Control is conveyed where the customer has both the right to
direct the use of the identified asset and to obtain substantially all
of the economic benefits from that use.

Where the contract contains lease component(s) and non-lease
component(s), the Group has elected not to separate non-lease
components and accounts for each lease component and any
associated non-lease components as a single lease component
for all leases.

At the lease commencement date, the Group recognises a right-
of-use asset and a lease liability, except for short-term leases that
have a lease term of 12 months or less and leases of low-value
assets which, for the Group are primarily office equipment and
office premises. When the Group enters into a lease in respect of
a low-value asset, the Group decides whether to capitalise the
lease on a lease-by-lease basis. The lease payments associated
with those leases which are not capitalised are recognised as an
expense on a systematic basis over the lease term.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(f)

Leases (continued)

Where the lease is capitalised, the lease liability is initially
recognised at the present value of the lease payments payable
over the lease term, discounted using the interest rate implicit
in the lease or, if that rate cannot be readily determined, using
a relevant incremental borrowing rate. After initial recognition,
the lease liability is measured at amortised cost and interest
expense is calculated using the effective interest method. Variable
lease payments that do not depend on an index or rate are not
included in the measurement of the lease liability and hence are
charged to profit or loss in the accounting period in which they
are incurred.

The right-of-use asset recognised when a lease is capitalised is
initially measured at cost, which comprises the initial amount of
the lease liability plus any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, and any initial direct costs incurred. Where
applicable, the cost of the right-of-use assets also includes
an estimate of costs to dismantle and remove the underlying
asset or to restore the underlying asset or the site on which
it is located, discounted to their present value, less any lease
incentives received. The right-of-use asset is subsequently stated
at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably certain
to obtain ownership of the underlying leased assets at the end
of the lease term are depreciated from commencement date
to the end of the useful life. Otherwise, right-of-use assets
are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of its
estimated useful life and the lease term.

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under HKFRS 9
and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments to fair value at
initial recognition are considered as additional lease payments
and included in the cost of right-of-use assets.

The lease liability is remeasured when there is a change in future
lease payments arising from a change in an index or rate, or there
is a change in the Group’s estimate of the amount expected
to be payable under a residual value guarantee, or there is a
change arising from the reassessment of whether the Group
will be reasonably certain to exercise a purchase, extension or
termination option. When the lease liability is remeasured in this
way, a corresponding adjustment is made to the carrying amount
of the right-of-use asset, or is recorded in profit or loss if the
carrying amount of the right-of-use asset has been reduced to
zero.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4 A

17 O

S M R R 5E

For the year ended 31 December 2021
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

4,

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(f)

(9)

(h)

Leases (continued)

The lease liability is also remeasured when there is a change
in the scope of a lease or the consideration for a lease that
is not originally provided for in the lease contract that is not
accounted for as a separate lease. In this case the lease liability
is remeasured based on the revised lease payments and lease
term using a revised discount rate at the effective date of the
maodification.

Inventories

Inventories represent finished goods which are stated at the
lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is determined using
the first-in, first-out basis. Net realisable value is the estimated
selling price in the ordinary course of business, less the estimated
costs of completion and the estimated costs necessary to make
the sale.

Contract assets and contract liabilities

Contract asset is recognised when the Group recognises revenue
before being unconditionally entitled to the consideration under
the payment terms set out in the contract. Contract assets are
assessed for expected credit losses (“ECL”) in accordance with
the policy set out in note 4(u) and are reclassified to receivables
when the right to the consideration has become unconditional.

A contract liability is recognised when the customer pays
consideration before the Group recognises the related revenue.
A contract liability would also be recognised if the Group has
an unconditional right to receive consideration before the Group
recognises the related revenue. In such cases, a corresponding
receivable would also be recognised.

For a single contract with the customer, either a net contract
asset or a net contract liability is presented. For multiple
contracts, contract assets and contract liabilities of unrelated
contracts are not presented on a net basis.

When the contract includes a significant financing component,
the contract balance includes interest accrued under the effective
interest method.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

U]

Contract for services

Revenue from contracts with customers in the Group’s corporate
management solutions (“CMS services”) and I.T. contract
services business recognised over time when the Group’s
performance does not create an asset with an alternative use to
the Group and the Group has an enforceable right to payment for
performance completed to date.

When the outcome of a CMS services contract can be
reasonably measured, revenue from the contract is recognised
progressively over time using the cost-to-cost method, i.e
based on the proportion of the actual costs incurred relative to
the estimated total costs. The directors consider that this input
method is an appropriate measure of the progress towards
complete satisfaction of these performance obligations under
HKFRS 15.

The Group becomes entitled to invoice customers for rendering
of CMS services based on achieving a series of performance-
related milestones. When a particular milestone is reached the
customer is sent an invoice for the related milestone payment.
The Group will previously have recognised a contract asset for
any work performed. Any amount previously recognised as a
contract asset is reclassified to trade receivables at the point at
which it is invoiced to the customer. If the milestone payment
exceeds the revenue recognised to date under the cost-to-cost
method then the Group recognises a contract liability for the
difference. There is not considered to be a significant financing
component in contracts with customers as the period between
the recognition of revenue under the cost-to-cost method and
the milestone payment is always less than one year.

The likelihood of the Group earning contractual bonuses for early
completion or suffering contractual penalties for late completion
are taken into account in making these estimates, such that
revenue is only recognised to the extent that it is highly probable
that a significant reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue
recognised will not occur.

When the outcome of the contract cannot be reasonably
measured, revenue is recognised only to the extent of contract
costs incurred that are expected to be recovered.

If at any time the costs to complete the contract are estimated
to exceed the remaining amount of the consideration under the
contract, then a provision is recognised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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17 O

S M R R 5E

For the year ended 31 December 2021
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

4,

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

0

Recognition and derecognition of financial
instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position when the Group
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instruments.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at
fair value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities
(other than financial assets at FVTPL) are added to or deducted
from the fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities,
as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly
attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or financial
liabilities at FVTPL are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or
when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks
and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity. If the
Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership and continues to control the transferred
asset, the Group recognises its retained interest in the asset and
an associated liability for amounts it may have to pay. If the Group
retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of a
transferred financial asset, the Group continues to recognise the
financial asset and also recognises a collateralised borrowing for
the proceeds received.

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or have
expired. The difference between the carrying amount of the
financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid and
payable, including any non-cash assets transferred or liabilities
assumed, is recognised in profit or loss.

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount
reported in the balance sheet when there is a legally enforceable
right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention
to settle on a net basis or realise the asset and settle the
liability simultaneously. The legally enforceable right must not
be contingent on future events and must be enforceable in the
normal course of business and in the event of default, insolvency
or bankruptcy of the company or the counterparty.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(k)

Financial assets

All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are
recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular
way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets
that require delivery of assets within the time frame established
by regulation or convention in the marketplace. All recognised
financial assets are measured subsequently in their entirety at
either amortised cost or fair value, depending on the classification
of the financial assets.

Debt investments

Debt investments held by the Group are classified under
amortised cost, if the investment is held for the collection of
contractual cash flows which represent solely payments of
principal and interest. Interest income from the investment is

calculated using the effective interest method.

Equity investments

An investment in equity securities is classified as FVTPL unless
the equity investment is not held for trading purposes and
on initial recognition of the investment the Group makes an
election to designate the investment at FVTOCI (non-recycling)
such that subsequent changes in fair value are recognised in
other comprehensive income. Such elections are made on
an instrument-by-instrument basis, but may only be made if
the investment meets the definition of equity from the issuer’s
perspective. Where such an election is made, the amount
accumulated in other comprehensive income remains in the
investment revaluation reserve (non-recycling) until the investment
is disposed of. At the time of disposal, the amount accumulated
in the investment revaluation reserve (non-recycling) is transferred
to accumulated losses. It is not recycled through profit or loss.
Dividends from an investment in equity securities, irrespective
of whether classified as at FVTPL or FVTOCI, are recognised in
profit or loss as other income.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4 A

17 O

S M R R 5E

For the year ended 31 December 2021
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

4,

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

U]

(m)

(n)

Trade and other receivables

A receivable is recognised when the Group has an unconditional
right to receive consideration. A right to receive consideration
is unconditional if only the passage of time is required before
payment of that consideration is due.
recognised before the Group has an unconditional right to receive

If revenue has been
consideration, the amount is presented as a contract asset.

Receivables are stated at amortised cost using the effective
interest method less allowance for credit losses.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and on hand,
demand deposits with banks and other financial institutions,
and short-term, highly liquid investments that are readily
convertible into known amounts of cash and which are subject
to an insignificant risk of changes in value, having been within
three months of maturity at acquisition. Bank overdrafts that are
repayable on demand and form an integral part of the Group’s
cash management are also included as a component of cash
and cash equivalents for the purpose of the consolidated cash
flow statement. Cash and cash equivalents are assessed for
ECL.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Financial liabilities and equity instruments are classified according
to the substance of the contractual arrangements entered into
and the definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument
under HKFRSs. An equity instrument is any contract that
evidences a residual interest in the assets of the Group after
deducting all of its liabilities. The accounting policies adopted
for specific financial liabilities and equity instruments are set out
below.

(0 Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of
transaction costs incurred, and subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the
Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the
liability for at least 12 months after the reporting period.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(n)

(0)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments (continued)
) Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are recognised initially at their
fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method unless the effect of
discounting would be immaterial, in which case they are
stated at cost.

(i) Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidence a
residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all
of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Company
are recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct issue
costs.

Revenue recognition and other income

Revenue is recognised when control over a product or service
is transferred to the customer, at the amount of promised
consideration to which the Group is expected to be entitled,
excluding those amounts collected on behalf of third parties.
Revenue excludes value added tax or other sales taxes and is
after deduction of any trade discounts.

Depending on the terms of the contract and the laws that apply
to the contract, control of services may be transferred over time
or at a point in time. Control of the services is transferred over
time if the Group’s performance:

S provides all of the benefits received and consumed
simultaneously by the customer;

- creates and enhances an asset that the customer control
as the Group performs; or

- does not create an asset with an alternative use to the
Group and the Group has an enforceable right to payment
for performance completed to date.

Revenue is recognised over the period of the contract by
reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction of the
performance obligation.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R a MR 5T

For the year ended 31 December 2021 BHEET—Ft+A=1+—HIFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) BTN

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 4. IFEEHEE (@)

(0) Revenue recognition and other income (continued) (0 WARRBREMKE @)
(0 Service income 0 ARFELA

Revenue from CMS services is recognised based
on the stage of completion of the contract in
accordance with the policy set out in note 4()
above. Payment for CMS services is not due from
the customer until the services are complete and
therefore a contract asset is recognised over the
period in which the CMS services are performed
representing the entity’s right to consideration for
the services performed to date.

Services fee income from LT. contract services
including I.T. maintenance services and system
integration services are recognised as a
performance obligation satisfied over time when
the related services are rendered. Services are
fixed-price contracts that customer pays the
fixed amount based on a payment schedule. If
the services rendered by the Group exceed the
payment, a contract asset is recognised. If the
payments exceed the services rendered, a contract
liability is recognised.

Sale of goods

Revenue from the sale of computer and mobile
phone software is recognised when the customer
obtains control of the software when a contract is
agreed, the software is delivered and the customer
has the right to use it.

Revenue from the sales of hardware and software
products is recognised when control of the goods
has been transferred which generally coincides
with the time when the goods are delivered and
the title has passed to the customers. A receivable
is recognised by the Group when the goods are
delivered to the customer as this represents the
point in time at which the right to consideration
becomes unconditional, as only the passage of time
is required before payment is due.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2021
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(0) Revenue recognition and other income (continued)

(i)

(i)

Toolbar and advertisement income

Toolbar revenue is derived principally from online toolbar
private label arrangements with toolbar service providers.
The Group allows toolbar service providers to launch their
toolbar installation application when the Group’s software
is installed by users. Toolbar revenue is determined based
on the number of qualified installations and as a share of
search based income when users use the search engine
incorporated in the toolbar to search for goods and
services and purchase goods and services advertised in
the search result.

Income from advertisement is derived principally from
online advertising arrangements. The Group enters
into advertising arrangements with advertisers to allow
them to put advertisements on particular areas of the
Group’s electronic platforms, or embedded hyperlinks to
advertisements in the Group’s electronic platforms. For
the hyperlinks embedded in the Group’s websites, the
advertisers pay the Group based on number of clicks on
the hyperlinks.

The Group recognises revenue as a performance
obligation at a point in time when the revenue can be
measured reliably and the collectability is reasonably
assured.

Interest income

Interest income on loans are recognised as it accrues
using the effective interest method. For financial assets
measured at amortised cost or financial assets at FVTOCI
(recycling) that are not credit-impaired, the effective interest
rate is applied to the gross carrying amount of the asset.
For credit impaired financial assets, the effective interest
rate is applied to the amortised cost (i.e. gross carrying
amount net of loss allowance) of the asset.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

R a MR 5T

For the year ended 31 December 2021
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(0) Revenue recognition and other income (continued)
v) Bank interest income

Bank interest income is recognised as it accrues using the
effective interest method.

(i) Dividend income

Dividend income is recognised when the shareholders’
rights to receive payment are established.

(p) Employee benefits
(0 Employee leave entitlerents

Employee entitlements to annual leave and long service
leave are recognised when they accrue to employees. A
provision is made for the estimated liability for annual leave
and long service leave as a result of services rendered by
employees up to the end of the reporting period.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity leave
are not recognised until the time of leave.

(i) Pension obligations

The Group contributes to defined contribution retirement
schemes which are available to all employees.
Contributions to the schemes by the Group and
employees are calculated as a percentage of employees’
basic salaries. The retirement benefit scheme cost charged
to profit or loss represents contributions payable by the
Group to the funds.

Subsidiaries incorporated in the People’s Republic of
China (“PRC”) participate in the retirement schemes
operated by the local authorities for the Group’s
employees in the PRC. Contributions to these schemes
are charged to profit or loss when incurred.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

4,

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(P)

(q)

Employee benefits (continued)
(i) Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier of
the dates when the Group can no longer withdraw the
offer of those benefits, and when the Group recognises
restructuring costs and involves the payment of
termination benefits.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs are directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are assets
that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready
for their intended use or sale, are capitalised as part of the cost
of those assets, until such time as the assets are substantially
ready for their intended use or sale. Investment income earned
on the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending their
expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing
costs eligible for capitalisation.

To the extent that funds are borrowed generally and used for the
purpose of obtaining a qualifying asset, the amount of borrowing
costs eligible for capitalisation is determined by applying a
capitalisation rate to the expenditures on that asset. The
capitalisation rate is the weighted average of the borrowing costs
applicable to the borrowings of the Group that are outstanding
during the period, other than borrowings made specifically for the
purpose of obtaining a qualifying asses. Any specific borrowing
that remain outstanding after the related asset is ready for its
intended use or sale is included in the general borrowing pool for
calculation of capitalisation rate on general borrowings.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4 A

1\ A

S M R R 5E

For the year ended 31 December 2021
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

4,

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

U]

(s)

Government grants

A government grant is recognised when there is reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions
attaching to it and that the grant will be received.

Government grants that become receivable as compensation for
expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose of giving
immediate financial support to the Group with no future related
costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they
become receivable.

Taxation

Income tax represents the sum of the current tax and deferred
tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit differs from profit recognised in profit or
loss because of items of income or expense that are taxable
or deductible in other years and items that are never taxable or
deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using
tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on differences between the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated financial
statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the
computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences and deferred
tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable
that taxable profits will be available against which deductible
temporary differences, unused tax losses or unused tax credits
can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities are not recognised if
the temporary difference arises from goodwill or from the initial
recognition (other than in a business combination) of other assets
and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit
nor the accounting profit.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(s)

Taxation (continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries, except where
the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary
difference and it is probable that the temporary difference will not
reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end
of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no
longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to
allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected
to apply in the period when the liability is settled or the asset
is realised, based on tax rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.
Deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss, except when it relates
to items recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in
equity, in which case the deferred tax is also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity.

The measurement of deferred tax assets and liabilities reflects the
tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which
the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover
or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing
transactions in which the Group recognises the right-of-use
assets and the related lease liabilities, the Group first determines
whether the tax deductions are attributable to the right-of-use
assets or the lease liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are
attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group applies HKAS 12
requirements to right-of-use assets and lease liabilities separately.
Temporary differences relating to right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities are not recognised at initial recognition and over the
lease terms due to application of the initial recognition exemption.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally
enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax
liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same
taxation authority and the Group intends to settle its current tax
assets and liabilities on a net basis.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

R a MR 5T

For the year ended 31 December 2021
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
() Related parties

A related party is a person or entity that is related to the reporting
entity.

(A) A person or a close member of that person’s family is
related to a reporting entity if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the reporting entity;
(ii) has significant influence over the reporting entity; or

(iii) is a member of the key management personnel of
the reporting entity or of a parent of the reporting
entity.

(B)  An entity is related to a reporting entity if any of the
following condlitions applies:

(i) The entity and the reporting entity are members of
the same group (which means that each parent,
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the
others).

(i) One entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a
member of a group of which the other entity is a
member).

(i) Both entities are joint ventures of the same third
party.

(iv)  One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity.

v) The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the reporting entity
or an entity related to the reporting entity. If the
reporting entity is itself such a plan, the sponsoring
employers are also related to the reporting entity.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(t)

(u)

Related parties (continued)

(B)  An entity is related to a reporting entity if any of the
following condiitions applies. (continued)

(v  The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (A).

(Vi) A person identified in (A)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the key
management personnel of the entity (or of a parent
of the entity).

(vii)  The entity, or any member of a group of which

it is a part, provide key management personnel

services to the reporting entity or to the parent of
the reporting entity.

Impairment of non-financial assets

The carrying amounts of non-financial assets are reviewed at
each reporting date for indications of impairment and where
an asset is impaired, it is written down as an expense through
the consolidated statement of profit or loss to its estimated
recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is determined for
an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash
inflows that are largely independent of those from other assets
or groups of assets. If this is the case, recoverable amount
is determined for the cash-generating unit to which the asset
belongs. Recoverable amount is the higher of value in use and
the fair value less costs of disposal of the individual asset or the
cash-generating unit.

Value in use is the present value of the estimated future cash
flows of the asset/cash-generating unit. Present values are
computed using pre-tax discount rates that reflect the time value
of money and the risks specific to the asset/cash-generating unit
whose impairment is being measured.

Impairment losses for cash-generating units are allocated first
against the goodwill of the unit and then pro rata amongst the
other assets of the cash-generating unit. Subsequent increases
in the recoverable amount caused by changes in estimates
are credited to profit or loss to the extent that they reverse the
impairment.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4 A

17 O

S M R R 5E

For the year ended 31 December 2021
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

4,

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(v)

Impairment of financial assets and contract assets

The Group recognises a loss allowance for ECL on investments
in debt instruments that are measured at amortised cost, trade
receivables and contract assets. The amount of ECL is updated
at each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial
recognition of the respective financial instrument.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables
and contract assets. The ECL on these financial assets are
estimated using a provision matrix based on the Group’s
historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are
specific to the debtors, general economic conditions and an
assessment of both the current as well as the forecast direction
of conditions at the reporting date, including time value of money
where appropriate.

For all other financial instruments, the Group recognises lifetime
ECL when there has been a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition. However, if the credit risk on the financial
instrument has not increased significantly since initial recognition,
the Group measures the loss allowance for that financial
instrument at an amount equal to 12-month ECL.

Lifetime ECL represents the expected credit losses that will
result from all possible default events over the expected life of a
financial instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL represents the
portion of lifetime ECL that is expected to result from default
events on a financial instrument that are possible within 12
months after the reporting date.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(v)

Impairment of financial assets and contract assets
(continued)

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial instrument
has increased significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument at the reporting date with the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument at the date of initial
recognition. In making this assessment, the Group considers
both quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable
and supportable, including historical experience and forward-
looking information that is available without undue cost or
effort. Forward-looking information considered includes the
future prospects of the industries in which the Group’s debtors
operate, obtained from economic expert reports, financial
analysts, governmental bodies, relevant think-tanks and other
similar organisations, as well as consideration of various external
sources of actual and forecast economic information that relate
to the Group’s core operations.

In particular, the following information is taken into account when
assessing whether credit risk has increased significantly since
initial recognition:

- an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
financial instrument’s external (if available) or internal credit
rating;

S significant deterioration in external market indicators of
credit risk for a particular financial instrument;

= existing or forecast adverse changes in business, financial
or economic conditions that are expected to cause a
significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt
obligations;
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2021
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

4,

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(v)

Impairment of financial assets and contract assets
(continued)

Significant increase in credit risk (continued)

- an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor;

S significant increases in credit risk on other financial
instruments of the same debtor;

- an actual or expected significant adverse change in the
regulatory, economic, or technological environment of the
debtor that results in a significant decrease in the debtor’s
ability to meet its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the
Group presumes that the credit risk on a financial asset has
increased significantly since initial recognition when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the Group
has reasonable and supportable information that demonstrates
otherwise.

Despite the foregoing, the Group assumes that the credit risk
on a financial instrument has not increased significantly since
initial recognition if the financial instrument is determined to have
low credit risk at the reporting date. A financial instrument is
determined to have low credit risk if:

0] the financial instrument has a low risk of default,

(ii) the debtor has a strong capacity to meet its contractual
cash flow obligations in the near term, and

(i) adverse changes in economic and business conditions in
the longer term may, but will not necessarily, reduce the
ability of the borrower to fulfil its contractual cash flow
obligations.

BERERERAT 2021FH

HE_ T —Ft+_B=1—HIFE
BTN

4. FEGHEE (@)
v) SREERGNEEZRE @

EEREEANE LA (B)

- ERACEEEERAFRBRES
1t

= E—EHAEMERIANGEER
fmERE L7t

- FEBANEE KEAKMRRES
ERBESNERTFEE) > T
BHANEREENENEE TR

Tam LET RIS R - K%I%&Eéﬁ
TR HARIB30RE  TRMEEMNES

Mﬁmﬁﬁmuxaﬁ%iﬂ“ﬁﬁiﬁ
BEER]ENERERN IR AIFRSN

BEALARE ERREAHERIA
BAEREARBEERR AEEER
RERMTIANEERR B S BRI
REE LA fuTEET ERIAE
BHERBABRMBEES

() ==RIEEEREENERRE;

iy EEABRABNENBITESENS
HNIREHREERD &

0] W“&ﬁ¥%ﬁ%§%?ﬂﬁ%ﬁ
TAEBRAEEEBRABTEL
R RRE B -



For the year ended 31 December 2021
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(v)

Impairment of financial assets and contract assets
(continued)

Significant increase in credit risk (continued)

The Group considers a financial asset to have low credit risk
when the asset has external credit rating of “investment grade”
in accordance with the globally understood definition or if an
external rating is not available, the asset has an internal rating
of “performing”. Performing means that the counterparty has a
strong financial position and there is no past due amounts.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria
used to identify whether there has been a significant increase
in credit risk and revises them as appropriate to ensure that the
criteria are capable of identifying significant increase in credit risk
before the amount becomes past due.

Definition of default

The Group considers the following as constituting an event of
default for internal credit risk management purposes as historical
experience indicates that receivables that meet either of the
following criteria are generally not recoverable.

- when there is a breach of financial covenants by the
counterparty; or

S information developed internally or obtained from external
sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely to pay its
creditors, including the Group, in full (without taking into
account any collaterals held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above analysis, the Group considers that
default has occurred when a financial asset is more than 90
days past due unless the Group has reasonable and supportable
information to demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion is
more appropriate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R a MR 5T

For the year ended 31 December 2021 BE_ T —F1+_RA=+—HILEE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) BTN

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 4. IFEEHEE (@)

(v)  Impairment of financial assets and contract assets v SHEERSNBEEZRE @)
(continued)

Credit-impaired financial assets EERELHEE

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events that EELHEMEENMGHRRREESREE

have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of SR EN—EHHLZEEH R Z2

that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset HEENHREERE - cMEEEER
is credit-impaired includes observable data about the following EMEEREIEU T B4R IR EE
events:

= significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the - BITANBHBABRETBEE ;
counterparty;

= a breach of contract, such as a default or past due event; - BREH GIANEBNSARRE M ;

- the lender(s) of the counterparty, for economic or - HBHENERA B R 75 B B #
contractual reasons relating to the counterparty’s HEENSERENRR > maf s
financial difficulty, having granted to the counterparty BFERANEEATEEENESE ;

a concession(s) that the lender(s) would not otherwise
consider;

= it is becoming probable that the counterparty will enter - HAEPIAERESETHMMBER;
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or =4

= the disappearance of an active market for that financial - % R E A RS B T A5 IR B I R 2
asset because of financial difficulties. HIK o

Write-off policy AR

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is information EEERBRNEBABAREVBEE

indicating that the debtor is in severe financial difficulty and there B mERKENAIEZ B (BFEHBA

is no realistic prospect of recovery, including when the debtor BEEESEARERR) R B Z R

has been placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy IRMME > 8EREARBAMER URE

proceedings, or in the case of trade receivables, when the BEEARE) AEESTHESHMEE-C
amounts are over two years past due, whichever occurs sooner. MENERMEENAIRBAEENKERE

Financial assets written off may still be subject to enforcement FEHAEFIHT TEEBR NERERE

activities under the Group’s recovery procedures, taking into BR R EIRIBE N IBEm PR o

account legal advice where appropriate. Any recoveries made are
recognised in profit or loss.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(v)

Impairment of financial assets and contract assets
(continued)

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability of
default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the loss if there
is a default) and the exposure at default. The assessment of the
probability of default and loss given default is based on historical
data adjusted by forward-looking information as described
above. As for the exposure at default, for financial assets, this is
represented by the assets’ gross carrying amount at the reporting
date.

For financial assets, the ECL is estimated as the difference
between all contractual cash flows that are due to the Group
in accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that the
Group expects to receive, discounted at the original effective
interest rate.

If the Group has measured the loss allowance for a financial
instrument at an amount equal to lifetime ECL in the previous
reporting period, but determines at the current reporting date
that the conditions for lifetime ECL are no longer met, the Group
measures the loss allowance at an amount equal to 12-month
ECL at the current reporting date, except for assets for which
simplified approach was used.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit or loss
for all financial instruments with a corresponding adjustment to
their carrying amount through a loss allowance account.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2021
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

4,

119

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(w)

(x)

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain timing or
amount when the Group has a present legal or constructive
obligation arising as a result of a past event, it is probable that
an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the
obligation and a reliable estimate can be made. Where the time
value of money is material, provisions are stated at the present
value of the expenditures expected to settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits
will be required, or the amount cannot be estimated reliably,
the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the
probability of outflow is remote. Possible obligations, whose
existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-
occurrence of one or more future events are also disclosed as
contingent liabilities unless the probability of outflow is remote.

Events after the reporting period

Events after the reporting period that provide additional
information about the Group’s position at the end of the reporting
period or those that indicate the going concern assumption is
not appropriate are adjusting events and are reflected in the
consolidated financial statements. Events after the reporting
period that are not adjusting events are disclosed in the notes to
the consolidated financial statements when material.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on
historical experience and other factors, including expectations of future
events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future.

The resulting accounting estimates will,

by definition, seldom equal

the related actual results. The estimates and assumptions that have a
significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amount
of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed

below.

(@

Impairment of goodwill

Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an estimation
of the value in use (“VIU") and fair value less costs of disposal
(“FVLCD”) of the CGU to which goodwill has been allocated.
The VIU calculation requires the directors to estimate the future
cash flows expected to arise from the CGU and a suitable
discount rate in order to calculate present value. Calculation of
fair value using a market approach requires valuation technique
which uses prices and other relevant information generated by
market transactions involving identical and comparable groups
of assets and liabilities or business, a control premium and
marketability discount. The carrying amount of goodwill at the
end of the reporting period was approximately HK$60,525,000
(2020: HK$69,525,000) after an impairment loss of approximately
HK$9,000,000 (2020: HK$11,300,000) was recognised during
the year. Details of the impairment test for CGU containing
goodwill are set out in note 22.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

5.

CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES
(continued)

(b)

Recoverability of intangible assets

During the year, the management has evaluated the impairment
of intangible assets by way of higher of VIU calculation by
reference to the discounted cash flows derived from financial
budgets approved by the management of the Group or FVLCD
with reference to the latest market transactions. If the higher
of the VIU or FVLCD is less than the corresponding carrying
amounts, an impairment loss may be required.

During the year, the Group reconsidered the recoverability of its
internally-generated intangible assets arising from the Group’s
Computer and Mobile Phone Software development. The
projects continue to progress in a very satisfactory manner,
and customer reaction has reconfirmed the Group’s previous
estimates of anticipated revenues from the projects. However,
increased competitor activities have caused the Group to
reconsider its assumptions regarding future market shares and
anticipated margins on these products. Detailed sensitivity
analysis has been carried out and the Group is confident that
the carrying amount of the assets will be recovered in full, even
if returns are reduced. This situation will be closely monitored,
and adjustments made in future periods, if future market activity
indicates that such adjustments are appropriate.

The carrying amount of development costs on Computer and
Mobile Phone Software at 31 December 2021 was approximately
HK$102,852,000 (2020: HK$90,762,000). No impairment loss
(2020: HK$NIl) was recognised during the year. Details of the
impairment review refer to note 23 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

5. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES
(continued)

(c)

(d)

Estimated useful lives of intangible assets

The estimated useful lives of intangible assets reflect
management’s estimation on the Group’s intention to
derive future economic benefits from the intangible assets.
The management performs annual reviews of whether the
assumptions made of useful lives continue to be valid. When
useful lives of intangible assets are different from those previously
estimated, the amortisation charges for future periods will be
adjusted accordingly.

The carrying amount of intangible assets as at 31 December 2021
was approximately HK$102,852,000 (2020: HK$90,762,000).

Impairment of property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets

Property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets are stated
at costs less accumulated depreciation and impairment, if any.
In determining whether an asset is impaired, the Group has to
exercise judgment and make estimation, particularly in assessing:
(i) whether an event has occurred or any indicators that may
affect the asset value; (i) whether the carrying value of an asset
can be supported by the recoverable amount, in the case of
value in use, the net present value of future cash flows which
are estimated based upon the continued use of the asset; and
(iii) the appropriate key assumptions to be applied in estimating
the recoverable amounts including cash flow projections and an
appropriate discount rate. When it is not possible to estimate
the recoverable amount of an individual asset (including right-of-
use assets), the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the
cash-generating unit to which the assets belongs. Changing the
assumptions and estimates, including the discount rates or the
growth rate in the cash flow projections, could materially affect
the recoverable amounts

The carrying amount of property, plant and equipment and right-
of-use assets as at 31 December 2021 were approximately
HK$759,000 (2020: HK$1,168,000) and HK$1,166,000 (2020:
HK$1,684,000) respectively.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2021
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

5. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES
(continued)

(e)

Fair value of financial assets at FVTOCI and financial
assets at FVTPL

The fair value of financial assets at FVTOCI and financial assets
at FVTPL that are not traded in an active market are determined
by using valuation techniques. The Group uses its judgement to
select and consider information from a variety of sources and
make assumptions that are mainly based on market conditions
existing at the end of each reporting period. Changes in these
estimates and assumptions could have a material effect on the
fair value of the financial assets at FVTOCI and financial assets at
FVTPL.

The carrying amount of financial assets at FVTOCI and financial
assets at FVTPL that are not traded in an active market at the
end of the reporting period were approximately HK$1,067,000
(2020: HK$1,135,000) and approximately HK$4,731,000 (2020:
HK$4,731,000) respectively.

Impairment of trade receivables

The management of the Group estimates the amount of
impairment loss for ECL on trade receivables based on the credit
risk of trade receivables and contract assets. The amount of
the impairment loss based on ECL model is measured as the
difference between all contractual cash flows that are due to the
Group in accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that
the Group expects to receive, discounted at the effective interest
rate determined at initial recognition. Where the future cash
flows are less than expected, or being revised downward due to
changes in facts and circumstances, a material impairment loss
may arise.

As at 31 December 2021, the carrying amount of trade
receivables is approximately HK$18,924,000 (net of allowance
for doubtful debts of approximately HK$7,329,000) (2020:
HK$21,627,000 (net of allowance for doubtful debts of
approximately HK$4,757,000)).
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For the year ended 31 December 2021
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

5. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES
(continued)

(9)

(h)

Income taxes

The Group is subject to income taxes in various jurisdictions.
Significant estimates are required in determining the worldwide
provision for income taxes. There are many transactions and
calculations for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain
during the ordinary course of business. The Group recognised
liabilities for anticipated tax issues based on estimates of whether
additional taxes will be due. Where the final tax outcome of these
matters is different from the amounts that were initially recorded,
such differences will impact the income tax and deferred tax
provisions in the period in which such determination is made.

During the year, approximately HK$4,177,000 (2020:
HK$3,870,000) of income tax was charged to profit or loss
based on the estimated profit.

Business model assessment

Classification and measurement of financial assets depends on
the results of the solely payments of principal and interest and
the business model test. The Group determines the business
model at a level that reflects how groups of financial assets are
managed together to achieve a particular business objective.
This assessment includes judgement reflecting all relevant
evidence including how the performance of the assets is
evaluated and their performance measured, the risks that affect
the performance of the assets and how these are managed and
how the managers of the assets are compensated. The Group
monitors financial assets measured at amortised cost or financial
assets at FVTOCI that are derecognised prior to their maturity to
understand the reason for their disposal and whether the reasons
are consistent with the objective of the business for which the
asset was held. Monitoring is part of the Group’s continuous
assessment of whether the business model for which the
remaining financial assets are held continues to be appropriate
and if it is not appropriate whether there has been a change in
business model and so a prospective change to the classification
of those assets. No such changes were required during the
periods presented.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: foreign

currency risk, price risk, credit risk, liquidity risk and interest rate risk.

The Group’s overall risk management programme focuses on the
unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential
adverse effects on the Group’s financial performance.

(@

(b)

Foreign currency risk

The Group has minimal exposure to foreign currency risk as most
of its business transactions, assets and liabilities are principally
denominated in the functional currencies of the Group entities
and United States dollars (“US$”). The Group currently does
not have a foreign currency hedging policy in respect of foreign
currency transactions, assets and liabilities. The Group monitors
its foreign currency exposure closely and will consider hedging
significant foreign currency exposure should the need arise.

The effect of the strengthened or weakened of Hong Kong dollars
against US$ on the loss after tax is not significant.

Price risk

The Group’s financial assets at FVTOCI and financial assets
at FVTPL are measured at fair value. Therefore, the Group is
exposed to equity security price risk due to the fluctuation of
share prices of financial assets at FVTOCI and financial assets at
FVTPL. The directors review the exposure to the equity security
price risk on the financial assets at FVTOCI and financial assets at
FVTPL regularly.

If the share prices of the financial assets at FVTOCI and financial
assets at FVTPL increase/decrease by 10% (2020: 10%), the
other comprehensive income and loss after tax for the year
would have been approximately HK$107,000 lower/higher (2020:
HK$114,000 higher/lower) and approximately HK$2,546,000
(2020: HK$1,028,000) lower/higher respectively, arising as a
result of the fair value gain/loss of the financial assets at FVTOCI
and financial assets at FVTPL respectively.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(b)

(c)

Price risk (continued)

At 31 December 2021, the Group had concentration of equity
security price risk on one (2020: one) of its listed equity securities
investments which is classified as financial assets at FVTOCI
accounted for 100% (2020: 100%) of its financial assets at
FVTOCI and three (2020: one) of its listed investments which is
classified as financial assets at FVTPL accounted for 76% (2020:
62%) of its financial assets at FVTPL as at 31 December 2021.

Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk that a counterparty will not meet its
obligations under a financial instrument or customer contract,
leading to a financial loss. The Group is exposed to credit risk
from its operating activities (primarily trade and other receivables)
and from its financing activities, including deposits with banks
and financial institutions and other financial instruments. The
Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to trade and other
receivables, pledged bank deposits, cash and cash equivalents
and financial assets at amortised cost. Management has a
credit policy in place and the exposures to these credit risks are
monitored on an ongoing basis.

The credit risk on bank deposits is limited because the
counterparties are banks with high credit ratings.

The credit risk on amounts due from brokers is limited because
the counterparties are well-established securities broker firms in
Hong Kong.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

6.

(c)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

Credit risk (continued)
Trade receivables

Customer credit risk is managed by each business unit subject
to the Group’s established policy, procedures and control relating
to customer credit risk management. Individual credit evaluations
are performed on all customers and service providers, requiring
credit over a certain amount. These evaluations focus on
the customers’ and service providers’ past history of making
payments when due and current ability to pay, and take into
account information specific to the customer and service provider
as well as pertaining to the economic environment in which the
customer and service provider operate. Trade receivables are
due within 90 days from date of bilings negotiated on a case-
by-case basis. Normally the Group does not obtain collateral
from customers. The directors are of the opinion that no
further provision for uncollectible receivables is required in the
consolidated financial statements. Normally, the Group does
not obtain collateral or guarantee from customers and service
providers.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(c)

Credit risk (continued)
Trade receivables (continued)

At 31 December 2021, the Group had certain concentration of
credit risk as 61% (2020: 30%) of the trade receivables was due
from the Group’s largest debtor.

The Group measures loss allowances for trade receivables at
an amount equal to lifetime ECL which is calculated using a
provision matrix on individual segment. As the Group’s historical
credit loss experience does not indicate significantly different
loss patterns for different customer and services provider
segments, the loss allowance based on past due status is not
further distinguished between the Group’s different customer
and service provider bases. The ECL on trade receivables are
estimated using a simplified method. The Group has assessed
that the ECL for trade receivables based on individually significant
customer and service provider or ageing of customers and
service providers collectively that are not individually significant.
According to different segments of the Group which include the
following:

= Research, development and distribution of computer
and mobile phone software and toolbar advertisement
(“Software Business”)

= Provision of corporate management solutions and I.T.
contract services (“Corporate Management Solutions and
|.T. Contract Services Business”)

- E-commerce which involves the operation of a business-
to-customer online sales platform, and business-to-
business product trading (“B2C Online Sales Platform and
B2B Product Trading Business”)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R a MR 5T

For the year ended 31 December 2021 BHEET—Ft+A=1+—HIFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) BTN
6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 6. HHBEMEEIE B)
(c) Credit risk (continued) ) EERK @
Trade receivables (continued) ESEKIE (B)
The following table provides information about the Group’s TREBTEAREERZ-_ZZ—F+ZA
exposure to credit risk and ECL for trade receivables as at 31 =+—BNEERBULE ZEKHREN
December 2021: TRHEERENER
Gross
Expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
TEHARSIE R MREREE EiaEE
% HK$’000 HK$’000
Trade receivables B 5 EWRIE BAL FET FAET
At 31 December 2021 BoE-—&E+-B=+—Q
Software Business BT
Not past due AR 0% 12,058 =
Less than 1 month past due AR —E A 0% 145 -
1 to 3 months past due B —Z==EH 0% 125 =
More than 3 months but less BB m=ERAETEA
than 12 months past due +=@EA 0% 3 =
Over 12 months past due AHPEE+ @A 0% 2 =

Corporate Management Solutions and HT¥EERRAERENR

I.T. Contract Services Business FEHNRSER
Not past due P Skt 8.1% 2,151 175
Less than 1 month past due AR BB —ER 8.3% 604 50
1 to 3 months past due Bmp—=2 =R 8.9% 266 23
More than 3 months but less miABE=E R EFEAE

than 12 months past due +=@A 16.9% - -
Over 12 months past due miABmE+=EA 100% 20 20
B2C Online Sales Platform and B2C#d L4 & F &5 KB2B

B2B Product Trading Business EmBRER
Over 12 months past due S+ @A 64.9% 10,879 7,061

26,253 7,329
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For the year ended 31 December 2021
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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BETE 1+ _A=1+—HILFE
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6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 6. HERABER @)

(c)

Credit risk (continued)

Trade receivables (continued)

BZEWE (B)

The following table provides information about the Group’s TREGRTAERAR - -2F+"A4
exposure to credit risk and ECL for trade receivables as at 31 =+—BNEERBULE ZEKHREN
December 2020: TRHEERENER
Gross

Expected carrying Loss

loss rate amount allowance

FEERRS IR = “IRME(E BiERE

% HK$’000 HK$’000

Trade receivable

B 5 EUTRIE BaLE FHET FHET

At 31 December 2020

Software Business

Not past due

Less than 1 month past due

1 to 3 months past due

More than 3 months but less
than 12 months past due

Over 12 months past due

r\CECEE+-A=+—0

Corporate Management Solutions and HT¥EERRAERENR

I.T. Contract Services Business
Not past due
Less than 1 month past due
1 to 3 months past due
More than 3 months but less
than 12 months past due
Over 12 months past due

B2C Online Sales Platform and
B2B Product Trading Business
(i) GET Development Limited
(“GET Development”)
— Not past due
— More than 3 months but
less than 12 months past due

(i) Sure Team (H.K.) Limited
— More than 3 months but
less than 12 months past due

BMER
AR 0% 7,653 =
AR BB —EA 0% 252 =
BH—E==EA 0% 1 =
BHABBE=EREFEA
+Z@A 0% 3 =
AHPEE+ @A 0% 4 =
FEHNRSER
P Skt 8.8% 2,293 202
AR BB —ER 8.8% 663 58
BH—E==EA 8.8% 675 59
AEABIBE =B A B BiBE
+—@A 8.8% 154 14
mEABE+ @A 8.8% 20 2
B2C#¥ L tH & F & &B2B
EnBZER
() ERERARAR (B5
E:3=3)
—R#EHA 5.0% 64 3
—BHABIB =B BB
B+—@EA 30.8% 14,368 4,419
(i) B (FR) BIRAE 0% 234 =
—miABBE=EA BB
B+_ER

26,384 4,757
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For the year ended 31 December 2021
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(c)

Credit risk (continued)
Trade receivables (continued)

Expected loss rates are based on actual loss experience over the
past two years. These rates are adjusted to reflect differences
between economic conditions during the period over which the
historical data has been collected, current conditions and the
Group’s view of economic conditions over the expected lives of
the receivables.

Other financial assets at amortised cost

At 31 December 2021, other financial assets at amortised cost
mainly include loan receivables from Jun Yang Energy Holdings
Limited (“Jun Yang Energy”), amounts due from non-controlling
interests of a subsidiary and other miscellaneous receivables.

At 31 December 2020, other financial assets at amortised cost
included loan receivable from Jun Yang Energy, other receivable
from Fragrant River Entertainment Culture (Holdings) Limited
(“Fragrant River”), amounts due from non-controlling interests of a
subsidiary and other miscellaneous receivables.

For loan receivables and other receivables, the management
performed assessment on the recoverability of the outstanding
balance periodically.

The Group had assessed lifetime ECL on the loan receivable
from Jun Yang Energy following the significant deterioration in the
operating results of Jun Yang Energy during the year ended 31
December 2018 which lead to a significant increase in credit risk.
Lifetime expected credit loss allowance for the loan receivables
from Jun Yang Energy of HK$27,230,000 was recognised in full
during the year ended 31 December 2018 as the management
assessed the ECL rate to be 100%. The management has
reassessed the lifetime ECL of loan from Jun Yang Energy, no
reversal on the allowance for the years ended 31 December
2021 and 2020.
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RZE-—F+"RA=+H > REBHERE
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For the year ended 31 December 2021
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(c)

Credit risk (continued)
Other financial assets at amortised cost (continued)

For other receivable from Fragrant River at 31 December 2020,
the Group had assessed lifetime ECL following the default
in payment from Fragrant River during the year ended 31
December 2018 which lead to a significant increase in credit risk.
The lifetime ECL as at 31 December 2020, 2019 and 2018 were
assessed based on the valuation performed by an independent
professional valuer using probability-weighted method. Lifetime
expected credit loss allowance of approximately HK$3,954,000,
HK$1,246,000 and HK$12,200,000 were recognised during the
years ended 31 December 2020, 2019 and 2018 respectively in
accordance with the valuation report.

Pursuant to a settlement agreement of 1 February 2021 note
44(a) in relation to the final and full settlement of the dispute
with Fragrant River and other relevant parties, lifetime expected
credit loss allowance of approximately HK$14,400,000 and
HK$550,000 were written off and reversed during the year ended
31 December 2021.

For amounts due from non-controlling interests of a subsidiary,
the management makes periodic collective assessments as well
as individual assessment on the recoverability of the receivables.
The Group has assessed that the ECL for these receivables are
not material under the 12-month expected credit losses method.
Thus no loss allowance provision was recognised during the
years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(c)

HE_ T —Ft+_B=1—HIFE
BTN

I EARERE (8)

Credit risk (continued) ) EERK @
Other financial assets at amortised cost (continued) A ST BB MEE ()
For other miscellaneous receivables, the management makes HREMBEERKRRIE EEETHEZ
periodic collective assessments as well as an individual LRI AT U Bl M & 1T E RS ST &
assessment on the recoverability of these receivables. Lifetime B E - BE_SE_—F+_HA=+—
expected credit loss allowance of approximately HK$593,000 BEtFERIBEETEFNEREES
(2020: HK$1,800,000) was recognised during the year ended R4 5593,0008 T (CE_TF ©
31 December 2021, 1,800,000 7T) ©
Movement in the loss allowance account in respect of trade and REEE G REMEWRIEHFIERERN
other receivables during the year is as follows: ST
Other
receivable
Loan from from Other
Trade Contract Jun Yang Fragrant miscellaneous
receivables assets Energy River receivables Total
EWER REEIN Hitiks
BRENHE BHEE AERER  HttEkE FEWFRIE it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FTET FET FERT FET TERT
At 1 January 2020 RZZ-2F—-F—-H 1,179 5 27,230 13,446 - 41,860
Impairment losses recognised for the year FREDHRE Eﬁ?@ 3,605 - - 3,954 1,800 9,359
Disposal of a subsidiary HE—BHBA @27) (5) - - - 32)
At 31 December 2020 and 1 January 2021 Eé:%:?&+:ﬁ =+-Hk
—E--f-F-AH 4,757 - 27,230 17,400 1,800 51,187
Impairment losses recognised for the year FREDHRESE 2,639 - - - 593 3,232
Reversal #[o| (67) - - (550) - (617)
Written off b - - - (14,400) = (14,400)
At 31 December 2021 RZB-_—F+-B=+-H 7,329 = 27,230 2,450 2,393 39,402

The significant increase in gross carrying amount of trade
receivables past due more than 12 months in B2C Online
Sales Platform and B2B Product Trading Business of GET
Development of approximately HK$10,879,000 resulted in an
increase in loss allowance of approximately HK$2,639,000.

The reversal of expected credit loss in Corporate Management
Solutions and I.T. Contract Services Business was due to the
settlement of long outstanding receivables during the year.

BERERERAT 2021FH

B HEEBCH LIHEF &S KB2BERE
SEF 2 AIBE12(8 B R AR ER
H{E AR N14910,879,0008 7T » EE S
B 1B I1492,639,00058 7T

EEEEFRDEREARR GRS =
BOFEREEHEBRRRT AN RIAKERE
WRBEERAFERAN -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2021

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 6.

(d) Liquidity risk

RS MR R 5T

HE_ T —Ft+_B=1—HIFE
WETTIIN

MBEMRERE (&
(d) ABEZER

The Group’s objective and policy is to regularly monitor current
and expected liquidity requirements to ensure that it maintains
sufficient reserves of cash to meet its liquidity requirements in the
short and longer term.

The maturity analysis based on contractual undiscounted cash
flows of the Group’s non-derivative financial liabilities is as

ZIS%B’J BR KRR E BB IR K R
HRBHREFTE UWHEFREREHRSH
fﬁﬁiﬁﬁﬂ&%ﬁﬂﬁ%ﬁé%%%o

FEBZIFTESREERESORTR
REMEBZIMONUT :

(e

follows:
Less than Between Between Over
1year 1and2years 2and 5 years 5 years Total
DME 1526 256 HBiB5E st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET TET AT TET
At 31 December 2021 RZE-—-#+”B=+-H
Trade and other payables B REMENTIE 9,223 - - - 9,223
Lease liabilities HEaE 856 336 60 - 1,252
Borrowings (EE 1,267 - - - 1,267
At 31 December 2020 RI2ZBF+°A=+-H
Trade and other payables A REMENRIE 11,674 - - - 11,674
Lease liabilities HEaR 1,317 645 19 - 1,981
Interest rate risk (e) FIXREPE

At 31 December 2021, the Group’s significant interest-bearing
assets and liabilities are bank deposits and borrowings. (2020:
bank deposits).

The Group’s interest income from bank deposits is dependent
on changes in market interest rates and will not have significant
adverse impact on the Group’s financial position.

The Group’s pledged bank deposits and borrowings are at fixed
interest rates and therefore are subject to fair values interest rate
risk.

NW_E-—F+"_A=+—H '&~&E
NEXRFEREERBERRTERRER
(CEZEBF LRITEN °

FEENRTERAERARBEFHHR
REPHME  THAERBNT BRI E
BRFRMETE-

FEENBBRPRITERRERIZEER
KRB AR RATEENERRER-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R a MR 5T

For the year ended 31 December 2021 BEE- —F+-HA=+—HItFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) BTN
6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 6. HHBEMEEIE B)
()  Categories of financial instruments at 31 December {j) A B —F+_BA=+—HMERH
2021 TEFER
2021 2020
& —EBIEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTHET FET
Financial assets: EMEE
Financial assets at FVTPL: FHERiBm A FEEEN
THBE !
Mandatorily measured at FVTPL BEIEBBRUATEEE
— Held for trading —F1EEE 30,488 12,310
Financial assets as FVTOCI: BEREMEEmBEUAAFEET
IRNESREE
Equity instruments BATHR 1,067 1,135
Financial assets measured at amortised cost (Z# SRRt EMSRE E 108,119 146,793
Financial liabilities: EREE:
Financial liabilities at amortised cost BEER AT ENETHEE 10,490 11,674
(9) Fair values @ 2FEE
The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial assets and KEBRGREMBRRARATEHEERS
financial liabilities as reflected in the consolidated statement of HMEENEAEREZEN A TFEENE
financial position approximate their respective fair values. o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2021
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

7.

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to
transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants
at the measurement date. The following disclosures of fair value
measurements use a fair value hierarchy that categorises into three
levels the inputs to valuation techniques used to measure fair value:

Level 1 inputs:

Level 2 inputs:

Level 3 inputs:

quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities that the Group can
access at the measurement date.

inputs other than quoted prices included within
level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability,

either directly or indirectly.

unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

The Group’s policy is to recognise transfers into and transfers out

of any of the three levels as of the date of the event or change in

circumstances that caused the transfer.

(@) Disclosures of level in fair value hierarchy at 31

RS MR R 5T

BETE 1+ _A=1+—HILFE
(L/(/%TE@J/ \)

7. ATEEHE

ATBERTHE2REZBARFAERBHEAFR
ZHPHEBEERWRSEERERFSIHNER-
TXREERAATEBESRFENLTEE B
FEtBRATEENGER ZBARBRILS A=
(EELEIN
E—HRBARE: FTEBRURFEHHEUH
HREENERNIEED
HIR(E CRICTEE) o
FMRBARE: EHEERJABENBEENEE
FIRERARE MEFE—
RETEIERRE -
BZMBARE: BEIAEENTARER
N 6

AEBNBRSEDHEEREENSEHRET
BERVER = ER BB A KRB LB

(@) E"-I— A=+—HBNAaFEESRK

December: =
Fair value measurement using: Total
ATBEESEFAER : et
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 2021
B BT F=k ZFZ—F
Description HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
H#1E FET FET FET FHET
Recurring fair value measurements: EEMEQAFEENE
Financial assets THMEE
Financial assets at FVTPL EmiEm AT EE
RN R E
Listed equity securities EHRAES 25,757 - 4,730 30,487
Unlisted equity securities JE LR AE S = = 1 1
Financial assets at FVTOCI FEBEMEE W E
MAFEETRN
ERBEE
Unlisted equity securities JFETRAES - - 1,067 1,067
Total Wt 25,757 - 5,798 31,555
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R a MR 5T

For the year ended 31 December 2021
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

7. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued)

BE" T —FT_RA=1T—HLFE

(L/(/%Tﬁg 'J/ 7

7. RFEESE @

(a) Disclosures of level in fair value hierarchy at 31 @) ﬁA-I-_)% = t+—HHRAFEEZRE
December: (continued) L@
Fair value measurement using: Total
N EESEFMAER fast
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 2020
54 e gz -B-BF
Description HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000
3 FET FET FHET FHT
Recurring fair value measurements: EEMAEEEHE :
Financial assets TREE
Financial assets at FVTPL EBBEmUATEE
FERI SR B
Listed equity securities A 7,579 = 4,731 12,310
Financial assets at FVTOCI FEBHEHMEE W E
AT BETRN
THMEE
Listed equity securities EmEAEE - - 1,135 1,135
Total st 7,579 - 5,866 13,445

During the year ended 31 December 2021, one of the listed
equity securities investments was delisted on the Stock
Exchange and was reclassified as unlisted investments. There
were no transfers between Levels 1, 2 and 3 during the year
ended 31 December 2021.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, financial assets
at FVTPL amounting to approximately HK$23,580,000 were
transferred from measurement based on Level 3 to Level 1 as a
result of the expiry of the lock up period.

BERERERAT 2021FH
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATE

For the year ended 31 December 2021
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

7.

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued)

(b)

Reconciliation of assets measured at fair value based

D FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RS MR R 5T

BETE 1+ _A=1+—HILFE
(L/(/%TE@J/ \)

7. ATEEE @
b) REF=RBATEEFENEEH

on Level 3: BR :
2021
ZEZ-%
Financial assets at FVTOCI Financial assets at FVTPL
BRHEMEEREN EBEEN
AFEEIIRNEHEE AFEEIIRNEHEE
Listed Unlisted Listed Unlisted
equity equity equity equity
securities securities securities securities
i) LS ;) LS
A zE 5 A cE S A cE S A cE S
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TERT FTERT TERT TERT
At 1 January 2021 RIZ-—4£-F-8 1,135 = 4,731 -
Total gains/(losses) recognised 5B B R
Wis/ (B548) %8
—in profit or loss # —B5 - - - -
~in other comprehensive income —HEf2ENE (68) - - -
Reclassified as Level 3 BMNEAE=R (1,067) 1,067 1) 1
At 31 December 2021 RIZZ-%F
+-B=+—-H - 1,067 4,730 1
® Included in other gains and losses ® FAEMB R R EE
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R a MR 5T

For the year ended 31 December 2021
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

7.

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued)

(b) Reconciliation of assets measured at fair value based
on Level 3: (continued)

BE" T —FT_RA=1T—HLFE

BTN

7. RFEESE @

b) REF=RBATEEFENEEH

iR (8

Financial assets

2020
—E-FE

—<—=

at FVTOCI Financial assets at FVTPL
FREMEENE
NATEETIIRE
CHEE FRBENATEEIRNEHEE
Listed Listed Unlisted
equity equity equity
securities securities securities
i) i} FEEH
e AES RAES AR5
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TERT FET TERT
At 1 January 2020 RZEZTE— H = 1,040 32,186 350
Total gains/(losses) recognised RT5EERR
W/ (B8 %@@E
—in profit or loss # —Ba¥ - (3,875) (350)
- in other comprehensive income —Hit2EkE 95 = =
Transferred out of Level 3 BHE=R - (23,580) -
At 31 December 2020 RIZZZE
+=ZA=+-H 1,135 4,731 -

) Included in other gains and losses

The total gains/(losses) recognised in other comprehensive
income are presented in fair value change of equity instruments
at FVTOCI in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income.

The total gains/(losses) recognised in profit or loss including those

for assets held at end of reporting period are presented in other
gains and losses in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

7. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued)

(c)

Disclosure of valuation process used by the Group
and valuation techniques and inputs used in fair value
measurements at 31 December 2021:

The Group’s management is responsible for the fair value
measurements of assets and liabilities required for financial
reporting purposes, including level 3 fair value measurements.
The management reviews the fair value measurements at least
once a year.

For level 3 fair value measurements, the Group will normally
engage external valuation experts with the recognised
professional qualifications and recent experience to perform the

valuations.

Key unobservable inputs used in level 3 fair value measurements
are mainly:

- risk free rate (estimated based on zero coupon rate)

= yield spread (estimated based on certain comparable
bonds)

- expected volatility (estimated based on historical volatility)

= dividend vyield (estimated based on no dividends will be
paid in the near future)

= present value of expected future share price (estimated
based on dividend yield is zero)

S probability-weighted profit

= discount factor

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RS MR R 5T

BE" T —Ft_RA=1T—HLFE

WETTIIN

7. RFEESE @

()

WERERW S -_—F+=8
=+—HFFrR&HERER  HESTE
AT EEFT=FTREARIE .

FEMEREEE BNV BREETHE
ERBBENATEESE BEF=ZHL
FEEHS BEEESEEL—TEHA
FEEFE-

MEBE=ZMATEEFEMS  AEE KR
EEAERIRTEXERBATRGHERSRE
BIIMNBEEZSK

BZMATBEMBAIETTERBAR
BEEORE:
— ERREANEX REZERXRME)

— WS REE TR RESE
)

—  TEEIKOIE (RIRESERIBMEET)

— REX REFABRTERIRE
féstt)

- FMERRENRE RATREE
féstt)

— EIAMEMER

- WEREER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

R a MR 5T

For the year ended 31 December 2021 BE_ T —F1+_RA=+—HILEE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) BTN
7. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued) 7. ATEEE @@
(c) Disclosure of valuation process used by the Group (0 HWEXAEERWR-ZZ—F+ZAH
and valuation techniques and inputs used in fair value =+—HFR&ERR  HER A
measurements at 31 December 2021: (continued) ANFEEFEFMREARE | (@
Level 3 fair value measurements BZRAFIBEE
Effect on fair
value for increase Carrying amount Fair value
Description Valuation technique Inputs Range  of inputs 2021 2021
WAREEM REfE ATEE
b fhfER BARE BE HATEENFE Bz ZEZ-f
HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TER
Financial assets at FVTPL
FRERNATEETR
NEmEE
- Listed equity securities  Index return method ~ Share price HK$0.057  Increase 4,730 4,730
Return on relevant 1821%  Increase
market index
Liuidity discount 15%  Decrease
— FRAHES Bk KB 00578 &M
BT BEHER 13.21% 120
MEMTRE 8% "D
- Unlisted equity Index return method ~ Share price HK$0.167  Increase 1 1
securities Return on relevant (6.77%)  Increase
market index
Liquidity discount 50%  Decrease
—JELmRAES Bk RE 01678 1B
TR SEEER (6.77%) 1810
MEMTRE 50% E
Financial assets at FVTOCI
BEREMZANGENAT
BEIENEREE
- Unlisted equity Index return method ~ Share price HK$0.167  Increase 1,067 1,067
securities Return on relevant (6.77%)  Increase
market index
Liquidity discount 50%  Decrease
—JEEmkAES H(EE KB 01678 &M
BB mBEHER 6.77%) 1B
MENMATIRE 50% AL
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RS MR R 5T

For the year ended 31 December 2021

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

7. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued)

(c)

BE_E_—#+_A=1+—HItEE

(UBTEAIT)
7. AFEESE G

Disclosure of valuation process used by the Group
and valuation techniques and inputs used in fair value
measurements at 31 December 2021: (continued)

Level 3 fair value measurements (continued)

) KEAEENR_Z_—F+°A

=+—BFRMERR GERMT R
ATHEESEFMABARE : (@

BRI TIEEE (B

Effect on fair
value for increase Carrying amount Fair value
Description Valuation technique  Inputs Range  of inputs 2020 2020
BAHEEM REE ATEE
Hik hERds BARE #E HATEENEE ZEIEE ZETEE
HK$'000 HK$'000
TR FER
Financial assets at FVTPL
BBRBHEUATEEIR
NEmEE
- Listed equity securities  Index return method ~ Share price HK$0.057-HK$0.167  Increase 4,731 4,731
Return on relevant (10.31%)-8.25% Increase
market index
Liuidity discount 10%-45%  Decrease
— FRAHES Bk KB 0.057AT-0.1678m 110
BT BEHER (10.31%)-8.25% &M
MEMTRE 10%-45% AL
Financial assets at FVTOCI
BEREMZANRENAT
BEIRNEREE
- Listed equity securities  Index return method ~ Share price HK$0.167  Increase 1,135 1,135
Return on relevant (10.31%)  Increase
market index
Liquidity discount 45%  Decrease
— FRAHS e (EE KB 01678 &M
BB mBEHER (1031%) &
MEMATIRE 45% B
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

R a MR 5T

For the year ended 31 December 2021

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

8. REVENUE

(a)

Disaggregation of revenue

BETE 1+ _A=1+—HILFE
(L/(/%TE@J/ \)

8. WA

@ WARS

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers by FREZERBEEINELENBANT :
service line for the year is as follows:
2021 2020
BT k-2 3
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTHET T
Revenue from contracts with customers & B FEIRE D) F159F
within the scope of HKFRS 15 HBEANETRSHKA
Sales of computer and mobile phone SHE B R REN B LUK
software and toolbar advertisement TERES 87,800 82,252
Provision of corporate management REPEEERMAFTER
solutions and I.T. contract services BRI S0RBER
business 26,579 27,892
E-commerce which involves the operation TEHEEERLHEFAR
of a business-to-customer online sales TrEHTPEERESEEN
platform, and the business-to-business BTFEH
product trading 156 121,260
114,535 231,404

BRERAMAT 2021FH




For the year ended 31 December 2021

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
n‘7|'\ Ejﬁ#ﬁﬁl}ﬁ' -‘-I

BE" T —Ft_RA=1T—HLFE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) WETTIIN
8. REVENUE (continued) 8. KA @&
(a) Disaggregation of revenue (continued) @ WARD @

The Group derives revenue from the transfer of goods and
services over time and at a point in time in the following major
product lines and geographical regions:

Corporate Management Solutions and

FEBMUUTEEERGIMIER I —
BEBREESEREREERRRBES

WA

B2C Online Sales Platform and B2B

Software Business 1T. Contract Services Business Product Trading Business Total
HE
For the year ended +ZB=+-H TEERRARER BCELHETAR
31 December LEE RiER ERGECHLGED BBEREREHK szt
2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020
8- et 3 3 e i3 ZEC-f e 33 ZEC-F a2
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK§'000
T#En TEn TiEn TER TR TEn TER TEn
Primary geographical markets ~ +EHE iR
- United States -2 30,523 27,980 - = - 2217 30,523 30,197
- Hong Kong -5& 1,040 1276 26,579 2189 - 94,734 21,619 123,904
- Japan -A% 6,520 6,672 - - 156 248 6,676 6920
~ Germany -8 5,761 39% . - = - 5,761 399
- United Kingdom ~5f 5,208 4537 - - - - 5,208 4537
- Russia -B2H 3329 3,033 - - - - 3,329 3,033
- Canada -mex 2712 2574 5 - - - 2712 2574
- Australla —EH 2483 2487 - - - - 2483 2487
- Mainland China ~HERH 669 476 - = - 8,004 669 18,480
- Others ~Eftr 29,555 29221 - - - 6,067 29,555 35,278
Segment revenue HEA 87,800 82252 2579 278% 156 21,260 11453 231,406
Inter-seqment revenue HEHEBA
- Hong Kong 5% - - - Q - - - [
Revenue from external customers SMRREIA 87,800 82,252 26,579 2189 156 121,260 114,535 231,404
Timing of revenue recognition I AREAE
Products and senvces transfered  ERRBERE-EH
atapoint in time L= 87,800 82,262 12,933 7226 156 121,260 100,889 210,738
Products and senvces transfered  ERRRER-AER
over time HEERE = - 13,646 20,666 - - 13,646 20,666
Total & 87,800 82,252 26,579 218% 156 121,260 114,535 231,404
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R a MR 5T

For the year ended 31 December 2021 BE_ T —F1+_RA=+—HILEE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) BTN
8. REVENUE (continued) 8. WA @
(b) Transaction price allocated to the remaining b) PEEFFENFGRENEENRS
performance obligation for contracts with customers B
The transaction price allocated to the remaining performance A B —F+ZA=+—HPEREEFHR
obligations (unsatisfied or partially unsatisfied) as at 31 December BHNEE GREBITHIDRET WXZE
2021 and the expected timing of recognising revenue as follows: I TERA UL A SRR T
Sale of goods L.T. contract services
HEGR EREE ]
2021 2020 2021 2020
ZT—fF “ZTRF T —fF —ZIEF
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET TAT FET FHET
Within one year R—ER 225 225 1,386 1,692
More than one year but not more BB —EBFBBME
than two years - - 260 40
225 225 1,646 1,732
9. OTHER INCOME 9. HfthlkA
2021 2020
—E—F 2T HF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FAET
Bank interest income IRITFI B WA 160 22
Dividend income (IS ON 419 -
Government grants (note (i) B 8D (BEEG) - 2,207
Reversal of provision for legal case HEEMBERRD 500 -
Sundry income HIEWA 121 150
Gain on termination of right-of-use assets RILFREESEZ W& 100 -
1,300 2,379
note (): In 2020, the Group successfully applied for funding support WEE): MIZB2F AEEERIIAEBFHIITE
from the Employment Support Scheme under the Anti-epidemic BBR IR AR S T LR
Fund, set up by the Hong Kong SAR Government. The purpose B EE - M HA R ST RA R RERHE
S 57 AT AE @ ahiE - =, =
of the funding was to provide financial support to enterprises Bise iR > DAGRE PTAE B BB RIAV IR B  RIRIE

RER AEBRHBABNEHE > WAE

to retain their employees who would otherwise be made o o
FEMMEEARSMEETE

redundant. Under the terms of the grant, the Group is required
not to make redundancies during the subsidy period and to
spend all the funding on paying wages to the employees.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RS MR R 5T

For the year ended 31 December 2021
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

10. OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES, NET

11.

BHE_ZE_—F+_/A=1+—HIFE

CLETTAIm)

10. Hftiss K E51E > /B EE

2021 2020
BT —EBIEHF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTHET FET
Foreign exchange gains, net PER U e > F R 197 451

Fair value loss on financial assets at FVTPL FEBBmUATFEEY RN SR
BEATBEERSE (6,151) (9,079)

Loss on disposals of financial assets at FVTPL HEZBEZUATFEETRN
SMEENFE - (3,942)

Gain on disposal of a subsidiary (note 40(a)) HE - B AR W

(FFE40()) - 209
Impairment loss on goodwill (note 22) EEREEE (fE22) (9,000) (11,300)
Impairment loss on intangible assets (note 23) mLEERERBIE (f5E23) - (425)
(14,954) (24,086)

SEGMENT REPORTING

The Group manages its businesses by divisions, which are organised
by a mixture of both business lines and geographical locations. In
a manner consistent with the way in which information is reported
internally to the Group’s most senior executive management for the
purposes of resource allocation and performance assessment, the
Group has four (2020: four) reportable segments.

- Software Business

11. DEPHRE

- Securities Investment (“Securities Investment Business”) -

- Corporate Management Solutions and |.T. Contract Services -

Business

- B2C Online Sales Platform and B2B Product Trading Business -

FEBZRMPIEEAES HEFERMER
GBI - AEBANE (CT22F | [UE)
WENE INERAXABDEERAERER
PMmErEERRSRTHEEASANEREEN
A ERH—E-

MR
BERE (BHEREFEF)

EEEERFBREARRSORTE
#

B2CH LIHEF B MB2BEMRE Z X
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

R a MR 5T

For the year ended 31 December 2021
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

11. SEGMENT REPORTING (continued)
(@ Segment results, assets and liabilities

The accounting policies of the operating segments are the
same as those described in note 4 to the consolidated financial
statements.

For the purpose of monitoring segment performances and
allocating resources between segments:

— Segment profit/(loss) represented profit earned by/
(loss from) each segment without allocation of central
administration costs, finance costs and income tax
expense.

- Segment assets include all tangible, intangible assets
and current assets with the exception of other corporate
assets.

- Segment liabilities include all current and non-
current liabilities with the exception of accrued central

administration costs and liabilities.

Inter-segment revenue is priced with reference to prices charged
to external customers for similar orders.

BERERERAT 2021FH

BETE 1+ _A=1+—HILFE
(L/(/%TE@J/\

DEbERE ()

@

DEFEE - BEMER

BENBZEEE CLiEcE ]
SE4PTIME AR
REEDBRRRDEDBZENER :

P25 58], (B518) H97E I &
DB RITEA A~ BRE A A K PR
BMFA T 25885 8 FF BEUE
A/ (HIRESIE) -

DIWEECEMBEELEE B
BEERGTHEE EAEEHEMD
¥EE-

DEEBEEEMBERINIEATE
B R EERS P RITER A K
EI\L

DEEWRATISERBALETERSIRZ R
WERRIERREE



For the year ended 31 December 2021
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

11.

SEGMENT REPORTING (continued)

(a)

Segment results, assets and liabilities (continued)

An analysis of the Group’s reportable segment results, assets

4 A

17 O

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S M mRME

BE" T —Ft_RA=1T—HLFE

(M/ﬁTﬁ 'J/ \)

11. DEPHRSE @
(@) DEPELE

BEDHMHAERMNBREDEHER - BE

and liabilities by reportable segment is as follows: REEDWT :
Corporate
Management B2C Online
Solutionsand  Sales Platform
Securities L.T. Contract and B2B
Software Investment Services  Product Trading
Business Business Business Business Total
TRER B2CH L
BARER HETAR
BfHERH B2BER
REEE  ESREER e Ba%% st
2021 2021 2021 2021 2021
- i3 ZEI-& ZEI-& ZEI-& —E--%
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TER TER TET TER
Revenue WA
Revenue from external customers SHREBWA 87,800 - 26,579 156 114,535
Inter-segment revenue AEBRA = = = o -
Reportable segment revenue REDTUA 87,800 - 26,579 156 114,535
Reconciliations: B
Elimination of inter-segment revenue HEDBEBA =
Revenue WA 114,535
Results 25
Segment results VEET 15,678 (5,853) (1,561) (3,654) 4610
Reconciliation: IR
Interest income FIEKA 160
Other income HtgA %8
Unallocated expenses *RERE
- Reversal of impairment loss on other receivables - EtEREIE R EREED 422
- Corporate expenses — (% (11,802)
Loss from operations FS=] g (6,517)
Finance costs MERE (235)
Loss before tax BRAEERE (6,752)
Income tax expense s (4,177)
Loss for the year FEERR (10,929)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R a MR 5T

For the year ended 31 December 2021 BE_ T —F1+_RA=+—HILEE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) BTN
11. SEGMENT REPORTING (continued) 1. HEI/SE @)
(a) Segment results, assets and liabilities (continued) @ PHEE-BEREE B
An analysis of the Group’s reportable segment results, assets REDTHAEBNRSEDAEE EE
and liabilities by reportable segment is as follows: (continued) REEDTNT (@
Corporate
Management B2C Online
Solutionsand  Sales Platform
Securities 1.T.Contract and B2B
Software Investment Services  Product Trading
Business Business Business Business Total
LEER B2CH L
BARER HETAR
ERE T B2BER
REEE  ESREER PR Ba%% @it
2021 2021 2021 2021 2021
- a3 —BC-& ZEI-& ZEI-& - i3
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TER TR TR TR
Assets BE
Segment assets NEREE 186,681 38,804 15,879 14,267 255,631
Reconciliation: HiE:
Unallocated assets FOEEE
— Property, plant and equipment W& BERRE 4
- Right-of-use assets —~FEREE 1,077
~ Tradle and other receivables -BRREMENE 657
- Tax recoverable —-AKERE -
~ Cash and cash equivalents -RERREEEY 52,142
Total assets BENE 309,511
Liabilities aff
Segment liabiies =T 45,606 60 8873 431 54970
Reconciliation: B
Unallocated liabiliies FRE&E
~Trade and other payables -ERRAMENTE 935
- Lease liabillties -HEBR 1,128
Total liabilties Bl 57,033
Other segment information: Hth &R
Additions to property, plant and equipment RENE BERRE - = () = (6)
Amortisation of intangible assets B EESH (33,371) - - - (33,371)
Depreciation on property, plant and equipment VENESET i - - (342 (62) (404)
Additions to right-of-use assets REFAEEE - - (94) - (94)
Depreciation on right-of-Use assets TREEERE - - (697) - (697)
Development costs capitalised RERAERE (45,461) - - - (45,461)
Fair value loss on financial assets at FVTPL FpBEm AT EESRN
SHEENATEESE - (6,151) - - (6,151)
Impairment loss on goodwill EERELEE - - (9,000) = (9,000)
Impairment loss on other receivables HtEWHERESE - = = (465) (465)
Legal and professional fees FRRBLER (95) (8) (40) (61) (201)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RS MR R 5T

For the year ended 31 December 2021 HE_ZT_—SF1+_RA=+—HILEE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) WETTIIN
11. SEGMENT REPORTING (continued) 1. DEHRS @)
(a) Segment results, assets and liabilities (continued) @ PHEE - BEREE B
An analysis of the Group’s reportable segment results, assets WREDHEAERMNREDMBEE EE
and liabilities by reportable segment is as follows: (continued) REEDTNT (@
Corporate
Management B2C Online
Solutions and Sales Platform
Securities |.T. Contract and B2B
Software Investment Senvices  Product Trading
Business Business Business Business Total
TEER B2CA L
BARER HETAR
EGEEr) B2BER
hER  ESREER RHER BREH st
2020 2020 2020 2020 2020
Z3°%f% Z3°%F Z2°%F Z2°%F 2°%F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TR TR TER TER
Revenue KA
Revenue from external customers SRERBA 82,252 - 27,892 121,260 231,404
Inter-segment revenue AEBRA - - 2 - 2
Reportable segment revenue REFBMA 82,252 - 27,804 121,260 231,406
Reconciliations: B
Elimination of inter-segment revenue ESE=Rarili N 2)
Revenue WA 231,404
Results 25
Segment results EES 23,347 (12,775) (17,907) (5,015) (12,350)
Reconciliation: B
Interest income FIEKA 2
Other income HtgA 505
Unallocated expenses *RERE
— Gain on disposal of a subsidlary ~HE—BRBARKE 209
- Impairment loss on other receivables -EtERSERESE (3,954)
- Corporate expenses —hERT (12,894)
Loss from operations F=] g (28,442)
Finance costs HERA (%)
Loss before tax RiRFIEE (28,540)
Income tax expense Figiims (3870)
Loss for the year FEERR (32410)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R a MR 5T

For the year ended 31 December 2021
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

BHE_E_—F+_FB=1+—HIFE
CLETAIm)

11. SEGMENT REPORTING (continued) 11. DEHRE @

DEEE - BERAR (@

(@ Segment results, assets and liabilities (continued) (@

BEDHMHAERMNBREDEHER - BE
REEDNOT @ (@

An analysis of the Group’s reportable segment results, assets
and liabilities by reportable segment is as follows: (continued)

Corporate
Management B2C Online
Solutions and Sales Platform
Securities .T.Contract and B2B
Software Investment Services  Product Trading
Business Business Business Business Total
DEER BoCHE
BARER HETAR
BHREEY B2BE®R
nEER  ESREER RHBER BREH it
2020 2020 2020 2020 2020
Z3°%f% Z2°%F Z2°%F Z2°%F Z2°%F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT TET FET FET TERT
Assets BE
Segment asses HuEE 196,616 15,664 16,797 79,969 300,046
Reconciliation: HiE:
Unallocated assets FOEEE
— Property, plant and equipment W& BERRE 31
- Right-of-use assets —~FEREE 41
~ Tradle and other receivables -BRREMENE 3,686
- Tax recoverable —AKERE 57
— Cash and cash equivalents -RERBLEEN 13434
Total assets BENE 326,665
Liabilities aff
Segment liabities =t 46,668 60 8028 1,557 56,313
Reconciliation: B
Unallocated liabilties FREA®E
- Trade and other payables -ERRAMENTE 1,076
- Lease liabiities -HE&E 432
Total liabilties BEAE 57,821
Other segment information: HthAEHER
Additions to property, plant and equipment RENE BRERE - - 0] - )
Amortisation of intangible assets B EESH (27,350) - (551) = (27,901)
Depreciation on property, plant and equipment VEN G i = - (343) (57) (400)
Addltions to right-of-use assets RECAEEE - - (1592) - (1592)
Depreciation on right-of-Use assets TREEERE - - (874) - 874)
Development costs capitalised RERAERE (36,119) - - - (36,119)
Fair value loss on financial assets at FVTPL FpBEm A TEESRN
- 6729 - - 8729
Impairment loss on goodwil - - (11,300) - (11,300)
Impairment loss on other receivables - - (1,800) - (1,800)
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HE—BHBAFTNG - - 209 - 209
Impairment loss on intangible assets BN EEABSE - - (425) - (425)
Legal and professional fees ERREXER (1,007) (15) ) (105) (1218)

BERERERAT 2021FH




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2021
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

11.

SEGMENT REPORTING (continued)

(b)

(©

Geographical information

The following table sets out information about the geographical
location of (i) the Group’s revenue from external customers
and (i) the Group’s property, plant and equipment, right-of-
use assets, intangible assets and goodwill (“specified non-
current assets”). The geographical location of revenue is based
on the location of customers and location of service rendered.
The geographical location of the specified non-current assets
is based on the physical location of the asset, in the case of
property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets and the
location of the operation to which they are allocated, in the case

of intangible assets and goodwiill.

RS MR R 5T

BE" T —Ft_RA=1T—HLFE
CLETTAIm)

1. RS @)
b) HEEHE

TREJBR)EERKBINAETLHUR
AR (A E BB E -~ BB Kkt~ £ F
REE -BLEERBE (BREFRBE
1) Nt B - IRARMIBUEDUR
FRUBREERFHUESEE -FE
FFRBEENMIEUERRBEEETRAAR
BRAE MBYE -BMERRERERESR
B REDREFNUE WBRTEER
HE) EE-

Revenues from Specified
external customers non-current assets
SHREFWA BEERBEE
2021 2020 2021 2020
ZE—F C"TTHE FTI-F C"TIEZE
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHET FET FHET
United States ES 30,523 30,197 - -
Hong Kong S 27,619 123,902 162,614 162,707
Japan B 6,675 6,920 - =
Germany = 5,762 3,996 - =
United Kingdom e 5,208 4,537 - =
Russia R 3,329 3,033 - =
Canada MEX 2,712 2,574 - =
Australia BN 2,483 2,487 - -
Mainland China HRE Py it 669 18,480 524 524
Others Hith 29,555 35,278 - -
114,535 231,404 163,138 163,231

Information about major customers

Revenue from customers of corresponding years contributing

© EREXEFFNEH

HEFEHRERRIEI0%U ENERIR

over 10% of the Group’s revenue are as follows: AW

2021 2020
T & BT
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FET

B2C Online Sales Platform and B2CA FHETF &R

B2B Product Trading Business B2BEME ZEH
Customer a ZFa = 59,258
Customer b EEb = 24,993
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

R a MR 5T

For the year ended 31 December 2021 BE_ T —F1+_RA=+—HILEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) BTN
12. FINANCE COSTS 12. FAEMZE
2021 2020
T “—E2TEHF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Interest expenses on lease liabilities (note 21) HEaBZFERE (sEe1) 126 98
Interest on other borrowings HMERF B 109 -
235 98
13. LOSS BEFORE TAX 13. BRMRATESIE
Loss before tax has been arrived at after charging/(crediting) the BRIRAIERENG S GTA
following:
2021 2020
—E—F 2T F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FAET
(a)  Staff costs (including directors’ remuneration): (@) &I
(BEEEWS) !
Salaries, wages and other benefits e TERAEMET 15,331 28,078
Retirement scheme contributions BRRETEIMHERR 424 770
15,755 28,848
(b)  Others items: () HMIER:
Amortisation of intangible assets* mC A E#E 33,371 27,901
Auditor’s remuneration TZ B BTN = 1,000 1,000
Depreciation on property, plant and equipment ME--BERZEITE 428 456
Depreciation on right-of-use assets FEREEERTE 1,463 1,682
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary* HE—EM B AR W= - (209)
Impairment loss on goodwill* ST iy 9,000 11,300
Impairment loss on intangible assets* mILEERERE = 425
Impairment loss on trade and other receivables B 5 KREMEWRIE
RIEEE 2,615 9,359
* Included in other gains and losses e ST AE s & 518

Included in administrative expenses

153 HSERERAF 2021F3K

StATTERX



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2021
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

14.

INCOME TAX EXPENSE

(@) Income tax recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss represents:

RS MR R 5T

BETE 1+ _A=1+—HILFE

CLETTAIm)

14. FRSMAX

@ HOBREmANEERNERE:

2021 2020
BT —EBIEF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FET
Current tax EHRNIE
— Hong Kong Profits Tax —EBNER
Provision for the year (note (i) REEEE GEEE) 2,059 2,262
Over-provision in respect of prior years BEFEBEEE (30) (4)
— Withholding tax (note (ii)) —Fain GEEk) 145 170
2,174 2,428
Deferred tax (note 34(a)) IRIEFIE (MI5E34(a)) 2,003 1,442
4,177 3,870
note ():  Under the two-tiered profits tax regime, the first HK$2 million of MIEEG):  REMAFFERENE  REBRIL
profits of the qualifying group entity established in Hong Kong NEERERBIRNE2,000,000%
will be subject to a tax rate of 8.25%, and profits above that TCim A i IA8.25% M IR R AR » M8
amount will be subject to the tax rate of 16.5%. The profits of BZ AR R T # U16.5% R R EH
the Group entities not qualifying for the two-tiered profit tax rate oA amBREFERHIEZER
regime will continue to be taxed at a rate of 16.5%. BREMNGEN B EEIL16.5%N TR
o
PRC Enterprise Income Tax rate for the subsidiary in the PRC FREIME A B SN R B (PR ER
is 25%. However, no provision was made for the financial years %25% © A B AEEKBABE
ended 31 December 2021 and 2020 as the subsidiary incurred ERERB HITERBE_S-—
tax loss in the years. FRIZTEFFZA=+—HIER
B B EE i o
Taxation for overseas subsidiaries is charged at the appropriate BN B ABIMRIE N IRBAERE
current rates of taxation ruling in the relevant countries in which BEFESMBERMNIBE LM 2B
the Group operates based on existing legislation, interpretation BEZBIRITERNREASHE -
and practices in respect thereof.
note (i): ~ Withholding tax, regarding the external sales for which Mizk(): MBUREBRIINEEETINAEE

customers are located outside Hong Kong, is charged at the
appropriate current rates of taxation ruling in relevant countries.

Fr RN ZRARMERRTE
BHREE-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

R a MR 5T

For the year ended 31 December 2021
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

14. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued)

(b)  The reconciliation between income tax expense and the product

BE" T —FT_RA=1T—HLFE

(M/ﬁTﬁ 'J/ \)

14. FRSMAXZ (@)

b) PRSI EMRRATBIRELUBRRER

of loss before tax multiplied by the applicable tax rates is as HZHERNT -
follows:
2021 2020
BT % —EBIEF
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHET FHET
Loss before tax PRI AIES 1B (6,752) (28,540)
Notional tax credit on loss before IR EA16.5%5T H VBRI AT
tax, calculated at the rate of BIELERRIEIRR
16.5% (1,113) (4,700)
Income tax on concessionary rate RESMEFHENMIRES (165) (165)
Tax effect of income that is not taxable BERRUBANREZE (2,754) (506)
Tax effect of expenses that are not deductible 7~ 5] #1388 2 FIFR 75 52 28 6,395 4,263
Tax effect of temporary differences RERYGREBENREE
not recognised (522) 2,661
Tax effect of unused tax losses not recognised R FESA R 8 A IR TB K5 1B IR 75 27 25 2,243 2,689
Tax effect of utilisation of tax losses not FEABERERRIBEBENRE
previously recognised - (29) (544)
Over-provision in respect of prior years BEFEBREEE (30) (4)
Withholding tax FEHiR 144 170
Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries WEABREMENFTE 8 15
Income tax expense Fri8iExz 4,177 3,870
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2021
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

15.

BE" T —Ft_RA=1T—HLFE

17 O

(M/ﬁTﬁ 'J/ \)

RS MR R 5T

INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST EMOLUMENTS 15. mEEi AL
Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments, two (2020: one) of FraReFMATER Efhme CEZE
them are directors whose emoluments are disclosed in note 16. The F.—R)ReFMATAZES INEESRKEE6
aggregate of the emoluments in respect of the remaining three (2020: WE-THABER=S (CZ22F 014 BE
four) highest paid individuals are as follows: N LHVEN AR EE -
2021 2020
T —&F TR T
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Salaries and other emoluments e REMBE 3,426 5,367
Retirement scheme contributions BIRETEIERR 54 72
3,480 5,439
The emoluments of the three (2020: four) individuals with the highest =% (CE2E2F 0% e A TSN
emoluments are within the following bands: TRTHEHE :
2021 2020
B 2T
Number of Number of
individuals individuals
A AEL
HK$1,000,001 = HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 77t % 1,500,00078 7T 3 3
HK$1,500,001 = HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 7 75 & 2,000,00078 7T 0 1
3 4
During the year ended 31 December 2021 and 2020, no emoluments HE— —FRZEIEZF+A=+—HIE

were paid by the Group to any of the highest paid individuals as an
inducement to join the Group, or as compensation for loss of office
during the year.

FE ZJS%IEEWEH%F@EHE%
AN (F R (R LN 2R A S B EE B S0 (B 73 BE TR BY 478

=
8o

= E A £ 32
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R a MR 5T

For the year ended 31 December 2021 BHE_E_—F+_FB=1+—HIFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) BTN
16. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS 16. EEEMRER
(a) Directors’ remuneration (@ EEHM
The remuneration of each director was as follows: BEEFHMOT :

Emoluments paid or receivable in respect of a person’s services as a director,
whether of the Company or its subsidiary undertaking

REAREES (FRAXARAEMBAREE) BEEAIRENHE

Emoluments

paid or

receivable

in respect of

director's

other services

in connection

with the

management

Salaries, of the affairs

allowances of the

and Retirement ~ Company or
Directors’ benefits  Discretionary  Share based scheme its subsidiary 2021
fees in kind bonuses payments  contributions  undertaking Total

RERFAF

FEMBAR

EBMNES
e 2Rk P HtRBER ZBT-F
BEfE BIFE METHAL  AERMZM  BEGHEIER  SRKNHE act
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TR TR TR TR TER TR

Executive directors HTES

Mr. Wong Jing Shong BEERE - 1,200 - - 18 - 1,218
Mr. Zhang Long (note (j) SRERSLAE (EH() - 32 - - 2 - 34
Mr. Lau Siu Cheong (note (i) 2RE L4 (ki) - 900 - - 16 - 916

Independent non-executive directors BiIFRITES

Professor Chui Tsan Kit RIRGEER 120 - - - - - 120
Mr. Chan Yung RERE 120 - - - - - 120
Mr. Cheng Hong Kei BEis 120 - - - - - 120

360 2,132 - - 36 - 2,528
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2021
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

16. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS
(continued)

(@)

Directors’ remuneration (continued)

RS MR R 5T

BE" T —Ft_RA=1T—HLFE
CLETTAIm)

16. EFENRED (@)

@ EEHMW@®

Emoluments paid o receivable in respect of a person’s services as a director, whether of the
Company or its subsidiary undertaking

HEAREES (TRAXATRANBATER) BBEAARRONE

Emoluments
paid or
receivable
in respect of
director's
other services
in connection
with the
management
Salaries, of the affairs
allowances of the
and Retirement Company or
Directors’ benefits Discretionary Share based scheme its subsidiary 2020
fees in kind bonuses payments  contrioutions undertaking Total
AEEAAF
FEREAT
£HMNES
WEERR PG Htlg®ERd  ZBIEE
LG el RBEA  ARRNXA  RAGHEER  SRbSEHE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000
TiEx TEx TEn TiEx TEr TEn TiEx
Executive directors HTES
Mr. Wong Jing Shong BEENE - 1,200 - - 18 - 1218
Mr. Zhang Long (note () REESAE () - 300 - - 15 - 315
Mr. Lau Siu Cheong (note (i) 2K L4 (3K - - - - - - -
Independent non-executive directors BUEHTES
Professor Chui Tsan Kit RIRRHE 120 - - - - = 120
Mr. Chan Yung RERE 120 - - - - - 120
Mr. Cheng Hong Kei BEis 120 - - - - = 120
360 1,500 - - KX] - 1,893
Notes: PEEE
0] Mr. Zhang Long was appointed as executive director of the (i) RELENR _SE—NENANAERE

Company on 4 April 2019 and resigned as executive director of the
Company on 8 February 2021.

(ii) Mr. Lau Siu Cheong was appointed as executive director of the
Company on 8 February 2021.

No emoluments were paid by the Group to any director
as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group, or as
compensation for loss of office during the years ended 31
December 2021 and 2020.

No director waived or agreed to waive any remuneration during
the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020.

BERANBRITES UR T —FTAH
NERERATRITES-

(i BINEREN_BE_—F_F/\BEZS
EREATNITES-

HE_S-_—FR-_ZE-Z2F+=A8
=+ BIEMEFE AERTEZGE
IS FTERNES FARARERENELRER
WIENN R R LV B T E A BB (E o

BE_S_—&#R_F-_FBF+_5H

=+—HLEMBEEE BEESTHEXE
BHEETMNE-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

R a MR 5T

For the year ended 31 December 2021
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

16. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS
(continued)

(o) Directors’ material interests in transactions,
arrangements or contracts

No significant transactions, arrangements and contracts in
relation to the Group’s business to which the Company was a
party and in which a director of the Company and the director’s
connected party had a material interest, whether directly or
indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during
the year.

17. DIVIDENDS

The directors do not recommend the payment of any dividend in
respect of the year ended 31 December 2021 (2020: HK$NIl).

18. LOSS PER SHARE
(@) Basic loss per share

The calculation of basic loss per share is based on the loss
attributable to owners of the Company and the weighted average

BHE_E_—F+_FB=1+—HIFE
CLETAIm)

16. EFENRED (@)

b) EFRRS ZHAEGHNERED

QB AL EEET I B R S A AR
BAEN BAEREZAMMARBES
REZEZHEANTERIHRESEAR
TENEARRZ ZHHEH -

17. K2

BEETREEMEBEE"_Z_—F+"A=+—H1Lt
FERGEARE CEIEF 8T °

18. EREIE
@ SREAEE

SREXBREDBRELAFEEARBEAA
e RN B BT EEROMETIDRE

number of ordinary shares in issue during the year. FEo
2021 2020
BT —EBIEH
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHET FET
Loss E5i8
Loss attributable to owners of the Company KRBVEENEERBESE
and loss for the purpose of calculating basic SREREBEENEE
loss per share (18,197) (39,286)
’000 ‘000
TFh& A&
Number of shares KHER
Weighted average number of ordinary shares BEstEEREREEN
for the purpose of calculating basic loss per ZiBRMETERE
share 444,448 444,448
Basic loss per share (HK cents) BREAREE B (4.09) (8.84)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2021
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

18. LOSS PER SHARE (continued)
(o) Diluted loss per share
No adjustment has been made to the basic loss per share for the
years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020, as the Company did

not have any outstanding dilutive potential ordinary shares during
the years.

19. OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Tax effects relating to each item of other comprehensive income for the

RS MR R 5T

HE-Z - —HF+"H=1+—HIEE

V&l

18. &REE @

(b) SREESEE

RAEE > AR ATHEFTABDREITE
EHEZTEKR M ERAREE S " —
ER-_EEFE+_A=1+—HIEMEE
EMEREREE-

19. HthZ2 @WK

FEEHAMEERDSEEAMINBLE

year:
2021 2020
—Z--F ZRIFE
Before tax Tax Net of tax Before tax Tax Net of tax
amount expenses amount amount expenses amount
TR ] RERZ G35k ] IS B IiaeE
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TET TERT TR TR TET
Financial assets at FVTOCI ABEM2ERG
AT BESIRN
EREE
Fair value changes NTEELE
- Equity instruments -RATR (68) - (68) 95 - 95
Exchange differences on translation of T &85 B AR B H iR %
financial statements of overseas EENERER
subsidiaries (16) - (16) (74) - (74)
84) - 84) 21 - 21
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R a MR 5T

For the year ended 31 December 2021 BHEET—Ft+A=1+—HIFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) BTN
20. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 20. ME-BERRE
Computer
Leasehold Office Furniture and hardware and Motor
improvements equipment fixtures software vehicle Total
fEnE AR il TR
% B REE REH HE Ehy
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEr TR TiEr TiEr TiEr TR
Cost 578
At 1 January 2020 RZ%2-%%-F—-AH 806 428 461 3,027 980 5,702
Additions HE - - - 1 - 1
Exchange adjustment ERBE - - - 37 - 37
Disposal of a subsidlary (note 40(a)) HE—BREAT (H5H40() (490) 81) (212) (907) - (1,690)

At 31 December 2020 and 1 January 2021 IS ? 2FE+°A=+-H

F--%—-F-H 316 347 249 2,158 980 4,050
Additions ,’]ﬁﬁ - - - 6 - 6
Disposals e - (65) (049) (©5) - (409)
Exchange adjustment ERBE - - - 16 - 16
At 31 December 2021 RIZZ—45+°A=1+-H 316 282 - 2,085 980 3,663

Accumulated depreciation and impairment &t ERis{E

At 1 January 2020 AZEZRE-F—H 766 404 453 2434 54 4111
Charge for the year FEETH 28 13 4 84 327 456
Written back on disposals HEER (490) 81) (212) (906) = (1,689)
Exchange adjustment ERHE = = - 4 - 4

At 31 December 2020 and 1 January 2021 RIZZEE+ZA=1+-H

k=E5-_-%-A-H 304 336 245 1,616 381 2,882
Charge for the year FEETH 12 8 4 77 327 428
Written back on disposals HEER - 65) (249) 95) = (409)
Exchange adjustment ERHE - - - 3 - 3
At 31 December 2021 RZZ--£+"A=+-H 316 279 - 1,601 708 2,904
Carrying amount REME
At 31 December 2021 RZE-_-F+ZB=+-H - 3 - 484 272 759
At 31 December 2020 RIZZEE+-F=1—H 12 1 4 542 599 1,168
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2021
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

21.

17 O

BETE 1+ _A=1+—HILFE
(L/(/%TE@J/ \)

RS MR R 5T

RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 21, EREEE
Office Office
equipment premises Total
i YNES ] MAEYE Hast
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FATT FHATT FATT
At 1 January 2020 RZE_ZFE—F—H 88 1,795 1,883
Additions B - 1,483 1,483
Depreciation e (31) (1,651) (1,682)
At 31 December 2020 and N_EZZF+"HB=+—H
1 January 2021 ER-_E-_—%—F—H 57 1,627 1,684
Additions B 94 1,432 1,526
Depreciation e (31) (1,432) (1,463)
Termination K1k - (581) (581)
At 31 December 2021 RZE-—&%+=-H=+—H 120 1,046 1,166
Lease liabilities of approximately HK$1,218,000 (2020: HK$1,858,000) W_E - —F+_HA=+—H BRIEEEELN
are recognised with related right-of-use assets of approximately #1,218,000/8 7T (ZZ = =4 | 1,858,000/ 7T)
HK$1,166,000 (2020: HK$1,684,000) as at 31 December 2021. The Hrh#%1,166,000/8 7T (ZZ -Z 4 : 1,684,000

lease agreements do not impose any covenants and leased assets are
not used as security for borrowing purposes.

S7E) 540 FR 8 1 P A A o TR 438 AN E ]
ik TR EAET o] BIFERBRAR

2021 2020

—E-—F “EIEHF

HK$’000 HK$’000

FHET FAET

Depreciation expenses on right-of-use assets FREEENTERS 1,463 1,682

Interest expense on lease liabilities (included in ~ FAESEF S5 Gt ARERA)

finance costs) 126 98
Expenses relating to short-term lease (included in fE#ATE EABRARIS: GTABEEYAIE

cost of goods sold and administrative expenses) K1TEF ) 100 221

Gain on termination of right-of-use assets RIEFREEEZ W& 100 -

Details of total cash outflow for leases is set out in note 40(c).

For both years, the Group leases various office premises and office
equipment for its operations. Lease contracts are entered into for
fixed term of one year to five years. Lease terms are negotiated on
an individual basis and contain a wide range of different terms and
conditions. In determining the lease term and assessing the length
of the non-cancellable period, the Group applies the definition of
a contract and determines the period for which the contract is
enforceable.

During the year ended 31 December 2021 and 2020, the Group
assessed the recoverable amount of CGU of all components, no
impairment loss in respect of right-of-use assets was recognised.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, there was reduction of
right-of use assets of HK$481,000 (2020: HKS$NIl), due to the early
termination of a lease contract, resulting in a gain on early termination of
right-of-use assets of approximately HK$100,000 (2020: HK$NIl).

EERS ML AREEF BN MEE40(0)
PmEFEE AEBREEZERAEYERREA
ERBREERR -HESNENT—FELF
ZEEFERTIL - MEFRMILEE R EE L5
7 > BLE B AE A [EFR R B MR 1 o 7 76 E AR B ke 5T
R HEMENRER  AEBEBASNNE
Sl 72 E P SR BT S A9BIHAR

KBE_S_—FR_F_SEI_A=+—
ALFE S EERFEREERTHRLEY
BT AR E S i R SRR E S
e

REE e =P =S [ SR
=D ﬁu%&t—fﬁﬂ‘EAﬁ EREEERD
481,000/87c (T2 224 : D) EBURAIR

IR B EIRZEL100,0008 7T (CEZZF :
BT ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R a MR 5T

For the year ended 31 December 2021 BE"Z_—GFt+_A=1+—HIFE

163

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) BTN
22. GOODWILL 22, EHE
Corporate Corporate
Management Management
Solutions and Solutions and
L.T. Contract L.T. Contract
Software Business Services Business Services Business
(note a) (note b) (note ¢) Total
TEEERA CEEERA
FERERNK FERENNEK
BT RHRBES BHIRBES
(Hfzta) (GE) (Hfzke) Eh
Boom Max
International Limited
(“Boom Max”)
and its subsidiaries
(collectively
referred to as e-Perfect IT Limited
“Boom Max Group”) (“e-Perfect IT”) Wafer HK
Boom Max
International Limited
(TBoom Max )
REMBAF
(%8 Boom Max EENBARLR
£8)) (rgERis)) HEFE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TER TR FER
Cost A
At 1 January 2020 RZZ2ZZ5—F—H 757,662 3,934 20,913 782,509
Derecognised on disposal of a subsidiary HE— BB ARRBUARR
(note 40(a) (Ht5£40(a)) - (3,934) = (3.934)
At 31 December 2020, 1 January 2021 and RZBZEF+°A=+-A~
31 December 2021 2 -f-A-ARZEC-%
+ZA=1- 757,662 - 20913 778575
Accumulated impairment losses Rt HEBE
At 1 January 2020 RZ%2Z%%-F—-H 697,496 3,034 254 701,684
Impairment loss recognised ERDAESRS - - 11,300 11,300
Written back on disposal of a subsidiary (note 40(8) ~ tH&— B A FIRE[E (H340@) - (3.934) - (3934)
At 31 December 2020 and 1 January 2021 RIBZEF+ZA=+-HK
:3:-5—@ —H 697,496 - 11,554 709,050
Impairment loss recognised BRHESE 9,000 - - 9,000
At 31 Decermber 2021 RIF_-H+ZA=1-H 706496 . 11,554 718,050
Carrying amount RAEfE
At 31 December 2021 RZE_-F+”B=+-H 51,116 - 9,359 60,525
At 31 December 2020 RIZZEE+°A=1+-H 60,166 = 9,359 69,525

Goodwill acquired in business combination is allocated, at acquisition,

to the Group’s CGUs that are expected to benefit from that business

combination.

BERERERAT 2021FH
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2021
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

22,

GOODWILL (continued)

Impairment test for cash-generating units containing
goodwill

In accordance with Hong Kong Accounting Standard 36 Impairment
of Assets, a CGU to which goodwill has been allocated shall be tested
for impairment annually, and whenever there is an indication that the
CGU may be impaired, by comparing the carrying amount of the CGU,
including goodwill, with the recoverable amount of the CGU.

In addition to goodwill, property, plant and equipment, right-of-use
assets and intangible assets that generate cash flows together with the
related goodwill are also included in the respective CGU for the purpose
of impairment assessment.

The recoverable amounts of the CGU are the higher of the VIU and the
FVLCD.

The Group engaged Ascent Partners Valuation Service Limited (“Ascent
Partners”), an independent professional valuer, to determine the
recoverable amount of the CGU of the Software Business as at 31
December 2021 and 31 December 2020.

(a) CGU of Boom Max Group

The Group determined the recoverable amounts of the Boom
Max Group’s CGUs on the basis of their VIU (2020: VIU) using
discounted cash flow method. The key assumptions for the
discounted cash flow method are consistent with last year
which are those regarding the discount rates, growth rates and
budgeted gross margin and revenue during the year. The Group
estimates discount rates using pre-tax rates that reflect current
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the CGUs. The growth rates are based on long-term
average economic growth rate of the geographical area in which
the businesses of the CGUs operate. Budgeted gross margin
and revenue are based on past performance and expectations on
market development.

For the purpose of impairment testing, the Group prepared cash
flow forecasts derived from the most recent financial budgets
approved by the directors for the next five years with the residual
period using the growth rates as stated below. These rates do
not exceed the average long-term growth rates for the relevant
markets.

RS MR R 5T

HE_ T —Ft+_B=1—HIFE
WETTIIN

22,

e (8
EEmENREERBETRERS

RIEEB R EEREERNE BEDRZ
REEHETASFETRENS REEHR
RTIREENETIERER JZBNTERE
ENBTZRAE (BEFS BRSEREY
FIUR Ol &R

ﬁ?l}ﬁ@% ME - BERRE CAREERES
H&ne ’Jﬁﬁﬁzé;zisiiﬂ@%%ﬁ@ﬁuﬂ\ﬁ%ﬁfﬁ
S E BT LUETRENE -

REEHBTNAWLSEREREERATE
BERHEREZRSE

AREDERBT R EEDLIFEEDER
28 (T30F) BERHERBORSE LB
S E+ A+ ARCECEEA
=+—BNATRESE

@  Boom MaxZE[EFH 3z EHE T

FEBRRBUERREESREZRECHAEE
(CZ2ZZF : £AEE EEBoom Max
ERRTELBE NI WEEEE IR
EREBFNTIERZEEF 0 HEF
NAEEIRE I R R DR FAEEMNF KU
)\*ﬁ_%ﬁoztﬂ%T%ﬁﬁﬁ%%ﬁﬁﬁtt%fﬁ?rﬂﬁfﬁ

= ZMRRAIEERMIBEEHETNE
mﬂﬁ%fﬁ&#—*}mﬂﬁ WREFHHETH R
ELIRBREELBETEBLEMETIME
NRIATHCEEREGFE - HEEN X
RWATERBAERRRTISERER
Ho

MHEANSRMS  ~ERHRRNRERE
RADREAHESHENRRIFEYH
RELRG T ABRANTRERK
Bo-ZFHEXIRBAAMHTHHNTER
B REo

GET Holdings Limited Annual Report 2021

164



165

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4 A

17 O

S M R R 5E

For the year ended 31 December 2021
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

22. GOODWILL (continued)

Impairment test for cash-generating units containing
goodwill (continued)

@

®)

CGU of Boom Max Group (continued)

Key assumptions used for VIU calculations for CGU of Boom
Max Group are as follows:

HE_ T —Ft+_B=1—HIFE
BTN

2. HE @

SEHENREEHETRERNR @)

@  Boom MaxZE[FHIHZEHE T (8)

Boom Max(E@EREEHEBTHNFEREE
STEFERANEEEROT

Boom Max Group
Boom Maxt£E

31 December 31 December

2021 2020

& - 23

+ZB=+—H +ZB=+—H

Gross margin ESTIES 79.80% 77.24%
Growth rate BE= 2.711% 2.88%
Discount rate BRIRZ 16.17% 19.30%

As at 31 December 2021, with reference to the assessment by
Ascent Partners, the recoverable amount of the CGU of Boom
Max Group attributable to the Group was valued to approximately
HK$125,938,000 (2020: HK$127,455,000) which is lower than
the carrying amount of this CGU attributable to the Group by
approximately HK$9,000,000 (2020: HK$NIl) due to the expected
annual net profit margins during the forecast period in 2021
were lower than the projection of those for the previous forecast
period made in 2020 by taking into consideration various factors
including the increase of development expenditure, the volatility
of the global economy and the keen market competition in
the I.T market. The carrying amount of the CGU of the Boom
Max Group has been reduced to its recoverable amount
and the Group recognised an impairment loss on goodwill of
approximately HK$9,000,000 (2020: HK$NIl). The impairment
loss is included in other gains and losses.

CGU of e-Perfect IT

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group disposed
of its entire interest in e-Perfect IT to a director of e-Perfect IT at
a consideration of HK$1. The transaction was completed on 31
December 2020. The carrying amount of goodwill in respect of
CGU of e-Perfect IT was derecognised accordingly. Please refer
to note 40(a) to the consolidated financial statements for details.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

22. GOODWILL (continued)

Impairment test for cash-generating units containing
goodwill (continued)

(©

CGU of Wafer HK

As at 31 December 2021, the Group determined the recoverable
amount of Wafer HK’s CGU based on VIU using discounted cash
flow method. The key assumptions for the discounted cash flow
method are those regarding the discount rates, growth rates and
budgeted gross margin and turnover during the year. The Group
estimates discount rates using pre-tax rates that reflect current
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the CGUs. The growth rates are based on long-term
average economic growth rate of the geographical area in which
the businesses of the CGUs operate. Budgeted gross margin
and turnover are based on past practices and expectations on
market development.

As at 31 December 2021, the Group engaged Ascent Partners in
assisting to assess the recoverable amount of CGU of Wafer HK.
As the recoverable amount of the CGU of Wafer HK exceeded its
carrying value, no impairment was required.

As at 31 December 2020, the Group determined the recoverable
amount of Wafer HK’s CGU based on FVLCD. In determining
the FVLCD of the CGU, management has adopted market
approach (level 3 fair value measurements), which had adopted
price to sales multiple and enterprise value to sales multiple
in the valuation. Several companies with business scopes
and operations similar to those of Wafer HK were adopted
as comparable companies. The comparable companies were
selected mainly with reference to the following selection criteria:

i) the comparable companies selected were principally
engaged in Corporate Management Solutions and I.T.
Contract Services Business in Hong Kong;

(ii) the companies had sufficient listing and operating
histories;

(iii) the financial information of the companies was available to
the public; and

(iv)  the share price of the comparable companies was
available on the Stock Exchange.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R a MR 5T

For the year ended 31 December 2021 BE_ T —F1+_RA=+—HILEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) BTN

22. GOODWILL (continued) 22. HE (@

Impairment test for cash-generating units containing BEEENRESEHETRENS @
goodwill (continued)

(©)  CGU of Wafer HK (continued) © HEZENRETELHET (B)
RIEZ—F+ZHR=+—H HESHE
REeEEHB TNERBEFNEEANEE
R .

As at 31 December 2021, key assumptions used for VIU
calculations for CGU of Wafer HK are as follows:

Wafer HK
BEER

31 December
2021
=%
+=-A=+—H
HK$’000

TFHT

Gross margin EF) 26.24%
Growth rate BRE 2.711%
Discount rate ARIR = 12.98%

R_B_BHF+_A=+—H HEEE
REEHETHNATEERHEREHE
ERNEIRRRUOT :

As at 31 December 2020, key assumptions used for FVLCD
calculations for CGU of Wafer HK are as follows:

Wafer HK
BESH
31 December

2020

T EF
+=-—B=+—H
HK$'000
FET

Price to sales multiple

Enterprise value to sales multiple
Discount for lack of marketability
Control premium

HIHREH
CEBEELHERH
BRZhG B TR
PR B

0.5
0.7
15.8%
25%
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEE_—Ft+"A=1+—HIFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) WETTIIN
23. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 23. B EE
Development
costs on
computer and
mobile phone Customer Computer
software relationship software
(note (a)) (note (b)) (note (b)) Total
%Hé&llll
BTN
%N ERM% e ER
(M¥z(a)) (MtEE(b)) (MiEE(b)) Hast
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
FHET FHAT FHAT FHET
Cost R
At 1 January 2020 RIE-EF—-F—H 226,672 11,066 2,826 240,564
Additions through internal development BBRZFHERE 36,119 - - 36,119
Disposal of a subsidiary (note 40(a)) HE—FBAE (HizF406@)) - (11,086) (2,826) (13,892)
At 31 December 2020 and RIEZSHF+-B=+—H
1 January 2021 k-2 —%—HA—H 262,791 - - 262,791
Additions through BRNBRABRE
internal development 45,461 - - 45,461
At 31 December 2021 AZEZ—F+"A=+—H 308,252 - - 308,252
Accumulated amortisation and R RR ERE
impairment losses
At 1 January 2020 ATERTZE—A—H 144,679 10,090 2,826 157,595
Amortisation iy 27,350 551 - 27,901
Impairment BE - 425 - 425
Written back on disposal of a subsidiary H & — & /B /A 5] B [g]
(note 40(a)) (H5E40 (@) = (11,066) (2,826) (13,892)
At 31 December 2020 and \_7_7¢+ B=1+—H
1 January 2021 EZZ2Z—5—HF—H 172,029 - - 172,029
Amortisation 5y 33,371 - - 33,371
At 31 December 2021 RZE-_—F+"B=+—H 205,400 - - 205,400
Carrying amount IREE
At 31 December 2021 RZE-_—5+-A=+—H 102,852 - - 102,852
At 31 December 2020 A _EEF+-B=+—H 90,762 - - 90,762
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4 A

17 O

S M R R 5E

For the year ended 31 December 2021
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

23.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

(@)

The capitalised development costs for the years ended 31
December 2021 and 2020 represented the expenditure incurred
for developing computer and mobile phone software.

The average remaining amortisation period of the computer and
mobile phone software is four years (2020: four years).

The Group carried out reviews of the recoverable amount of its
development costs on computer and mobile phone software as
at 31 December 2021 and 2020, having regard to the market
conditions of the Group’s products. These assets were used in
the Group’s Software Business segment. The management is
of the view that the carrying amount of intangible assets as at
31 December 2021 could be supported by the future economic
benefits. No impairment loss was provided.

Computer software (the “Software”) and the customer
relationship (the “Customer Relationship”) were acquired
through business combination. The Software are used for the
development of tailor-made programs to the Group’s customers
and the Customer Relationship represents certain contractual
relationship with its existing customers at the date of acquisition
of e-Perfect IT in 2014. These assets are used in the Group’s
Corporate Management Solutions and |.T. Contract Services
Business segment.

The recoverable amounts of the Software and the Customer
Relationship are allocated to CGU of Corporate Management
Solutions and I.T. Contract Services Business of e-Perfect IT
(note 22).

As the economic benefits arising from these intangible assets are
totally integrated with the Corporate Management Solutions and
I.T. Contract Services Business, these carrying amounts have
been taken into consideration for the impairment assessment of
goodwill allocated to this segment (note 22).

On 31 December 2020, the carrying value of Software and
Customer Relationship was derecognised upon the completion of
the disposal of e-Perfect IT (note 40(a)).

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the management
carried out impairment review on the recoverable amount of
e-Perfect IT’'s CGU and determined an impairment loss of
approximately HK$425,000 was recognised in the profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RS MR R 5T

For the year ended 31 December 2021

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

24,

INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

e

=

CLETTAIm)

24,

Particulars of the subsidiaries which principally affected the results,
assets or liabilities of the Group as at 31 December 2021 are as follows:

RHBABNKRE

= —F+"A=1+—HIFE

N_EB_—F+"R=+—HB ' TEXELEH
R BEHEBZWBABMNFBLT

Place of incorporation/ Particulars of issued and Percentage of ownership
registration and operation/  fully paid up share interest/voting power/
Name of subsidiary form of legal entity capital/registered capital profit share Principal activities
AR,
BRRCENY BRTRBERE/ FiEHELD RAE/
WEARRE ET BRI SREREE HMERFEALE TEEH
Direct Indirect
B Gl
Lucky Famous Limited British Virgin Islands (‘BVI")/ 1 ordinary share of US$1 100% - Investment holding
(“Lucky Famous”) limited liability company
Lucky Famous Limited RERZHEE IREBERIET REZK
(MLucky Famous ) (EBEREHE) /
AREALH
Jade Fore Group Limited BWI/ 1 ordinary share of US$1 100% - Investment holding
limited liability company
Jade Fore Group Limited EBRYHE/ 1REERIET REER
BREFAH
Citi Profit Holdings Limited BW/ 1 ordinary share of US$1 100% - Investment holding
limited liability company
Citi Profit Holdings Limited HERUEHE/ IREBRIZT REER
AREALH
Citi Profit Finance Limited Hong Kong/ 1 ordinary share of HK$1 = 100%  Inactive
limited liability company
BEMBERAR &8/ BEREMAF REBRIET i
Perfect Growth Limited Hong Kong/ 1 ordinary share of HK$1 = 100%  Securities investment
(“Perfect Growth”) limited liability company
EFERAE (1£8) &8/ BEREMAF REBRIET HHRE
Supreme Right Hong Kong/ 1 ordinary share of HK$1 = 100%  Provision of management
Development Limited limited liability company service
ERERERAR &8/ BEREMAF REBRIET RUEERS
Apperience Corporation Cayman Islands/ 20,666,667 ordinary shares of - 50.5%  Inactive
(“Apperience”) limited liability company US$20,667
Apperience Corporation BERE /EREFAT 20,606,667 A% & 18 %20,667% 7T BREE
(T Apperience 1)
Imidea Limited Hong Kong/ 10 ordinary shares of HK$10 = 65.177%  Development and sales of
limited liability company software and provision of
toolbar advertisement
Imidea Limited &8/ BEREMAT 10 ERRI0ET BERBEREUR
RETARES
[Obit Limited BW/ 1 ordinary share of US$1 = 65.177%  Inactive
limited liability company
I0bit Limited ABEYEHE/ REERIET bEgg
AREALH
Both Talent International Limited ~ Hong Kong/ 10 ordinary shares of HK$10 = 65.177%  Development and sales of
limited liability company software and provision of
toolbar advertisement
ERERBRAR &5/ BEREMAT 10 EBRI0ET BERHERHUR
RETERES
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R a MR 5T

For the year ended 31 December 2021 BHEET—Ft+A=1+—HIFE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) BTN
24. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 24. RHMIBARMNIKRE (@)
Particulars of the subsidiaries which principally affected the results, N _E_—F+_BA=+—H TEFELEE
assets or liabilities of the Group as at 31 December 2021 are as follows: *xBE BEHABBEZMNBABINGEBEAOT | (@
(continued)
Place of incorporation/ Particulars of issued and Percentage of ownership
registration and operation/  fully paid up share interest/voting power/
Name of subsidiary form of legal entity capital/registered capital profit share Principal activities
i o
ERASHE BETREERE/ FiE ks RAE/
WEARRE EEERTR A& RS HMERFEALE TEEH
Direct Indirect
B Gk
Mission Win International Limited ~~ BVI/ 1 ordinary share of US$1 100% - Investment holding
limited liability company
Mission Win International Limited ~ EBRZEE,/ REBRIET REER
BREFAH
Wafer HK Hong Kong/ 10,000 ordinary shares of HK$10,000 = 100%  Provision of corporate
limited liability company management solutions and
\ .T. contract services
BEEE 58/ 10,0008% & 182 10,000% 70 RECXERRANRR
BREFAH BHNEANERS
GET Financial Group (International) - BVI/ 1 ordinary share of US$1 100% - Investment holding
Limited limited liability company
BRENER @R BRAT  EBELEE/ REBRIZET RERR
AREALH
Profit Support Limited BWI/ 10,000 ordinary shares of US$10,000 100% - Investment holding
limited liability company
Profit Support Limited HERUHE/ 10,000/% & 182 10,000% 70 REER
BREFAH
GET Development Hong Kong/ 100 ordinary shares of HK$100 - 100%  B2C Online Sales Platform
limited liability company and B2B Product Trading
Business
BEE 58/ 1008% ZRAR 10078 7T BCELHETAR
BREFAH BBEREZEH
BRER%E (F) BRAT  The People’s Republic of Registered capital of US$1,000,000 = 100%  Provision of management
(r2 5 %) China (‘The PRC")/ (Paid up USSNI) (note i) service
wholly foreign owned
enterprise
ERERER (M) ARAE  PEARSNE (MhE) /  #EA1,000000%7T RUEEERY
(rg & &) SEEELE [B8ZEm) ()
City Dragon Global Limited BWI/ 10,000 ordinary shares of US$10,000 100% - Investment holding
limited liability company
City Dragon Global Limited RBERELES/ 10,0008% & %2 10,000% 7T RERR
BREFAH
City Dragon (H.K.) Limited Hong Kong/ 10,000 ordinary shares of HK$10,000 = 100%  Inactive
. limited liability company
InEe (BR) BRAF &8/ 10,000 % &A% 10,000 7T bEgg
AREAAH
Sure Team Limited BVI/ 10,000 ordinary shares of US$10,000 100% - Investment holding
limited liability company
Sure Team Limited HERUHE/ 10,000 & &% 10,000% 70 REER
BREFAH
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2021

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

24,

INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

s

RS MR R 5T

BE" T —Ft_RA=1T—HLFE

Particulars of the subsidiaries which principally affected the results,
assets or liabilities of the Group as at 31 December 2021 are as follows:

WETTIIN

24. RIBARNIKRE (@)

RIE-—F+"RB=+—B ' TEZELEMH
R BEHEBZWBABMNFBOT : (8@

(continued)
Place of incorporation/ Particulars of issued and Percentage of ownership
registration and operation/  fully paid up share interest/voting power/
Name of subsidiary form of legal entity capital/registered capital profit share Principal activities
BTN
BRREENY/ BETREERE/ FiE ks RAE/
WEARRE EEERTR A& RS HMERFEALE TEEH
Direct Indirect
B Gl
Sure Team (H.K.) Limited Hong Kong/ 10,000 ordinary shares of HK$10,000 = 100%  B2B Product Trading Business
limited liability company
TR (BB BRAT & 10,0008 & #10,000E 7T BBEREREH
BREFAH
Boom Max BW/ 100,000 ordinary shares of = 65.177%  Investment holding
limited liability company US$100,000
Boom Max BEEZHE/ 100,000/ & &A% 100,000% 7 RERR
AREALH
Profit Winner International BWI/ 1 ordinary share of US$1 100% - Inactive
Corporation limited liability company
Profit Winner International RBERELES/ REBRIET BREE
Corporation BREAAH
Service Winner Limited Hong Kong/ 1 ordinary share of HK$1 - 100%  Inactive
limited liability company
Service Winner Limited 58/ REERIET -
AREALH
Dragon Oriental Investment Limited  BVI/ 100 ordinary shares of US$100 = 100%  Inactive
limited liability company
Dragon Oriental Investment Limited EBRZEE,/ 1008 B BR100% T i
BREFAH
Million Worldwide Investment BW/ 100 ordinary shares of US$100 = 100%  Investment holding
Limited limited liability company
Milion Worldwide Investment HBRUHE/ 100/ & BRR100% 7T REER
Limited BEREFAH
Talent Vision Limited Hong Kong/ 1 ordinary share of HK$1 = 100%  Inactive
limited liability company
Talent Vision Limited & REBRIET BREE
BREFAH
Note (i): B 5 () -

On 19 August 2019, the Group established a wholly owned subsidiary, %5 573,
in the PRC with registered capital of US$1,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$7,760,000). At 31 December 2021, the Group has not yet injected capital into

%D%

injected to £

ZII. Pursuant to the articles of association of %8 5 %3, the capital shall be
20 5731l within thirty years from the date of its establishment.

RIZZ2—NFENB+IB> ZEERPEMIL—
B 5 F > sEME 421,000,000 7T (HBE

WEAR

HES=T

R#97,760,00087T) cRZE - —F+ZHB=+—H" zlx

ERWRAEZRIFE - BIEEH
B> BAMREHMIBE=TFNEE

miHZ’&TE%
iHE]\"
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R a MR 5T

For the year ended 31 December 2021 BE"Z_—GFt+_A=1+—HIFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) BTN
24. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 24, PHBATIRIRE (&)

TRETHEAHAERMSBEANIFERED
(TR NINB AR ER - MH BRI E
EABIEH AR

The following table shows information of subsidiaries that have non-
controlling interests (“NCI”) material to the Group. The summarised
financial information represents amounts before inter-company
eliminations.

Boom Max Group
Boom Max£E

2021 2020
% BB
Principal place of business/country of FEE M Hong Kong/ Hong Kong/
incorporation AR IR BVI BVI
oy B/
HBELES HEBELEHE
% of ownership interests/voting rights IEER RIS ERE 34.82% 34.82%
held by NCI i,/ RARE DL
Financial information is MEBERHEEWT -
disclosed as follows:
HK$’000 HK$'000
TET FHET
At 31 December: w+ZBA=+—8:
Non-current assets ERBEE 102,872 90,762
Current assets MENEE 31,815 44,768
Current liabilities mEIAaE (4,460) (12,365)
Non-current liabilities IEREBEE (16,974) (14,971)
Net assets BEZE 113,253 108,194
Accumulated NCI IR R 39,435 37,673
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RS MR R 5T

For the year ended 31 December 2021 HE_ZT_—SF1+_RA=+—HILEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) WETTIIN
24. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 24, PHBATIRIRE (&)

Boom Max Group
Boom Max£E

2021 2020
=% —EBIEF
HK$’000 HK$’'000
THET FAET
VYear ended 31 December: HE+_BA=1+—HLEFE:
Revenue N 87,800 82,252
Profit for the year FRiEF] 20,392 19,088
Total comprehensive income 2E W R AERE 20,392 19,088
Profit allocated to NCI BN FIEEREmR AT 7,100 6,646
Dividends paid to NCI BT FIEERERNREE (5,353) (5,343)
Net cash generated from operating activities RS EEFTIS IR EIRRE 51,890 46,591
Net cash used in investing activities KRETEFTARESERE (45,460) (34,216)
Net cash used in financing activities MERHFTARE P (23,025) (7,671)
Net (decrease)/increase in cash RERREEEY (RL) /NP EE
and cash equivalents (16,595) 4,704

25. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FVTOCI 25, FBRHMEEWEUAATEETIRNE
RhE E
2021 2020
—E-—& —s-Ex
HK$’000 HK$’000
FAET FET
Listed investments, at fair value BAFEEFENLHEE
Equity securities listed in Hong Kong REELTHRAES - 1,135
Unlisted investment, at fair value FEMERE  HAFE 1,067 =
Analysed as: PAUTIES
Non-current assets ERENEE 1,067 1,135
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R a MR 5T

For the year ended 31 December 2021
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

25.

26.

27.

BHE_E_—F+_FB=1+—HIFE
CLETAIm)

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FVTOCI (continued) 25 FBRHMEEWEUATEETIRNE
AEE (@)
During the year, one of the equity securities investments was delisted RAFEE > —ERADHFEENRBIAABCE L™
on the Stock Exchange and was reclassified as unlisted investments. TEHMDBEEFLTEE-RREHEFR HLF
The fair value of which is estimated by using index return method by an BEH— LBIEXGHEMERIEHDHR AR
independent professional valuer at the end of reporting period. At 31 H-RIZEIEF+ZA=+—8 HEEHH
December 2020, the fair values of listed equity securities which were THEEEN ETRABSHNAFEE B—%
suspended of trading in an active market are estimated by using the BUEEGEMERIEHOHRELE - BBEM
index return method by an independent professional valuer. Financial 2EWBEUARFEETRNEMEEUETT
assets at FVTOCI are denominated in Hong Kong dollars. Bo
For the year ended 31 December 2021, fair value loss of approximately BE_Z_—F+-B=+—HLFE REM
HK$68,000 (2020: gain of HK$95,000) have been recognised in other 2ENEPHER R FEERBEL68,000%E T (=
comprehensive income and accumulated in the investment revaluation T -FF L RE5,000ETT) C MR EEGHE
reserve (non-recycling). WK (RrTElE) o
INVENTORIES 2. =8
2021 2020
B —EBIEF
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHET FET
Finished goods SR 1,544 187
TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 27. BHRHEMEWRIA
2021 2020
=% —EBIEF
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHET FHET
Trade receivables B SRR 26,253 26,384
Less: loss allowance (note 27(b)) A BEEE (H5E27(0) (7,329) (4,757)
18,924 21,627
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables FBASIE 7S R EMERFIE
(note 27(d)) (MtzE27(d)) 2,327 6,047
Amounts due from brokers PR AR 42 7R IE 6,713 2,187
Amounts due from non-controlling interests of e — R K A B FE AR R YRR IE
a subsidiary (note 27(e)) (M=x27(e)) 30 30
Other loan receivable (note 27(f) HanEgwER (sk27() - -
27,994 29,891

BRERAMAT 2021FH




For the year ended 31 December 2021
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

27. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued)

(@

(b)

Ageing analysis of trade receivables

According to the credit rating of different customers and service
providers, the Group allows credit periods ranged from O to 90
days (2020: O to 90 days) to its trade customers and service
providers. Further details on the Group’s credit policy are set out
in note 6(c).

The Group seeks to maintain strict control over its outstanding
receivables. Overdue balances are reviewed regularly by the
directors.

The ageing analysis of trade receivables (net of allowance for

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RS MR R 5T

BETE 1+ _A=1+—HILFE
(L/(/%TE@J/ \)

27. BHREMEWRRIE (&)
(@ EBZEUERTREVERE: DA

RIBETEEL RIRFFHERNESTH
SERATHESRL KRB HEENE
EfNFOEOR (CEZF 0E90H) ©
BRAEBEERRNE— P BN
£16(c)°

A6 EE T H S R O FE W AR AR M R AR B
B BEENEEREZARERR-

HZ IR GOBRBEEIERERE) RIBE

impairment loss) based on due date is as follows: FAEMARER DATAOT -
2021 2020
T —E2TEHF
HK$’000 HK$'000
THET FET
Not due RAIHR 14,020 9,805
Less than 1 month past due mHp L1ER 695 857
1 to 3 months past due A1 E3E B 367 617

More than 3 months but less than 12 months i HEEE 8318 BB /L it 1218 B

past due 22 10,326
Over 12 months past due HHABE12(8 8 3,820 22
4,904 11,822
18,924 21,627

Impairment of trade receivables

Impairment losses in respect of trade receivables are recorded
using an allowance account unless the Group is satisfied that
recovery of the amount is remote, in which case the impairment
loss is written off against trade receivables directly (see note 4(v)).

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews trade
receivables for evidence of impairment on both individual and
collective basis.

b) EZEWERRBVRE

BB S BUIRRBBEBIREREA
SRECER > PRIF A E R E MU O TR IBRI AT 5E

MARR EZERT  HEBERGEEN
B 5 AR e (RIEE4V)

REREHR > cEEES E 5 EUEIRMR
BEER KRR ESE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R #5 8RR Mt st

For the year ended 31 December 2021
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

=
)

27. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued)

(c)

(d)

BE" T —FT_RA=1T—HLFE
CLETAIm)

27. BHREMEWRIE (&)

Currency denomination of trade receivables () BEEWIRENEN
The carrying amounts of the Group’s trade receivables are REME ZRBERRNRmEU T &
denominated in the following currencies: HE :
2021 2020
—E_—F TECZE
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHT FHT
HK$ BT 1,375 853
Us$ X7 17,199 20,362
Japanese yen (“JPY?) HE (THEL) 350 412
18,924 21,627
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables (d) FECSRIE -REREMMEWRERIE

)

Other receivables from Mr. Chan and Ms. Lim

Pursuant to the sale and purchase agreement dated
13 June 2016 in relation to the acquisition of AP Group
Investment Holdings Limited (‘AP Group Investment”
together with its subsidiaries, referred to as the (‘AP
Group”) , in the event that the audited consolidated profit
after tax of AP Group for the period from 1 January 2016
to 31 December 2017 is less than HK$16,000,000, the
vendor shall, and Universe International Holdings Limited
(now known as Universe Entertainment and Culture Group
Company Limited) (“Universe”) (stock code: 1046) shall
procure the vendor to, pay to the Group the adjustment
amount according with the formula set out in the sale
and purchase agreement (“Profit Guarantee”). The vendor
is Fragrant River which is a wholly owned subsidiary of
Universe. Further details were set out in note 44(a) to the
consolidated financial statements.

As of 31 December 2020, included in the Group’s
prepayments, deposits and other receivables was
receivable from Fragrant River of HK$20,400,000 arising
from the Profit Guarantee in relation to the adjustments to
the consideration for the acquisition of AP Group during
the year ended 31 December 2016.

BERERERAT 2021FH

) FKERTLERMZLZBMERTE

RERBEEHERZERERAT
(TEERER) > EREMRBA
SR IENEE)) STXHBRAZ
E—NEANBTZRAZEEWRSZ:
MWEHEEE T —XE—HF—H
EBE_F—t+tF+ZHA=+—HIE
B Z KREBEZRRBES RN DR
16,000,000 75> BIE A K EFEH K
ZERERAR RBEFREE
E@MARAE) (EF BHRE:
1046) FEREE H IR B E WM ETH
AREEREBMEGRAEREE (HEF
REY)  BHEIABFZE2EM
BAB -BREE—FHBHNES
B PSRRI 5E44(a) 0

BHE_Z-_ZTF+-_/B=+—8>
AEENBECTRE R REME
WHBEEEEE_S—RE+Z
B=+—HIEFERKEENER
MR ERAREEN R REBMESL
B9 2 ST FE IR FIB20,400,00038 7T



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RS MR R 5T

For the year ended 31 December 2021
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

27. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued)

(d) Prepayments, deposits and other receivables
(continued)

Y

Other receivables from Mr. Chan and Ms. Lim (continued)

As set out in note 44(a), the Group had been taking
litigation process against Fragrant River, Universe and all
relevant parties including but not limited to Mr. Chan and
Ms. Lim, the former directors of AP Group Investments
(the “AP Group Litigation”).

As at 31 December 2020, an accumulated allowance of
approximately HK$17,400,000 was provided for estimated
irrecoverable receivables.

On 1 February 2021, the Group entered into an agreement
of settlement (the “Settlement Agreement”) with all
relevant parties of AP Group Litigation. Pursuant to the
Settlement Agreement, the parties have agreed to repay
HK$6,000,000 in aggregate (the “Settlement Amount”)
by installments in order to settle the AP Group Litigation.
The Group reversed provision for ECL of approximately
HK$550,000 and written off the provision for ECL of
approximately HK$14,400,000 during the year ended 31
December 2021. As at 31 December 2021, the balance
of the Settlement Amount due by Mr. Chan and Ms. Lim
were approximately HK$1,142,000 and HK$1,308,000
respectively.

As at 31 December 2021, an accumulated allowance of
approximately HK$2,450,000 was provided for estimated
irrecoverable receivables.

The Group applies general approach to provide for ECL
prescribed by HKFRS 9. The calculation of the loss
allowance is set out in note 6(c) to the consolidated
financial statements.

BETE 1+ _A=1+—HILFE

CLETTAIm)

27. BHREMEWRIE (&)

(d) FENRIE -BRERAMEWRIE (@

U

K EBRTEERMZ Lz BMERK
E (#)

WM EE44(a)FF 8 ZEB—EHE
I BFRFARBS (BEERR
RERAERMEE - EHERRE
BIRIEER) R A ((EPE

) ©

R_B_EF+_A=+—H %
it 5 7~ BT L (o] B AR TR 43 4 SR A

17,400,000 75 ©

W _E_—FF—H AEERHA
EBHERNANAAERE AT —
DR HE TNERZED o REM
BipE SINERERERSHA
BB 5 $£6,000,000% 7T (MRS
) o UAMBEHRERTR - HEZ
T —F+_B=+—HLEE
AEBEBCBEREEEEREY
550,000 8 T R A TARRE E 518
B 4914,400,00058 Lo R B - —
FH+ZA=+—HB BEERMK
THEMHNMBEEHRBEI AL

1,142,000 7t K2 1,308,000 7T ©

N_E_—F+"_B=+—H’'B
PG SE AT UL Cl FE W IB IR R 5t

#E#5492,450,0007%8 7T ©

FEMRB-—MRA LT REBYH
BREENEORRENTHREES
B-ARMBEERNGEHNEGS

M RERMIFE6(C) °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R a MR 5T

For the year ended 31 December 2021
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

27. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued)

(d)

(e)

Prepayments, deposits and other receivables
(continued)

(i) Other miscellaneous receivables

As of 31 December 2021, included in the Group’s
prepayments, deposits and other receivables were
miscellaneous receivables which have been identified as
having a significantly elevated credit risk and have been
provided for on a specific basis. This resulted in a charge
of HK$593,000 (2020: HK$1,800,000) for impairment
provisions recognised in profit and loss in the current year.

Amounts due from non-controlling interests of a
subsidiary

The amounts due are unsecured, interest free and with no fixed
repayment terms.

Other loan receivable

The other loan receivable from Jun Yang Energy is unsecured,
interest free and is repayable upon demand subject to the
consent of all shareholders of Jun Yang Energy. The shareholding
of the Group in Jun Yang Energy has been diluted from
approximately 35% to approximately 1.67% since 6 September
2019. Jun Yang Energy ceased to be recognised as an associate
in the consolidated financial statements. Since then the Group
reclassified the loan receivable from an associate in respect of the
loan due from Jun Yang Energy to other receivables.

The Group applies general approach to provide for ECL
prescribed by HKFRS 9. The calculation of the loss allowance is
set out in note 6(c) to the consolidated financial statements.

BERERERAT 2021FH

BETE 1+ _A=1+—HILFE

CLETAIm)

27. BHREMEWRIE (&)

(d)

(e)

()

FRRIR RS R H M AEWTRIE (8)

() BMEEEIE

BHE_Z-_—F+-/A=+—8>
REBMPBELRIE e R EMIE
W IE B 15 M I FE W IE (B 3
NAEEERBBE LANESKEE
BEEEHEB - BREAFERER
FE s B9 (B # f =2 tH %593,0007%8 7T
= T4 1 1,800,000 7T) °

FEI—FEI P} 8 2 B RO I AR A R TR IE

BRMRERAERT - REEEEE
MR o

B

HithFEWER

EREGERNEMERBERF -RE
BEZERER HEEGEREBRE
AERASFEE-B-Z2—NAFNAKA
g AERREBERNRKREEHN35%
BEEN1.67%° BSERE LRGSR
BRREISABMELT Bt REHER
EBERFIXRERER NRRKR—BME
NEEREHMEWRER-

FEBMRB—RG A REBYBREE
AR EMNTRIEERER - ARMBERE
BT E RN RS BREMEE6()°



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2021
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

28. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FVTPL

RS MR R 5T

BETE 1+ _A=1+—HILFE
(L/(/%TE@J/ \)

ERBmUATEEIIRNEREE

2021 2020
BT k- 5
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FET

Equity securities held for trading, at fair value BAFEEFENFIEEEREAFES
Listed in Hong Kong R&EEL™T 30,487 12,310
Unlisted equity securities JE LT RR A RS 1 =
30,488 12,310

Analysed as: PMABUTIER

Current assets RENEE 30,488 12,310

The carrying amounts of the above financial assets are mandatorily
measured at FVTPL in accordance with HKFRS 9.

The investments represent listed equity securities investments that offer
the Group the opportunity for return through dividend income and fair
value gains. They have no fixed maturity or coupon rate.

The fair values of listed equity securities traded in an active market
are based on market prices at the end of reporting period. The fair
values of listed equity securities which are suspended of trading in an
active market are estimated by using the index return method by an
independent professional valuer.

The fair value of the unlisted equity securities as at 31 December 2020
was determined by reference to the recent transaction price. The
Group determines the fair value of the unlisted equity securities as at 31
December 2021 is zero.

Financial assets at FVTPL are denominated in Hong Kong dollars.

There is no concentration of credit risk in respect of the financial assets

at FVTPL because these financial assets are kept in well-established
securities broker firms in Hong Kong.

*Eﬁfwé%,ﬂﬂ%ﬁﬁiﬁﬁl OS> Il RE EW
REERETEBRTULTEEFTE-

ZEREBIEBBREWARATFEERDREE
HERRHLREEN ETRAZSFRE HUEE
TR HRE R

RERTHEEN EHRAZHFNAFEEDE
RESHRNTE - NERTHEEEEN LT
RAZFHATEED BB EEEEMERE
HEHEEITEE -

FETRABSN S EF+"_A=+—HW
AFEBENESEROAAREEE  ~EHE
EFRLTRAZFN _Z-_—F+"HA=+—H
NRAFEBERS-

ZBBEEUATEEIRNEMEEBTY
&

EBEaUATEEIRNERNEENEEESE

hREE RARZSEMEED FRNEBER
ERAANBFELRAT
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4 A

17 O

S M R R 5E

For the year ended 31 December 2021
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

BETE 1+ _A=1+—HILFE
(L/(/%TE@J/ \)

29. CONTRACT LIABILITIES 2. EH&EE

2021 2020
anaE % ZEIEHF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FAET FET

Billings in advance of performance obligation BROEEBENR
— I.T. contract services — BB SR 1,646 1,732
— Sale of goods —tHEEMm 225 225
1,871 1,957

Contract liabilities relating to I.T. contract services are balances due
to customers under |.T. contract services. These arise if advance
payment was made by customers before the Company recognises
the I.T. contract services. Contract liabilities relating to contract for
sale of goods are mainly progress payment made by customers under
contracts for B2B Product Trading business.

The decrease in contract liabilities as at 31 December 2021 was mainly
due to less advance payment from customers in relation to renewal of

fixed price contracts.

Movements in contract liabilities:

HERANKEORBERNGYERERREENR
MEEHURBEANEFNER -HERRERST
EREARNRSNRBA O AMNRE Al
RAdE R - HHEERENBERNENEaEE
ERERREBBERBSEFSNIFLNEE
ke

A —F—

BREER 2 —F+"A=+—8HRIHE
;ljé BEFMEEEEBREHONEDRMM
FrEte

aMadEgs:

2021 2020
—E-—& - Jat-¥: 4
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Balance at 1 January W—B—R#&8R 1,957 3,488
Decrease in contract liabilities as a result of HEANESDREATStASH
recognising revenue during the year was included BERRA
in the contract liabilities at the beginning of the EPENaEAD
period (1,692) (8,017)
Increase in contract liabilities as a result of biling in  FAE R S AR TR
advance of I.T. contract services BEREHRMEEN 1,606 1,836
Disposal of a subsidiary (note 40(a)) HE—BWBAR (izF40@) - (350)
Balance at 31 December R+ZB=+—H#&& 1,871 1,957

The amount of billings in advance of performance received that is
expected to be recognised as income after more than one year is
approximately HK$260,000 (2020: HK$40,000).

BRERAMAT 2021FH

H&@J NEXNRNREER (%E§+H%E°EL—$?§E§

RAUA) £973260,00078 7T (ZF ZZF4F 1 40,000

/%77:)



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2021
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

30.

PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS AND CASH AND CASH
EQUIVALENTS

e

RS MR R 5T

B A=1+—HILFE

CLETTAIm)

30.

EEFRTERURRERREEEN

2021 2020

—E_—F TETRE

HK$’000 HK$’000

FAET FET

Cash and bank balances R& MIRTTAGER 81,852 118,174
Pledged bank deposits ERIERITIER 630 630
82,482 118,804

Cash at banks earn interest at floating rates based on daily bank
deposit rates.

At 31 December 2021, the Group’s pledged bank deposits represented
deposits of approximately HK$630,000 (2020: HK$630,000) which
were pledged to banks to secure banking facilities to the extent of
HK$500,000 (2020: HK$500,000) granted to the Group. The deposits
are denominated in US$. The pledged bank deposits are interest
bearing at fixed rate of 0.025% (2020: 0.05%) per annum.

At 31 December 2021, the Group had available undrawn secured
and unsecured banking facilities of approximately HK$214,000 (2020:
HK$242,000) and HK$NIl (2020: HK$NIl) respectively.

The pledged bank deposits and cash and cash equivalents of the
Group are denominated in the following currencies:

FRIBFTHRERBLUIRTEATRA KL ER
B BRI KB AR B o

RIE-_—F+"HA=+—H > ZEENDER
IRITERUE IR FIRITHNERA%A630,0008 7T
(ZZ =4 1 630,000 7T) » fFAREBRER
=3#500,000% 7T (Z2 ZF 4 : 500,000 7T) iF
TREER TERUETIE BIRBRITER
2@ EEFFK0.025FE (ZE 24 : 0.05[E) =t
Bo

N BT —F+_RA=+—H ' ~EENTH
BARENEEERERFRITREDNNS
214,000/ 70 (Z T T4 : 242,0005870) REH
TT(CEIZE THBEIT) °

AEBENSBFRTERURRERIAEEEY
R5IEIE5IE :

2021 2020

B % TEIEF

HK$’000 HK$’000

FHET FHET

Us$ £ 58,540 96,836
Renminbi (‘RMB”) AR TARK]) 8,680 8,604
HK$ BT 14,486 12,588
Euro BrT 776 776
82,482 118,804

As at 31 December 2021, bank balances and pledged bank deposits
of the Group denominated in RMB amounted to approximately
HK$8,489,000 (2020: HK$8,405,000) were kept in banks in the
PRC. Conversion of RMB into foreign currencies is subject to the
PRC’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and Administration of
Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations.

WZE_—F+_B=+—B > KEBUA
REHENRTEGRERFRTERNS
8,489,00078 7T (— & — Z4F : 8,405,000/ 70) BETF
B R BEIVIRTT o I A RIS BRI INE BRI R
B 9N E B IR AR R A5 B ~ EFE RS E B IRIRE#
170
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

R a MR 5T

For the year ended 31 December 2021 BE_ T —F1+_RA=+—HILEE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) BTN
31. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 31. B RHEMEMRIE
2021 2020
% TETTE
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTHET FET
Trade payables B EMIRR 2,536 3,098
Accrued expenses and other payables FEE R R E MBI RIE 6,687 8,576
9,223 11,674

(@ Ageing analysis of trade payables (@

The ageing analysis of trade payables, based on the date of
receipt of goods/services, is as follows:

B 5 B IRRBVIRES DR

g5 BARTIRBEWERE & R#% B 8K
SRES AT :

2021 2020
=% TECEE
HK$’000 HK$’000
FAET FET
Less than 3 months DRASME B 1,656 2,582
More than 3 months but less than 12 months BiEsfE A B/ 1218 B 880 277
More than 12 months iBiE1218 8 - 239
2,536 3,098
(b) Currency denomination of trade payables (b) BZEMERRNEREEN

The carrying amounts of the Group’s trade payables are

FEHEZERMRNAREEZUTE

r‘.fl_ﬁg

denominated in the following currencies: HIfE :
2021 2020
B 2 F
HK$’000 HK$’'000
TFHT FHET
Us$ ET 2,177 2,858
HK$ BT 359 205
JPY H - 35
2,536 3,098

BRERAMAT 2021FH




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2021
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

32. BORROWINGS

At 31 December 2021, the borrowings represented loans from financial

institutions.

The loans are unsecured, bear interest ranging from 3% to 12% per

annum and repayable within one year.

The borrowings are arranged at fixed interest rates and exposed the

Group to fair value interest rate risk.

The carrying amounts of the borrowings are denominated in the

following currencies.

RS MR R 5T

BETE 1+ _A=1+—HILFE
(L/(/%TE@J/ \)

32. f&k

KT —F+"B=+—H BEREREER
HABRIERR -

ERAEILE BENRNFI%E12%5 S FE
S—EFEREE-

BRREEMEF S At AEEAmELTE
EFRER-

BERNEREERUTEEIIE.

2021 2020
—E—F 2T F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHET
uss$ ETT 267 =
HK$ BT 1,000 -
1,267 -
33. LEASE LIABILITIES 33. fHE&E
Present value of minimum
Minimum lease payments lease payments
RIEREAR RERESARNRE

2021 2020 2021 2020
—E_-&F ZERIZE —E--&F “ZIZHF
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
TERT TET TERT TET
Within one year —&FR 856 1,317 829 1,214
More than one year, but not exceeding two years —E L EBRBBME 336 645 332 625

More than two years, but not more than MEUNLEFBBRE
five years 60 19 57 19
1,252 1,981 1,218 1,858
Less: Future finance charges B RRM B (34) (123) - =
Present value of lease obligations %EE%?“ZW 1,218 1,858 1,218 1,858

Less: Amount due for settlement within 12 A - 12188 W EI RS ERIE (R

months (shown under current liabilities) @JEEIEF@J/ \) (829) (1,214)

Amount due for settlement after 12 B &R g ETE
12 months 389 644
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

R a MR 5T

For the year ended 31 December 2021
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

33. LEASE LIABILITIES (continued)

All lease payables are denominated in Hong Kong dollars.

BETE 1+ _A=1+—HILFE
(L/(/%TE@J/ \)

33. HE&R @)

The weighted average increment borrowing rates applied to lease
liabilities of the Group range from 3.36% to 10.11% (2020: from 3.36%

t0 10.11%).

34. DEFERRED TAX

FrERE R RIEL B ITEHE

rEEBESERBNMNETGIEEERFIEN
F3.36EE1011E (CE-Z4F  3.36EZE10.11

JE) o
(a) Deferred tax liabilities (@ IEEREEE
The following are the deferred tax liabilities recognised by the UTRAKRERRINIELERIBEERS
Group:
Intangible
assets
BEEE
HK$’000
FAET
At 1 January 2020 A _EEF—F—H 13,526
Charge to profit or loss (note 14(a)) #eEm Nk (dsE14(a) 1,442
At 31 December 2020 and ﬁé:;ﬁ:;ﬁfﬁr_ﬁ =+—Bk
1 January 2021 =2 —F%—HF—H 14,968
Charge to profit or loss (note 14(a)) #esgsmineg (HEE14(a) 2,003
At 31 December 2021 A —_E_—F+"A=+—H 16,971

(o) Deferred tax assets

At the end of the reporting period the Group has unused
tax losses of approximately HK$295,102,000 (2020:
HK$281,625,000) available for offset against future profits. No
deferred tax assets in respect of tax losses carried forward has

been recognised due to the unpredictability of the future profit

streams. Included in unrecognised tax losses are losses of
approximately RMB398,000 (equivalent to HK$488,000) (2020:
RMB507,000 (equivalent to HK$605,000)) that will expire in
2026 (2020: 2025). Other tax losses may be carried forward

indefinitely.

BERERERAT 2021FH

b) EEREEE

RBREHR AEBBERSHRIERS
##49295,102,0008 T (ZE_FF :
281,625,000/ 75) > AIRIESE R A H] o
AR AEBERAEES BENEFRIER )
TR A ERIBEERITMAELRBEE
E-ARIREERBEZSN_ZEIA
CERIRFE TR EH HHWUA%
#308,0007T (1B & #2488,000&7T) (B
ZF . ARMS507,00070 (HB & F2605,000%
7)) BT - EfthiR 1B A 18 ] IR AR 5 o



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
n‘7|'\ Ejﬁ#ﬁﬁl}ﬁ' -‘-I

For the year ended 31 December 2021 BHE_ZE_—F+_/A=1+—HIFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) WETTIIN
35. SHARE CAPITAL 35. &#
Nominal value Number of
per share shares Amount
SREE RinEE ok
HK$ ‘000 HK$'000
BT Th FHET
Authorised: EE
Ordinary shares TR
At 1 January 2020, N2 EF—H—HB-
31 December 2020, TETEFE+TR
1 January 2021 and =+—B-Z2=—%
31 December 2021 —B—HRZEZ—F
+—-BA=+—H 0.01 80,000,000 800,000
Issued and fully paid: BRITRER :
Ordinary shares ZiEhe
At 1 January 2020, RZZEZZF—HF—H-
31 December 2020, =< S e |
1 January 2021 and =+—H-ZE”_—%F
31 December 2021 —A—HERZIBZ—%F
+ZB=+—H 0.01 444,448 4,444
The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as ZERFAEARRENERARERNKRE  LE#
declared from time to time and are entitlied to one vote per share at RARBAE LRER—ERERR-FIELE
meetings of the Company. All ordinary shares rank equally with regard BREARBRGEESFBEHEZRRSE#R

to the Company’s residual assets.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R a MR 5T

For the year ended 31 December 2021
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

35.

SHARE CAPITAL (continued)

The Group’s primarily objectives when managing capital are to
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, so that
it can continue to provide returns for the shareholders, by pricing
products and services commensurately with the level of risk and by
securing access to finance at a reasonable cost.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages its capital
structure to maintain a balance between higher shareholder returns that
might be possible with higher levels of borrowings and the advantages
and security afforded by a sound capital position, and makes judgement
as to the capital structure in light of changes in economic conditions.

The Group and the Company monitor its capital structure on the basis
of a debt-to-equity ratio. For this purpose, adjusted net debts is defined
as total debts (which includes borrowings, trade and other payables
and amount due to a subsidiary, which is applicable). Equity comprises
share capital and reserves.

During 2021, the Group’s strategy was to maintain a debt-to-equity
ratio at not more than 45% (2020: 45%). In order to maintain or adjust
the ratio, the Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to
shareholders, issue new shares, return capital to shareholders, raise
new debt financing or sell assets to reduce debts.

HE

B A=1+—HILFE

CLETAIm)

35.

2021
—E—_g
HK$’000

FERT

—_——

ez (48)

FEREEEAF TR EEMREREBNFERLE
fES BB EEARKTHENER KRB EBEU
RIZREEMARISRE MA@ ESRRS
PNEIE

REMBR I E R R EEEE AR LU
RS ETRK T Rl AE 76 2R B S 1 2 AR BR[O $R F2 Y
BRAE TR IAHRAE @ K RE 2 BT
> WA H IR IR B SR Y B A ZRAR (R L I i o

FEBRFIABDZREEHREEIERAEERRH
BAAEE Bt ERBEHF AR EREHRE
(BB TR~ B 5 oo EL M FE 3 RRIE K FE 15 — R Bt
BRBMIE WMER)) - B EERAE R

RZE D AEBRRBWKEAERAERE
HERLERNBIBIS% (CTFE45%) 8
KF o BRFRF[EZLE  AEMABEHRK
HRAHRESBE - BITHMRMD AREZES
I EENETREREEEELURE

The Group
~EH

The Company

P NS
2021
—EZ—-&
HK$000
FHET

2020
TECEF
HK$'000
FHET

2020
TECEE
HK$'000
FHT

Debts =t
Equity HEm
Debt-to-equity ratio aEHERLEE

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries are subject to externally
imposed capital requirements.

The only externally imposed capital requirement is that for the Group to
maintain its listing on the GEM of the Stock Exchange it has to have a
public float of at least 25% of the shares. The Group receives a report
from the share registrars weekly on substantial share interests showing
the non-public float and it demonstrates continuing compliance with the
25% limit throughout the year. As at 31 December 2021, approximately
25% (2020: 25%) of the shares were in public hands.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021

BETE 1+ _A=1+—HILFE

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RS MR R 5T

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) WETTIIN
36. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND 36. BRFMBRARKFEEES
RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY
(a) Statement of financial position of the Company (@ ERBEHBRRAE
2021 2020
—E—&F —ETEF
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
[SEE FAET FET
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment M BEKREE 4 11
Investments in subsidiaries KRB ABINEE 234 234
238 245
Current assets MBEE
Prepayments and deposits BEINEREN S s 230 259
Amounts due from subsidiaries FEURHS B A B 7B 71,139 111,584
Cash and cash equivalents RERIREEEY 50,663 12,632
122,032 124,475
Current liabilities Bt B=RE
Accrued expenses and other payables e & B R M FE{T 7R
=] 2,874 2,611
Amounts due to subsidiaries B ABRIE 58,660 59,582
61,534 62,193
Net current assets REBEFE 60,498 62,282
Total assets less current liabilities BEEHERTEBEE 60,736 62,527
NET ASSETS BEFE 60,736 62,527
Capital and reserves B K E
Share capital [l 4,444 4,444
Reserves G 36(b) 56,292 58,083
TOTAL EQUITY RS 60,736 62,527

Approved by the Board of Directors on 24 March 2022 and are

signed on its behalf by:

Wong Jing Shong

==y
HIFF
Director

EE

KEZGN _ZE__FF=F_+WHi#

HWHRUTEFAREE

Lau Siu Chong
2KE
Director

EFE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SMBHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

nv'F

36. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND
RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY
(continued)

(b)

BETE 1+ _A=1+—HILFE
(L/(/%TE@J/ \)

36. FNARMBRRKKEFHEEE (B)

37. RESERVES

(@)

(b)

Reserve movements of the Company b) EATHEEES
Share Contributed ~ Accumulated
premium surplus losses Total
R 1n i 1E BRREG Zitie ‘st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TERT TET TER TET
At 1 January 2020 N _E"ZTEF—-F—H 517,181 988,713 (1,353,116) 152,778
Loss and total comprehensive income FEEBBREENRGAE
for the year - - (94,695) (94,695)
At 31 December 2020 and ATECE ¢+ B=1+—-H
1 January 2021 R-Z-—£-B—H 517,181 988,713 (1,447,811) 58,083
Loss and total comprehensive income rEEEBREENGAE
for the year - - (1,791) (1,791)
At 31 December 2021 R_E-—-F+-B=+—H 517,181 088,713 (1,449,602) 56,292
37. {#fE
Group (a #A&EH
The amounts of the Group’s reserves and movements therein AEBFEREEHSENGEEBa E
are presented in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and fhemEmRaREAGEEREHRET] -
other comprehensive income and consolidated statement of
changes in equity.
Nature and purpose of reserves (b) EENMERERN

U

(@)

Share premium

Under the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda, the funds
in the share premium account of the Company may be
distributed in the form of fully paid bonus shares.

Contributed surplus

The contributed surplus of the Group represents the
difference between the nominal value of share capital of
the subsidiaries acquired pursuant to the reorganisation
scheme (the “Group Reorganisation”) to rationalise the
structure of the Group in preparation for the public listing
of the Company’s shares on the Stock Exchange set out
in the Company’s prospectus dated 18 December 2001,
over the nominal value of the shares of the Company
issued in exchange thereof.

BERERERAT 2021FH
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2021
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

37.

38.

RESERVES (continued)
(b) Nature and purpose of reserves (continued)
(i) Contributed surplus (continued)

The contributed surplus of the Company represents
the excess of the fair value of the subsidiaries acquired
pursuant to the Group Reorganisation over the nominal
value of the shares of the Company issued in exchange
thereof.

Under the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda,
contributed surplus account is available for distribution to
shareholders. However, the Company cannot declare or
pay a dividend, or make a distribution out of contributed
surplus if:

— the Company is, or would after the payment be,
unable to pay its liabilities as they become due; or

— the realisable value of the Company’s assets would
thereby be less than the aggregate of its liabilities
and its issued share capital and share premium
account.

(i) Investment revaluation reserve

The investment revaluation reserve comprises the
cumulative net change in the fair value of financial assets
at FVTOCI held at the end of the reporting period and is
dealt with in accordance with the accounting policy in note
4(Kk).

(iv)  Exchange reserve

The exchange reserve of the Group comprises all foreign
exchange differences arising from the translation of the
financial statements of foreign operations. The reserve is
dealt with in accordance with the accounting policy set out
in note 4(c).

SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

The purpose of the share option scheme is to enable the Company to
grant options to either directors or employees of the Group in order
to recognise and motivate their contribution, to provide incentives and
to help the Group in retaining its existing employees and recruiting
additional employees by providing them with a direct economic interest
in attaining the long term business objectives of the Group. The share
option scheme was approved by the shareholders in an annual general
meeting on 13 June 2017 and adopted on 15 June 2017.

RS MR R 5T

HE_ T —Ft+_B=1—HIFE
WETTIIN

37. f#fE @
b) HEENTEREN @)
i)  EHEE (B

AABMBEHEFEREEREAR
BB B AR AT EEBAE
NEBMMETHRMEENE
ge

BREEBRE-NN—FREEE
BB FRIRA D IR T IRE © 22T > {iH
BEUTER EARBTRFEIK
FIRTKRE HEEHBEBPIEDY
Dk

—  ARIRFHEIRMGRKE
/fﬁLE\:i ,HHE\{E ;B

- FREEEMNEREER
KNEREIHREEERH
EETRAURRDEER
Ry#BAN -

(i)  REBHFE

REEGRBECERRERERER
NEBEMEEWE A FEET
RNEREENRAATEEEZS
TPER > WARYR M S AP EL B S EUR
BRI

i) EREE

REEME R #ESETERIME
EEBVBREREENMAINEE
B o Z R FH IR BN 4CPTE 5T
BRERIE

38. LURRIDAERAIZ (T

ERESENENAGEEAREREAEREZEEII(E
ERTERE USTERABEEZER/ 12MH
REUREWAEEREHEREREERIBEES
BE ARENEREAERNRIPEL BERIR
HEZKEN D BREFIN_-ZE—t5B
+=HNRRBEFAZERRMLERN S —t
FERB+HBERM
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

17 O

R a MR 5T

For the year ended 31 December 2021
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

38.

39.

SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (continued)

The Company by ordinary resolution in general meeting may at any time
terminate the operation of the share option scheme and in such event
no further options will be offered but in all other respects the provisions
of the share option scheme shall remain in force to the extent necessary
to give effect to the exercise of any options granted prior to such
termination.

No option was granted under the share option scheme since 1 January
2021 and up to date of approval of this report.

DEFINED CONTRIBUTION RETIREMENT PLANS

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the “MPF
Scheme”) under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance
(Chapter 485 of the Laws of Hong Kong) for employees employed
under the jurisdiction of the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance. The
MPF Scheme is a defined contribution retirement scheme administered
by independent trustees. Under the MPF Scheme, the employer and
its employees are each required to make contributions to the scheme
at 5% of the employees’ relevant income, subject to a cap of monthly
relevant income of HK$30,000. Contributions to the scheme vest
immediately. For the year ended 31 December 2021, there was no
forfeited contribution available for the Group to reduce the existing
level of contributions. As at 31 December 2021, there were no forfeited
contributions available to reduce future obligations.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiary established in the PRC are
members of a central pension scheme operated by the local municipal
government. This subsidiary is required to contribute certain percentage
of the employees’ basic salaries and wages to the central pension
scheme to fund the retirement benefits. The local municipal government
undertakes to assume the retirement benefits obligations of all existing
and future retired employees of this subsidiary. The only obligation of
this subsidiary with respect to the central pension scheme is to meet
the required contributions under the scheme.
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38.

39.

LR A ERNZ N ()

ERBPIRER I IRRAE LB RREREILEF
BRESE RZBERT HASRZAMBR
WP A Bt s E - MRS BIRRES
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NEBRRIBEES B LG F4855 14 E AR 5TE
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AREETE (aEssts)) caEst8n—18
HEIZEASTENREHIURKE - RiRAR
B B REEES AN EZREESERH
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For the year ended 31 December 2021
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

40. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS

(a)

Disposals of a subsidiary
Disposal of entire interest in e-Perfect IT

On 31 December 2020, the Group disposed of its 100% equity
interest in e-Perfect IT (“Disposal of e-Perfect IT”), a wholly owned
subsidiary of the Group, to an existing director of e-Perfect IT for
a cash consideration of HK$1.

The Disposal of e-Perfect IT fell under the definition of “connected
transactions” under Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules but
was de minimis in nature and therefore was exempt from the
reporting, annual review, announcement and independent
shareholders’ approval requirements under Chapter 20 of the
GEM Listing Rules.

Net liabilities of e-Perfect IT at the date of disposal were as
follows:

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RS MR R 5T

BE" T —Ft_RA=1T—HLFE
CLETTAIm)

40. #ZE

ji7 =]

@

RERERME

HE—FHREBAR
HER BRI Z 250

R-B-BE+-A=+—0 FEAY
RERBIETHYERE L —BREE
B E R E WA 2 0 (R
FHESE)  ZATASEEZ2EH
BAT-

ZERTHEEBRFAGEM M RAIE20
BETZ HERZIZ2ER EEREEH
REE FAILERREFGEMEHRANE
0EE MM FEER AEREL
RREHLEIRE ©

HEMSNHERRC B EFENT

HK$’000
FAET
Property, plant and equipment (note 20) ME BB KRR E (TEE20) 1
Goodwill (note 22) mE (Msk22) S
Intangible assets (note 23) mEEE (MizE23) S
Trade and other receivables 85k EMmERTRIE 712
Contract assets BHEE 1,382
Cash and cash equivalents HRERREEEY 97
Trade and other payables B 5 REMELRIE (2,051)
Contract liabilities AHEaE (350)
Net liabilities disposed of BHESEFE (209)
Gain on disposal of the subsidiary HEWB AR 2 Wm
Consideration B —-#
Net liabilities disposed of BHESETEE (209)
Gain on disposal * HE 2z (209)
Net cash outflow arising on disposal: HEEEZREMEFEE
Cash and cash equivalents disposed of BHEREAREEEY 97)
Cash consideration received BUWERERE —-#
(97)
* The gain on disposal is included in “other gains and losses”. » HEZ Wt ATEMIR R R A58 ©
# Represents amount less than HK$1,000. # $5/0521,00058 T2 £ 88 ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

R a MR 5T

For the year ended 31 December 2021
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

HE_ T —Ft+_B=1—HIFE
BTN

40. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 40. fFERERERME @
CASH FLOWS (continued)
(b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing (b) RMEFIFEEEGEZHIR
activities
The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities arising TRFNMAEEREETDES 2 BEEH
from financing activities, including both cash and non-cash (BiIEReRIFReES) -MEFTHEE
changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are those for ZEBEARSREEHARKRERERN
which cash flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified in AEMGERERERDTBAMEZEAM
the Group’s consolidated statement of cash flows as cash flows BREEREZEE.
from financing activities.
1 January Interest 31 December
2021 Addition  Termination Cash flows expenses 2021
ZBT-F
B +ZA
—A—H RE 3l Rene R8s =+—H
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET TET TET TET FET
Borrowing (note 32) fa TA (5£32) - - - 1,267 = 1,267
Lease liabilties (note 33) Ea1E (f:33) 1,858 1,526 (681) (1,611) 126 1,218
1,858 1,526 (681) (344) 126 2,485
1 January Interest 31 December
2020 Addition  Termination Cash flows expenses 2020
ZRIZTF
“E°ZR +2A8
—B—H RE ik Rene RERY =+—8
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TERT FTERT TET TET FTET FET
Lease liabilities (note 33) HESE (333) 2,663 1,483 - (2,386) 98 1,858
2,663 1483 = (2,386) % 1,858
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RS MR R 5T

HEE_—Ft+"A=1+—HIFE
(M/ﬁTﬁ 'J/ \)

For the year ended 31 December 2021
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

40. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 40. FEHRERERME @)
CASH FLOWS (continued)

(c) Total cash outflow for leases (o) FMHEZRE&RHLEZE
Amounts included in the consolidated statement of cash flow for FAGRERERERAMAEESBEE
leases comprise the following: THEIE
2021 2020
& TETTE
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Within operating cash flows KERERE 226 319
Within financing cash flows wﬂéﬁ%mglﬁ 1,485 2,288
Lease rental paid BHEE 1,711 2,607
(d) Major non-cash transactions d FEIFRERXH
0] During the vyear, the Group entered into new lease i) RER > AEBEMRERBPR A EM

agreement for the use of office premise for 2 years.
On the lease commencement, the Group recognised

FrIuHAERZ N AEERAR
NEEBFES @%1%%5%%@1,526,000

approximately HK$1,526,000 (2020: HK$1,483,000) B (ZZ2TZ 4 1 1,483,0007 7T)
of right-of-use assets and HK$1,526,000 (2020: KEE&E1,526,0008 T (CEE
HK$1,483,000) of lease liabilities. £ 1 1,483,00078 7T) °
41. COMMITMENTS 41. KIE
Capital commitments at the end of the reporting period are as follows: R EFERNERFRBEUWT :
2021 2020
=% TECEE
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHT FHET
Contracted but not provided for: BRI AEREME
— development costs for intangible assets —EBREENRERA 45,461 38,477
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For the year ended 31 December 2021
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

42,

43.

44,

OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS

The Group regularly entered into short-term leases for office premises.
As at 31 December 2021, the portfolio of short-term leases is similar to
the portfolio of short-term leases to which the short-term lease expense
disclosed in note 21.

As at 31 December 2021, the outstanding lease commitments
relating to these office premises is approximately HK$33,000 (2020:
HK$46,000).

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Other than the outcome of litigations as disclosed in note 44, as at 31
December 2021, the Group did not have any significant contingent
liabilities (2020: Nil).

LITIGATIONS

(@ AP Acquisition Litigation

References are made to the announcements of the Company
dated 13 June 2016, 23 June 2016 and 1 July 2016 in relation
to, among other matters, the acquisition of 51% equity interest
in AP Group Investment (“Acquisition”) and the announcements
of the Company dated 12 June 2018, 26 June 2018 and 16
July 2018 in relation to the adjustment to consideration for the
Acquisition.

On 13 June 2016, Lucky Famous, a wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company, entered into a sale and purchase agreement
(“SP Agreement”) with Fragrant River (“Vendor”) and Universe
(“Guarantor”), pursuant to which the Group conditionally agreed
to acquire, and the Vendor conditionally agreed to sell 51%
equity interest of AP Group Investment, at the consideration of
HK$20,400,000, subject to downward adjustments as described
below, which shall be settled by way of allotment and issued of
40,800,000 new ordinary shares of the Company, credited as
fully paid, at the issue price of HK$0.50 per share to the Vendor
(or its nominee), on the date of completion. The AP Group was
principally engaged in the provision of self-improvement and self-
enhancement training programmes in Hong Kong. Completion of
the Acquisition took place on 1 July 2016.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

44. LITIGATIONS (continued)

(a)

AP Acquisition Litigation (continued)

In accordance with the terms and conditions of the SP
Agreement, in the event that the audited consolidated profit
after tax of AP Group Investment attributable to its owners from
1 January 2016 to 31 December 2017 (“FY 2016 & 2017”)
(which would only include income or gain generated by activities
in the ordinary and usual course of business of the AP Group)
(“FY 2016 & 2017 Net Profit”) is less than HK$16,000,000, the
Vendor shall, and the Guarantor shall procure the Vendor to,
pay to the Lucky Famous (or to its order) an adjustment amount
(“Adjustment Amount”) in cash within 14 days after the audited
consolidated financial statements of AP Group Investment
for FY2016 & 2017 (“FY2016 & 2017 Audited Accounts”)
are available. The Adjustment Amount shall be determined in
accordance with the formula set out below:

A = HK$20,400,000 — (NP/2) x 5 x 51%

Where:
“A” means the amount of the Adjustment Amount in HK$; and

“NP” means the FY2016 & 2017 Net Profit. Where the FY2016 &
2017 Net Profit is a negative figure, “NP” shall be deemed to be
Zero.

The FY2016 & 2017 Net Profit shall be based on the FY2016 &
2017 Audited Accounts which shall be prepared in accordance
with the Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards and audited,
adjusted for any non-recurring items.

Based on the FY2016 & 2017 Audited Accounts, the AP Group
recorded a net loss of HK$189,799. In accordance with the SP
Agreement, the FY2016 & 2017 Net Profit of the AP Group shall
be deemed to be zero. Accordingly, the Group had requested
the Vendor and the Guarantor to pay the Adjustment Amount
of HK$20,400,000 on or before 26 June 2018 according to the
terms and conditions of the SP Agreement. On 22 June 2018,
the Group received a letter from the legal adviser acting for the
Vendor and the Guarantor that they will defend the purported
claim of the Group for the payment of the Adjustment Amount
alleged by the Group.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

44. LITIGATIONS (continued)

(a)

AP Acquisition Litigation (continued)

Up to 26 June 2018, i.e. the last date on which the Vendor and
the Guarantor shall pay the Adjustment Amount after the FY2016
& 2017 Audited Accounts were made available to them, the
Group had not received any payment of the Adjustment Amount
from any of the Vendor and the Guarantor.

The board (the “Board”) considered that the Vendor and the
Guarantor have potentially breached their contractual obligations
by failing to repay the Group the Adjustment Amount in
accordance with the terms and conditions of the SP Agreement.
In order to safeguard the legitimate rights and interests of the
Group, after seeking legal advice, the Group has commenced
legal proceeding (‘AP Acquisition Litigation”) against the Vendor
as the 1st defendant and the Guarantor as the 2nd defendant.
A writ of summons with an indorsement of claim were filed by
Lucky Famous as plaintiff at the Court of First Instance of the
High Court of Hong Kong on 16 July 2018. Based on the writ,
the Group claimed against the Vendor and the Guarantor for
(@) the Adjustment Amount of HK$20,400,000; (b) interests; (c)
costs; and (d) further and/or other reliefs.

An amended writ of summons with an indorsement of claim were
filed at the Court of First Instance of the High Court of Hong
Kong on 26 September 2019. Based on the amended writ, the
Group claimed against the Vendor and the Guarantor for (a) the
Adjustment Amount of HK$20,400,000; (b) interests; (c) costs;
and (d) further and/or other relief, and also against Mr. Chan Sze
Long (“Chan”) and Ms. Lim Wah Elsa (‘Lim”) for () damages in
the sum of HK$20,400,000; (f) interests; (g) costs; and () further
and/or other relief (collectively, the “Legal Action”). The Board
considered that Chan and Lim, who are the former directors of
AP Group Investment until their respective resignations on 18
July 2018, have potentially breached their duties and obligations
in contract and tort by failing to, amongst other things,
prepare audited consolidated financial statements of AP Group
Investment for the year ended 31 December 2015, provide the
auditors of AP Group Investment with the written information that
they requested to support their audit, and keep and/or preserve
adequate accounting records in respect of the transactions
entered into by AP Group Investment, its financial position and its
financial performance.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

44. LITIGATIONS (continued)

(@)

AP Acquisition Litigation (continued)

On 1 February 2021, Lucky Famous, the Vendor, the Guarantor,
Chan, Lim, Very Easy Limited (“Very Easy”), a company wholly
owned by Chan, and City Link Consultancy Limited (“City Link”),
a company wholly owned by Lim, without admission of any
liability in relation to the Legal Action, had amicably resolved and
entered into a settlement agreement (“Settlement Agreement”)
in relation to the final and full settlement of the Disputes (as
defined below). In accordance with the Settlement Agreement,
the parties agreed that (i) the disputes in the Legal Action;
and (i) any other claims and complaint that the parties to the
Settlement Agreement may have against each other arising out
of or in connection with SP Agreement in respect of the sale and
purchase of 510 shares of AP Group Investment entered into by
and among the Vendor, Very Easy, City Link, Chan and Lim in
2015 and the SP Agreement (collectively, the “Disputes”) shall be
settled in full.

In accordance with the terms of the Settlement Agreement, (i)
the Vendor and the Guarantor shall pay to the Group a sum
of HK$1,500,000 at the time of signing of the Settlement
Agreement in full and final settlement of the Disputes; (i) Chan
shall pay to the Group a sum of HK$2,700,000 in full and final
settlement of the Disputes, by paying (a) a sum of HK$1,300,000
at the time of signing of the Settlement Agreement; (b) a sum
of HK$23,500 per month for 59 months starting from 1 March
2021 up to 1 January 2026; and (c) a final sum of HK$13,500
on or before 1 February 2026; (i) Lim shall pay to the Group a
sum of HK$1,800,000 in full and final settlement of the Disputes,
by paying (a) a sum of HK$200,000 at the time of signing of the
Settlement Agreement; (b) a sum of HK$26,500 per month for 59
months starting from 1 March 2021 up to 1 January 2026; and
(c) a final sum of HK$36,500 on or before 1 February 2026; and
(iv) within 7 days of the date of the Settlement Agreement, Lucky
Famous or its legal representatives shall file at the Court of First
Instance of the High Court of Hong Kong a consent summons
for discontinuing the Legal Action with no order as to costs. The
Group shall be entitled as of right to take immediate legal action,
including commencing bankruptcy proceedings without further
notice if Chan and/or Lim fail(s) to make full and timely payment
of any of the instalment(s) under (ii) and (i) above.

On 16 February 2021, the High Court of Hong Kong granted an
order by consent that, amongst others, Lucky Famous would
have leave to discontinue the Legal Action against the Vendor,
the Guarantor, Chan and Lim.

Details of the AP Acquisition Litigation are set out in the
Company’s announcements dated 12 June 2018, 26 June 2018,
16 July 2018 and 1 February 2021.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

44. LITIGATIONS (continued)

(b)

AP Management Litigation

On 26 July 2018, the Company as the 1st plaintiff and AP
Group Investment as the 2nd plaintiff, issued a writ of summons
in the High Court of Hong Kong against Chan as the 1st
defendant and Lim as the 2nd defendant (collectively refer to
as the “Defendants”) for the matters as detailed below (‘AP
Management Litigation”). Chan and Lim are former directors
of AP Group Investment until their respective resignations on
18 July 2018. Chan and/or his controlled company, and the
controlled company of Lim, are also former directors of the other
members of the AP Group at all material times.

The Company is a majority shareholder holding 51% interest
in AP Group Investment through its wholly-owned subsidiary,
Lucky Famous. As a result of the 51% shareholding in AP Group
Investment, all members of the AP Group are subsidiaries of
the Company and their financial results have been consolidated
into the Group’s consolidated financial statements prior to the
deconsolidation of the AP Group becoming effective on 1 April
2018. The AP Group was principally engaged in the provision
of self-improvement and self-enhancement training programs in
Hong Kong at all material times.

At all material times and during the tenure of office of the
Defendants as directors of AP Group Investment, in reliance of
the experience and expertise of the Defendants in running the
AP Group, it was agreed by the parties that the Defendants
were wholly responsible for the efficient and proper management
and operation of the AP Group, including but not limited to,
the efficient daily operations of the AP Group, keeping proper
books and records of the AP Group at all times for inspection by
the Group and the provision of weekly cash and bank balance
reports, annual budget and monthly financial reports of AP Group
Investment, including that of all the subsidiaries of the other
members of the AP Group to the Company within 15 days after
each month’s end. After the resignations of the Defendants as
directors of AP Group Investment on 18 July 2018 and up to
the date of this report, the Defendants failed to deliver up all the
accounting books and financial records of, and all businesses
records in connection with, the running of the AP Group,
including but not limited to records in relation to the students’
records, instructors’ records and information on potential
litigations, for the period of seven years immediately prior to the
date of their resignations as director of AP Group Investment on
18 July 2018 (“Full Business Records”) to the Group.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

44. LITIGATIONS (continued)

(b)

(c)

AP Management Litigation (continued)

In order to safeguard the legitimate rights and interests of the
Group, after seeking legal advice, the Group has commenced
legal proceeding against the Defendants. The Group claimed
against the Defendants for the reliefs, including but not limited
to, delivering up of the Full Business Records, accounting for the
assets of the AP Group for the period from 1 April 2018 to 18
July 2018 that were in the power, possession or control of the
Defendants and damages to be assessed.

On 1 February 2021, Lucky Famous, the Vendor, the Guarantor,
Chan, Lim, Very Easy, a company wholly owned by Chan and
City Link, a company wholly owned by Lim, without admission of
any liability in relation to the Legal Action, had amicably resolved
and entered into a Settlement Agreement in relation to the final
and full settlement of the Disputes. Details of the Settlement
Agreement refer to note 44(a) to the consolidated financial
statements.

Details of the AP Management Litigation are set out in the
Company’s announcement dated 27 July 2018 and 1 February
2021,

Perfect Growth Litigation

On 3 July 2018, Perfect Growth, a wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company, received an amended writ of summons (“Amended
Writ”) with an amended statement of claim (“Amended Statement
of Claim”) issued in the Court of First Instance of the High Court
of Hong Kong by Convoy Global Holdings Limited (“1st Plaintiff”),
Convoy Collateral Limited (“2nd Plaintiff’) and CSL Securities
Limited (“3rd Plaintiff’) (1st Plaintiff, 2nd Plaintiff and 3rd Plaintiff
collectively referred to as the “Plaintiffs”) against, among other
defendants, Perfect Growth as the 34th defendant (“Perfect
Growth Litigation”). Perfect Growth was joined as one of the
defendants by way of the Amended Writ.

Pursuant to the Amended Statement of Claim attached to the
Amended Writ, Perfect Growth was named as one of the Alleged
Independent Placees (being placees of the placing of shares of
the 1st Plaintiff carried out in around October 2015 (“October
2015 Placing”) and was allotted with some shares of the 1st
Plaintiff pursuant to the October 2015 Placing.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

R a MR 5T

For the year ended 31 December 2021

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

44. LITIGATIONS (continued)

(c)

Perfect Growth Litigation (continued)

In the Perfect Growth Litigation, the reliefs claimed by the
Plaintiffs against Perfect Growth are as follows:

0] the 1st Plaintiff seeks a declaration and an order as
against, among others, Perfect Growth, that the allotment
of the 1st Plaintiff’s shares to, among others, Perfect
Growth pursuant to the October 2015 Placing is null and
void, or has been rescinded and be set aside;

(ii) the 1st Plaintiff seeks an account of profits and an order
for payment of any sums found to be due, equitable
compensation to be assessed and/or damages to be
assessed for dishonest assistance, unlawful means
conspiracy and/or lawful means conspiracy as against,
among others, Perfect Growth, in relation to, among other
matters, the October 2015 Placing and the allotment of
the 1st Plaintiff’'s shares pursuant to the same; and

(i) the Plaintiffs seek as against, among others, Perfect
Growth (a) general or special damages; (b) interests; (c)
costs; (d) further and/or other reliefs.

On 22 November 2018, Perfect Growth filed its defence to the
Amended Statement of Claim.

On 3 December 2019, the Plaintiffs filed its reply to Perfect
Growth’s defence. The Plaintiffs have not, however, filed its
reply to each of the other defendants’ defence and as such the
pleadings of the Perfect Growth Litigation have not been closed
yet.

As at 31 December 2021, the carrying values of the shares of the
1st Plaintiff held by the Group were approximately HK$1,067,000
(2020: HK$1,135,000) and HK$800 (2020: HK$800) included
in financial assets at FVTOCI and financial assets at FVTPL
respectively.

Details of the Perfect Growth Litigation are set out in the
Company’s announcement dated 5 July 2018.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2021
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

45.

46.

MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

In addition to those related party transactions and balances disclosed
elsewhere in the consolidated financial statements, the Group had the
following transactions with its related parties during the year.

Transactions with key management personnel

All key management personnel are directors of the Company and their
remuneration are disclosed in note 16.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

The outbreak of the COVID-19 pandemic is impacting global economic
markets. The Directors continue to monitor the situation closely and
have considered the impact of COVID-19 on the Group’s business and
financial performance. However, the situation is continually evolving and
the consequences are therefore inevitably uncertain.
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FIVE YEARS FINANCIAL INFORMATION

EEMBHE

The following is a summary of the published results and of the assets and
liabilities of the Group for the five years ended 31 December 2017, 2018,

2019, 2020 and 2021.
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RESULTS E S
Year ended 31 December
BE+TA=+—HLEE
2021 2020 2019 2018 2017
—E-fF E2TZHE —NEF —N\F —tfF
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T#ERT TET FEx FET FEx
Continuing operations PBRREEH
Revenue WA 114,535 231,404 369,839 133,230 186,967
Loss from operations K58 (6,517) (28,442) (58,570) (215,584) (485,228)
Finance costs B A (235) (98) (103) = (13,720)
Share of profit/(loss) of an associate Eih—BE AR/
(E548) - - 887 (21,704) (15,644)
Share of loss of a joint venture EiE—EaEhEEsE - - = (1,174) (2,932)
Loss before tax BRIRAIRS IR (6,752) (28,540) (57,786) (238,462) (517,524)
Income tax (expenses)/credit ATt (=) /1E% 4,177) (3,870) (3,894) (5,830) 14,443
Loss after tax from continuing REFESEERIRRE
operations i (10,929) (32,410) (61,680) (244,292) (503,081)
Profit after tax from REBKRILEE LR
discontinued operations MR B R - - - 25 3,871
Loss for the year REEHE (10,929) (32,410) (61,680) (244,267) (499,210)
(Loss)/profit attributable to BUF A LRSS (8538)
A
- Owners of the Company —EAREEA (18,197) (39,286) (67,200) (251,411) (512,327)
- Non-controlling interests — IR 7,268 6,876 5,520 7,144 13,117
(10,929) (32,410) (61,680) (244,267) (499,210)
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EERAE
As at 31 December
K+ZA=+—H
2021 2020 2019 2018 2017
ZE—f T EE —NE —N\E —tF
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET TERT FTET TAERT FTET
Total assets BEEE 309,511 326,665 370,896 433,035 705,680
Total liabilities & B (57,033) (57,821) (64,320) (53,723) (56,847)
Non-controlling interests R ER (40,172) (38,257) (36,724) (36,547) (37,470)
Total equity attributable to EREEE AERL
owners of the Company s 212,306 230,587 269,852 342,765 611,363
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